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PART I
This Form 10-K and certain information incorporated herein by reference contain forward-looking statements and information within the “safe harbor”
provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934. This information includes assumptions made by, and information currently available to management, including statements regarding future
economic performance and financial condition, liquidity and capital resources, acceptance of the Company’s products by the market, and management’s
plans and objectives. In addition, certain statements included in this and our future filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), in press
releases, and in oral and written statements made by us or with our approval, which are not statements of historical fact, are forward-looking statements.
Words such as “may,” “could,” “should,” “would,” “believe,” “expect,” “expectation”, “anticipate,” “estimate,” “intend,” “seeks,” “plan,” “project,”
“continue,” “predict,” “will,” “should,” and other words or expressions of similar meaning are intended by us to identify forward-looking statements,
although not all forward-looking statements contain these identifying words. These forward-looking statements are found at various places throughout this
report and in the documents incorporated herein by reference. These statements are based on our current expectations about future events or results and
information that is currently available to us, involve assumptions, risks, and uncertainties, and speak only as of the date on which such statements are made.
Forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, the following:
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

the advantages of our products;
our ability to develop future products;
our belief regarding the growth of our direct sales force resulting in increased revenues;
expectations regarding government and other third-party reimbursement for our products;
our beliefs regarding our relationships with our two largest distributors;
expectations regarding future revenue growth;
our ability to procure sufficient quantities of donated placentas for our products and future products;
market opportunities for our products and future products;
prospects for obtaining additional patents covering our proprietary technology; and
our ability to compete effectively.

Our actual results may differ materially from those expressed or implied in these forward-looking statements. Factors that may cause such a difference,
include, but are not limited to those discussed in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” below. Except as expressly required by the federal securities laws, we
undertake no obligation to update any such factors, or to publicly announce the results of, or changes to any of the forward-looking statements contained
herein to reflect future events, developments, changed circumstances, or for any other reason.
As used herein, the terms “MiMedx,” “the Company,” “we,” “our” and “us” refer to MiMedx Group, Inc., a Florida corporation and its consolidated
subsidiaries as a combined entity, except where it is clear that the terms mean only MiMedx Group, Inc.
Item 1. Business
Overview
MiMedx® Group, Inc. is an integrated developer, manufacturer and marketer of patent protected regenerative biomaterial products and allografts
processed from human amniotic membrane. “Innovations in Regenerative Biomaterials" is the framework behind our mission to give physicians products
and tissues to help the body heal itself. Our biomaterial platform technologies include the device technologies HydroFix® and CollaFix TM, and our tissue
technologies, AmnioFix® and EpiFix®.
For financial information concerning our operating performance, please refer to Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations in Part II, Item 7 of this report and our Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 of this report.
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Our History
Our current business began on February 8, 2008, when Alynx Co., our predecessor company, acquired MiMedx, Inc., a Florida-based, privately-held,
development-stage medical device company (“MiMedx”), the assets of which included licenses to our HydroFix® and CollaFix™ technology platforms. On
March 31, 2008, Alynx, Co. merged into MiMedx Group, Inc., a Florida corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary that had been formed on February 28,
2008, for purposes of the merger. MiMedx Group, Inc. was the surviving corporation in the merger. In January 2011, the Company acquired all of the
outstanding equity interests in Surgical Biologics, LLC (“Surgical Biologics”). The acquisition of Surgical Biologics expanded our business by adding
allografts and other products processed from human amniotic membrane to our existing medical device product lines. In 2012, these tissue-based products
represented approximately 95% of our revenues.
Our Technology and Products
AmnioFix®, EpiFix® and other Tissue -Based Allografts
MiMedx is the leading supplier of allografts processed from amniotic tissue, having supplied over 120,000 allografts to date for application in the
Surgical, Orthopedic, Spinal, Wound Care, Ophthalmic, and Dental segments of healthcare. Our tissue-based products include our own brands, AmnioFix®
and EpiFix®, as well as products that we supply on a private label or “OEM” basis. The Company continues to research new opportunities for amniotic
tissue, and currently has several additional offerings in various stages of conceptualization and development.
Amniotic membrane has long been known to have natural healing characteristics and has been used clinically for over 100 years. The first clinical uses
of fresh amnion were for wound care patients and burn victims. There have been over 150 publications on the use of amniotic membrane for uses ranging
from wound care to gingival recession and from pterygium repair to reduction of fibrous tissue following spinal surgery. The amniotic membrane has been
shown to reduce inflammation, down regulate scar tissue and promote the regeneration of soft tissues.
Amniotic membrane has been shown to lack certain HLA antigens that elicit an immune response. Amniotic Membrane is considered
immunoprivileged. Some dehydrated amniotic membranes include the epithelial layer, which studies have shown contributes significant
immunosuppressive properties to dehydrated amniotic membrane products.
Natural human amniotic membrane is composed of multiple layers that contain:
·

Structural proteins; including:
o Collagen types IV, V, and VII
o Elastin

·

Specialized proteins; including:
o Fibrillin
o Fibronectin
o Laminins
o TIMPs 1,2,4, Tissue Inhibitor of Metalloproteinase 1, 2, 4

·

Growth Factors; including:
o Epidermal Growth Factor (EGF)
o Transforming Growth Factor Beta (TGF-β)
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o
o

Fibroblast Growth Factor (FGF)
Platelet Derived Growth Factors A & B (PDGF A&B)

As discussed below under the subheading of “Tissue Processing and Recovery,” we believe our proprietary technique for processing allografts from
amniotic tissue preserves more of the natural characteristics of the tissue than the processes used by our competitors.
Also as discussed below under the heading “Government Regulation,” we believe that all of our current tissue-based products, as well as those we expect
to introduce in the near term, qualify for regulation solely under Section 361 of the Public Health Services Act. This means that AmnioFix® and EpiFix® are
regulated differently than the other two MiMedx platform technologies, CollaFix TM and HydroFix®, which are regulated as medical devices for which Food
and Drug Administration (“FDA”) clearances or approvals are required prior to marketing in the United States. Products that are regulated solely under
Section 361 of the Public Health Services Act do not need premarket clearance or approval in the United States, which accelerates our ability to bring new
products to market.
Tissue Processing and Recovery
We operate a licensed tissue bank that is registered as an establishment with the FDA. We are an accredited member of the American Association of
Tissue Banks (“AATB”). We partner with FDA registered tissue establishments, physicians and hospitals to recover donated placental tissue. After consent
for donation is obtained, donors are screened for eligibility and the donated tissue is tested for safety in compliance with federal regulations and AATB
standards on communicable disease transmission. All donor records and test results are reviewed by our Medical Director prior to the release of the tissue for
processing.
Over several years, we have developed a unique and proprietary technique for processing allografts from the donated placental tissue. Our Purion®
process produces an allograft that is safe, effective, and minimally manipulated. Our unique processing technique specifically focuses on maintaining the
delicate multi-layered structure and collagen matrix of the tissue. The Purion® process does not subject materials to ultra-low temperature conditions during
processing or storage. This technique helps maintain graft structure, provides optimal performance and allows the allograft to be stored at room temperature
and have a five year shelf life. Additionally, each allograft incorporates specialized visual embossments that assist the surgeon with proper graft placement
and orientation.
Our team is dedicated to providing safe, superior allografts that exceed customer expectations. To better satisfy the requirements and expectations of our
customers, the Company maintains strict control on quality from the time of procurement. The Company has developed and implemented a Quality
Management System in compliance with both FDA and AATB standards. Using this Quality Management System, the Company maintains strict control over
each step of the manufacturing process.
EpiFix®
Our EpiFix® allograft is configured for external use. It is designed to enhance healing of wounds, as well as to reduce inflammation and
scarring. Currently, EpiFix® is being used to treat chronic wounds, including diabetic foot ulcers, venous stasis ulcers, arterial ulcers and pressure ulcers,
burns and surgical wounds (such as wounds following plastic surgery).
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AmnioFix®
Our AmnioFix® allografts are configured for internal use. Currently, our AmnioFix® product line consists of three configurations, AmnioFix®,
AmnioFix® Wrap and AmnioFix® Injectable:
·

AmnioFix® is provided in a sheet form. It is configured to enhance non-structural soft tissue healing and to minimize scar tissue formation after
primary surgical repair. It is being used currently in spine, general and urology surgeries.

·

AmnioFix® Wrap also is supplied in a sheet form and is configured for the same purposes and AmnioFix®, but is optimized for use as a “wrap”
for nerves, tendons or ligaments.

·

AmnioFix® Injectable is supplied in micronized powder form designed for injection into soft tissue areas. AmnioFix® is designed to reduce
inflammation while enhancing healing of soft tissue micro tears. Currently, AmnioFix® is used being used to treat conditions such as tendonitis,
plantar fasciitis, lateral epicondylitis, medial epicondylitis, bursitis, strains and sprains.

Ophthalmic Surgery and Dental
Currently, allografts for ophthalmic surgery and dental and oral maxilla facial applications are sold on an OEM basis pursuant to agreements whereby we
have granted third parties exclusive licenses to some of our technology for use in those fields in specified markets.
Medical Devices- CollaFix™ and HydroFix®
CollaFix™
Our CollaFix TM technology combines an innovative means of creating fibers from soluble collagen and a specialized cross-linking process. MiMedx
utilizes two separate cross-linking technologies for various applications. Initial laboratory and animal testing shows that the cross-linked collagen fibers
produce a very strong, biocompatible, and durable construct that can be transformed into biomechanical constructs intended to treat a number of orthopedic
soft-tissue trauma and disease disorders. The technology is licensed from Shriners Hospitals for Children and University of South Florida Research
Foundation, Inc. pursuant to an exclusive, world-wide license to practice and use the technology and to manufacture, have manufactured, market, offer for
sale and sell products incorporating the technology.
Embodiments and benefits of products that we believe, based on preliminary studies, could be developed using this licensed technology are:
·

Initial tests of cross-linked fibers appear to demonstrate they are stronger than existing collagenous tissue, including healthy tendons and
ligaments. These fibers form the fundamental unit from which a variety of devices could be configured as follows:

·

Linear and braided arrays for tendon and ligament repair;

·

Cross-helical arrays forming tubular structures that also can be cut to form flat patches;

·

Woven meshes for general surgical use;
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·

CollaFix TM biomaterials have been tested and results preliminarily suggest that the materials are biocompatible and biodegradable;

·

CollaFix TM Biomaterials coupled with MiMedx proprietary NDGA (nordihydroguaiaretic acid) polymerization can be used to coat synthetic
indwelling medical devices to improve their biocompatibility;

·

NDGA treatment of xenograft (animal in origin) and allograft (human in origin) materials could make them more biocompatible and possibly
improve functional lifetime; and

·

Cross-linked collagen-based biorivets have the potential to be used for bone fracture fixation.

Our core collagen technology is protected by patents, patent applications and trade secrets. The core patent covers the polymerization chemistry of
NDGA as applied to biological materials, bioprostheses, or devices created through its application. It covers chemistries and compounds that have the
reactive groups that are responsible for the effectiveness of NDGA, including a variety of organically synthesized NDGA analogs and natural
compounds. Multiple medical products potentially could be developed and patented that are all tied to the core patented technology. Our core fiber
technology is a closely guarded trade secret.
In January 2012, the Company received the CE certification for its proprietary CollaFix TM Surgical Mesh CD, which is a Class III product in Europe. The
certification was issued by the Company’s notified body, AMTAC Certification Services, Limited, based in the United Kingdom. The CE marking, also
known as “CE Mark,” is a mandatory conformity mark on medical devices placed on the market in the European Economic Area (EEA). The CE mark
certifies that a product is compliant with the European Council Directive 93/42/EEC concerning medical devices, also known as the Medical Device
Directive or MDD. To date, we have not yet received any U.S. clearances or approvals for CollaFix TM.
We may license rights to specific aspects of our collagen technology to third parties for use in applications and indications that we choose not to exploit
ourselves.
The Company is required to pay a royalty of 3% on all commercial sales revenue from the sale of products incorporating the licensed technology. The
Company is also obligated to pay a $50,000 minimum annual royalty payment over the life of the license. The license terminates upon the expiration of the
patent.
We continue to evaluate how best to exploit this technology. We may license rights to specific aspects of our collagen technology to third parties for
use in applications and indications that we choose not to exploit ourselves.
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HydroFix®
We license certain patents and patent application rights to a PVA- based hydrogel, which is a water-based biomaterial that can be manufactured with a
wide range of mechanical properties, including those that appear to mimic closely the mechanical and physical properties of natural, healthy human
tissue. Our licenses allow us to manufacture, market, use and sell medical devices and products incorporating the claimed technology for (i) all neurological
and orthopedic uses related to the human spine, (ii) neurological and orthopedic uses (including muscular and skeletal use) related to the rotator cuff, but
excluding the product SaluBridge (which is made from Salubria® biomaterial and is currently cleared for use by the FDA) and (iii) for application as a
surgical sheet anywhere in the body. Our licenses are exclusive, world-wide and perpetual.
This hydrogel has been used in other orthopedic and general surgery device applications, and it has demonstrated biocompatibility and durability
inside the human body. Regulatory agencies both inside and outside the United States have cleared the hydrogel material for use inside the body for several
applications.
Protection of veins and arteries is a common issue associated with many types of surgeries. Protection of the aorta, vena cava, iliac vessels and other
anatomy is particularly important in anterior spine surgery. The HydroFix® Vaso Shield was designed to help physicians protect vessels during anterior
vertebral surgery. The FDA cleared the HydroFix® Vaso Shield as a vessel guard or cover during anterior vertebral surgery, however, the safety and
effectiveness of this device for reducing the incidence, severity and extent of post-operative adhesion formation has not been established. During 2011, the
Company received two additional 510(k) clearances for its HydroFix® Vaso Shield device; one for an expanded range of sizes and for a higher temperature
exposure limit, and the second for additional information to be included in the marketing materials.
We have a similar version of the product for the European market called HydroFix® Anterior Shield. The device, which is classified as a post-surgical
adhesion inhibiting barrier (Class IIb), received the CE Mark for only anterior use with no contact with the central nervous system or central circulatory
system. Our HydroFix® Spine Shield product is CE marked for applications in contact with the central circulatory system and central nervous system (Class
III in Europe). The CE marked HydroFix® Anterior Shield and HydroFix® Spine Shield are not available in the United States.
During 2011, the Company received 510(k) clearance for its HydroFix® Ortho Shield device, which is indicated for the management and protection of
tendon injuries in which there has been no substantial loss of tendon tissue. The Ortho Shield device is a permanent, protective sheet that minimizes soft
tissue attachments to the device providing a protective environment for the repaired tendon to heal. The device is conformable, suturable, and
biocompatible, providing surgeons with an easy to use option for tendon protection. The device also provides a smooth inner gliding surface for the tendon
to move as part of normal motion.
In 2012, the Company received the CE mark for HydroFix® Crani Shield product. The device is intended to be used as a dura cover to provide a plane of
dissection during revision surgery in cranial applications and is classified as a Class III device in Europe. The HydroFix® Crani Shield is not available in the
United States.
Because the addressable market for our HydroFix® products is somewhat limited and we do not expect significant expansion in the sales of this product
line, we recognized an impairment charge in 2012 and reduced the carrying value of the HydroFix® assets in our consolidated financial statements by
$1,798,495. See Note 2 to Consolidated Financial Statements “Significant Accounting Policies” under the subheading “Impairment of Long-lived Assets.”
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Intellectual Property
Our intellectual property includes licensed patents, owned and licensed patent applications and patents pending, proprietary manufacturing processes
and trade secrets, brands, trademarks and trade names associated with our technology. Furthermore, we require employees, consultants and advisors to sign
Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreements, as well as Nondisclosure Agreements that assign to us and protect the intellectual property existing and
generated from their work or that we may otherwise use and own.
Patents and Patent Applications
On December 6, 2012, the Company announced receipt of its first issued patent “Placental Tissue Grafts” related to tissue grafts derived from the
placenta. This patent relates to the AmnioFix® brand grafts.
On February 11, 2013, the Company announced that it had been issued four additional U.S. patents for placental tissue grafts. The patents include
“Placental Tissue Grafts,” “Improved Placental Tissue Grafts,” “Method For Inhibiting Adhesion Formation” and “Method for Treating a Wound Using
Improved Placental Tissue Graft.” The first three of these patents relate to the AmnioFix® brand grafts and the last of these relates to the EpiFix® brand
allografts.
More than twenty-five additional patent applications covering aspects of this technology are pending at the United States Patent and Trademark Office
and with various international patenting agencies.
Worldwide, our HydroFix® and CollaFix™ technologies are protected with 20 issued patents and 49 patent applications.
Of course, the pending patent applications may not result in issued patents and even if they do, the claims may be substantially modified or reduced.
Trademarks & Trade Names
We also own the following trademarks MiMedx®, EpiFix®, AmnioFix®, HydroFix® and Purion®. We have filed several intent to use applications as
well, including an application for the name “CollaFix™.”
Market Opportunity
The Company is a regenerative biomaterials company with three platform technologies. Our largest addressable market is in chronic wound care
consisting of diabetic, venous and pressure ulcers. The Orthopedic, General Surgery, Urology and OB/GYN soft tissue repair markets also represent
significant market opportunities.
Each platform technology has competitive advantages that support our projected growth. Amniotic membrane has unique “bio-active” properties that
offer benefits that most competitive products cannot offer. MiMedx®’s tissues provide anti-inflammatory, anti-scarring and barrier properties as well as
enhanced healing at the surgical or wound site. They can be stored at room temperature, with a five year shelf life and are easy for the physician to handle
when treating a patient. Our CollaFix TM platform is the first biological, biodegradable, biomimetic technology that matches a human tendon in strength and
stiffness. It also acts as a scaffold for cellular in-growth. Our HydroFix® platform has a micro pore structure that prohibits cellular attachment and has a very
low immunogenic response.
8

The Company is focused primarily on the United States but will pursue other individual markets based upon the specific opportunity. The adoption of
the technologies may vary depending on each country’s regulations, but the opportunities to help individuals in the different disease states remain similar
and large.
In the US, the two key areas of focus for the products we market currently are the chronic wound care and surgical markets. There are an estimated 6.5
million patients that have chronic wounds due to compromised health, such as poor circulation or diabetes, and do not heal with traditional wound care
therapies. An estimated three million people need some type of restorative sports medicine or spinal treatment. Our tissue technologies have shown marked
improvements in healing these patients after short treatment periods. Our tissue platforms help reduce scar tissue formation in a variety of applications,
including the estimated two million patients annually undergoing elective aesthetic procedures to reduce the signs of aging or the estimated almost one
million patients annually undergoing some type of abdominal surgery where scarring can limit the ability to reproduce, reduce sexual function, or generate
post-operative pain.
In Europe, the Company has similar opportunities to treat large populations of patients with our regenerative biomaterials. We believe there is
tremendous opportunity to treat a variety of conditions, including close to seven million chronic wounds and burns, and close to one million tendon or
ligament repair/reconstructions.
Market opportunity numbers derived from the following sources:
Wound Repair Regen. 2009 Nov-Dec;17(6):763-71. doi: 10.1111/j.1524-475X.2009.00543.x. Human skin wounds: a major and snowballing threat
to public health and the economy. Sen CK, Gordillo GM, Roy S, Kirsner R, Lambert L, Hunt TK, Gottrup F, Gurtner GC, Longaker MT.
2010 Report of the 2009 Statistics, National Clearinghouse of plastic surgery statistics, American Society of Plastic Surgeons
US Orthopedic Foot & Ankle and Hand, Wrist & Elbow Sports Medicine & Soft Tissue Device Market, Millennium Research Report 2011
Worldwide Markets and Emerging Technologies for Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine, 2009, Intellab
Wound Care
Physicians encounter a variety of wound types on a daily basis, including acute wounds caused by surgical intervention, trauma and burns, as well as
chronic wounds that are delayed in closing compared to healing in an otherwise healthy individual. Chronic wounds include diabetic foot ulcers, venous leg
ulcers, pressure ulcers, arterial ulcers, and surgical wounds that become infected. The market revenue for biomaterials in wound care is expected to rise at an
accelerated compound annual growth rate of 16.5% from 2006-2013 according to the Frost and Sullivan US Interactive Wound Care Markets Report for
2008.
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Approximately 6.7 million chronic wounds are treated in the US annually. Chronic wounds are defined as wounds that are delayed in closing compared
to healing in an otherwise healthy individual. Some of the most common types of chronic wounds are diabetic foot ulcers, venous leg ulcers, pressure ulcers,
arterial ulcers, and surgical wounds that become infected.
The physician’s goal when treating traumatic wounds is to heal the wound while allowing the patient to retain natural function in the area of the
wound with minimal scaring and infection. If a wound becomes infected, it can lead to a loss of limb or life, and physicians want to close the wound as
quickly as possible to minimize this risk. Patients with chronic wounds likely have comorbidities that complicate or delay the healing cascade.
EpiFix® Dehydrated Human Amniotic Membrane Allograft acts as a tissue regeneration graft that delivers essential wound healing factors, extracellular
matrix proteins and inflammatory mediators to help reduce inflammation, enhance healing, and reduce scar tissue formation. EpiFix® is used for the
treatment of all types of chronic and acute, partial and full-thickness wounds. EpiFix® is not limited to a specific wound type by the FDA like other
technologies and is allowed to be used to heal all types of wounds. EpiFix® is a biologically active tissue allograft that stores at room temperature (0°-38°C)
for up to five years. Certain cultured skin substitutes currently on the market require -80°C storage and expire only six months from time of
processing. Another leading skin substitute is delivered on demand and has strict temperature controls between 20° - 23° Celsius with a ten day shelflife. These competitors’ logistics complications highlight the distinct advantages of EpiFix®.
In addition, our strategic move to supply multiple sizes of grafts (from 2cm2 to 49cm2 ) minimizes product waste. Both of the two leading competitors’
products come in only one size each, 2 inch x 3 inch (38 cm2 ) and 75 mm disc (42 cm2 ). Since the majority of diabetic ulcers are less than 6cm2 , using one of
the competitors’ products would result in significant waste.
Chronic Sports/Work Tissue Injury
AmnioFix® Injectable addresses the chronic sports/work soft tissue injury market including but not limited to tennis elbow, golfers elbow, plantar
fasciitis, tendonitis, bursitis and sprains. Soft tissue injuries are often caused by either trauma or overuse of the affected area. Micro-tears in the tissue form
and become inflamed. Scar tissue may form and impede a full recovery. Steroids are often used as a first line to help the patient cope with the pain and assist
with recovery. There are a number of patients that do not get relief with steroids or do not want to use steroids, and over-use of steroids can cause long-term
damage to the tissue. We believe AmnioFix® Injectable is the best option for the patient to help to reduce inflammation and scar tissue formation, and
enhance healing of micro-tears in soft tissue.
Spine Repair and Vessel Protection
Our AmnioFix® technology also is used as a barrier membrane in procedures where scar tissue formation may be problematic. AmnioFix® provides
additional benefits including anti-inflammatory materials and growth factors that may help with the soft tissue healing of the area. A reduction of scar tissue
is necessary if the patient needs to have an additional surgical procedure in the future, as it may facilitate the re-access to the surgical site as well as help with
scar attachment to the spinal dura. There are approximately 850,000 spinal surgeries per year(1) and most of them potentially could use AmnioFix® to reduce
scarring and inflammation during the primary procedure and may reduce time during reoperations or follow-up surgeries.
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Our HydroFix® Vaso Shield sheet is FDA cleared as a vessel protector to protect the major vessels from the anterior spinal column during an anterior
spinal procedure. Outside the United States, HydroFix® Spine Shield is CE Marked.
Marketing and Sales
We have assembled a network of independent sales representatives and stocking distributors to sell our MiMedx-labeled surgical products
domestically, and we also have a network of stocking distributors for international distribution.
In 2012, we established a direct sales force for Government accounts and are developing a direct sales force for commercial wound care. While we
incurred significant costs due to these initiatives in 2012 and expect to incur significant additional costs in 2013, it is our expectation that this investment in
the direct sales network will lead to higher revenue in 2013 and beyond. No assurance can be given that these efforts will be successful.
We continue to pursue private label or “OEM” relationships, which allow us to leverage the sales and distribution resources of our private label
customers.
Reimbursement
In 2012, 40% of our products were purchased for government accounts, which do not depend on reimbursement from third parties. With the exception of
government accounts, most medical devices and tissue products are purchased by doctors, hospitals or ambulatory surgery centers that are reimbursed by
third-party payers. In the U.S., such payers include governmental programs (e.g., Medicare and Medicaid), private insurance plans, managed care programs
and workers’ compensation plans. Governmental payment programs have prescribed reimbursement rates for procedures and medical products. Similarly,
private third-party payers often have negotiated payment levels for procedures and medical products. In addition, in the United States, an increasing
percentage of insured individuals are receiving their medical care through managed care programs, which monitor and may require pre-approval of the
services that a member will receive. Accordingly, our growth substantially depends on adequate levels of third-party reimbursement for our products.
In those countries outside the U.S. where our products are approved for sale, we expect that sales volumes and prices of our products will be influenced
by the availability of reimbursement from governments or third-party payers. If adequate levels of reimbursement from governments or third-party payers
outside of the U.S. are not obtained, international sales of our products will be limited. Outside of the U.S., reimbursement systems vary significantly by
country. Many foreign markets have government-managed health care systems that govern reimbursement for medical devices and procedures and often
require special consideration for reimbursement for a new product.
Because EpiFix® is a new product, we often need to convince a payer of its safety, efficacy and cost effectiveness before they will reimburse for
EpiFix®. As of March 1, 2013, five of the nine Medicare Administrative Contractors have agreed to cover our EpiFix® product for treatment of chronic
wounds in the lower extremities. In addition to having to convince private payers as to the efficacy and cost effectiveness of EpiFix®, coverage and
reimbursement by private payers also varies according to the patient’s benefit coverage with each individual payer. Payment may be based on the contract
between the physician provider and the payer, and varies according to each individual contract. Therefore, we do not have reliable data as to how many
commercial payers reimburse for EpiFix®, for which indications or at what rate. We are devoting considerable resources to clinical trials to support
reimbursement of our products. We also have established a reimbursement support group to facilitate payments to providers as well as to assist in educating
payers about the merits of our products.
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Our surgical products (AmnioFix® and HydroFix®) generally are bundled as part of a hospital’s bill for a diagnosis-related group (DRG). In these cases,
we also must convince the hospital that our products are both efficacious and cost-effective.
At this time there can be no assurance that reimbursement policies will provide an acceptable return on our products.
Customer Concentration
The Company provides products to Government accounts, including the Veteran’s Administration, through a distributor relationship. In 2012, sales to
this distributor represented 40% of our revenues. The distribution agreement has a term of three years ending in April 2015, and has the potential to be
extended for two additional one year terms. This distribution relationship is different than our other distribution relationships in that we have our own sales
force selling into those accounts with the distributor handling all the back-office paperwork and contracting matters.
Another of our distributors represented an additional 21% of our total revenues in 2012. Our agreement with this distributor initially had a one year term
and has been renewed on an annual basis. The current term expires in November 2013. We expect the agreement to be renewed.
Government Regulation
United States Regulation of Our Products
Human Amniotic Tissue
Our EpiFix® and AmnioFix® products are derived from human tissue. The FDA has specific regulations governing human cells, tissues and cellular and
tissue-based products, or HCT/Ps. An HCT/P is a product containing or consisting of human cells or tissue intended for transplantation into a human patient.
HCT/Ps that meets the criteria for regulation solely under Section 361 of the Public Health Service Act (so-called “361 HCT/Ps”) are not subject to any
premarket clearance or approval requirements and are subject to less stringent post-market regulatory requirements.
To be a 361 HCT/P, a product generally must meet all four of the following criteria:
·

It must be minimally manipulated;

·

It must be intended for homologous use;

·

Its manufacture does not involve combination with another article, except for water, crystalloids or a sterilizing, preserving or storage agent; and

·

It does not have a systemic effect and is not dependent upon the metabolic activity of living cells for its primary function.
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If an HCT/P meets all the above criteria, no FDA review for safety and effectiveness under a drug, device, or biological product marketing application is
required. However, the processor of the tissue is required to register with the FDA, comply with regulations regarding labeling, record keeping, donor
eligibility, screening and testing, process the tissue in accordance with established Good Tissue Practices, and report any adverse events. MiMedx continues
to comply with all applicable regulations, as demonstrated by several FDA and other agency on-site audits.
The American Association of Tissue Banks has issued operating standards for tissue banking. Compliance with these standards is a requirement in order
to become a licensed tissue bank. In addition, some states have their own tissue banking regulations.
In addition, procurement of certain human organs and tissue for transplantation is subject to the restrictions of the National Organ Transplant Act
(“NOTA”), which prohibits the transfer of certain human organs, including skin and related tissue for valuable consideration, but permits the reasonable
payment associated with the removal, transportation, implantation, processing, preservation, quality control and storage of human tissue and skin. We
reimburse tissue banks, hospitals and physicians for their services associated with the recovery, storage and transportation of donated human tissue. If we
were to be found to have violated NOTA’s prohibition on the sale or transfer of human tissue for valuable consideration, we would potentially be subject to
criminal enforcement sanctions, which could materially and adversely affect our results of operations.
Medical Devices
Our HydroFix® and CollaFix TM product platforms are medical devices subject to regulation by the FDA, under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic
Act and they are also regulated in the European Economic Area by the Medical Device Directive 93/42/EEC. Similar registration/licensing regulations apply
in other countries. These regulations govern, among other things, the following activities:
·

Product design and development;

·

Product testing;

·

Product manufacturing;

·

Product labeling;

·

Product storage;

·

Premarket clearance or approval;

·

Advertising and promotion;

·

Product sales and distribution; and

·

Medical device reporting/Vigilance reporting.

Medical Devices are classed as I, II and III in the U.S. with Class II and III requiring either a 510(k) clearance or Premarket Approval (“PMA”) from the
FDA prior to marketing. Devices deemed substantially equivalent to legally marketed devices are deemed to pose relatively less risk deemed Class II, which
requires the manufacturer to submit a premarket notification requesting clearance for commercial distribution. This is known as 510(k) clearance, which
indicates that the device is substantially equivalent to devices already legally on the market. Most Class I devices are considered very low risk and are
exempted from this requirement. Devices deemed by the FDA to pose the greatest risk, such as life-sustaining, life-supporting or devices deemed not
substantially equivalent to a previously 510(k) cleared device or a pre-amendment Class III device for which PMA applications have not been required, are
placed in Class III, requiring PMA approval.
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We believe that the FDA will regulate our next generation products as medical devices, biologics or drugs. However, the FDA may determine that some
of our products are combination products comprised of a biologic and medical device component. For a combination product, the FDA must determine
which center or centers within the FDA will review the products and under what legal authority the products will be reviewed. While we believe our products
would likely be regulated under the medical device authorities even if they are deemed “combination products,” there can be no assurances that the FDA will
agree. In addition, the review of combination products is often more complex and more time consuming than the review of a product under the jurisdiction of
only one center within the FDA.
510(k) Clearance Pathway
To obtain 510(k) clearance for our Next Generation products, we must submit a premarket notification demonstrating that the proposed device is
substantially equivalent in intended use and in safety and effectiveness to a previously 510(k) cleared device or a device that was in commercial distribution
before May 28, 1976, for which the FDA has not yet called for submission of PMA applications. The FDA’s 510(k) clearance pathway usually takes
from three to 12 months, but it can take significantly longer for submissions that include clinical data.
After a device receives 510(k) clearance, any modification that could significantly affect its safety or effectiveness, or that would constitute a major
change in its intended use, technological characteristics, performance or labeling requires a new 510(k) clearance or could require a PMA approval. The FDA
requires each manufacturer to make this determination in the first instance, but the FDA can review any such decision. If the FDA disagrees with a
manufacturer’s decision not to seek a new 510(k) clearance, the agency may retroactively require the manufacturer to seek 510(k) clearance or PMA
approval. The FDA typically inspects the manufacturer’s facilities for compliance with 21 CFR Part 820 Quality System Regulation (QSR) which define the
requirements for a quality system. A Quality System consists of organizational structure, responsibilities, procedures, processes and resources for
implementing controls and monitoring to ensure the quality and integrity of the product.
The FDA also can require the manufacturer to cease marketing and/or recall the modified device until 510(k) clearance or PMA approval is obtained.
PMA Approval Pathway
If 510(k) clearance is unavailable for a product it must follow the PMA approval pathway, which requires proof of the safety and effectiveness of the
device to the FDA’s satisfaction. The PMA approval pathway is much more costly, lengthy and uncertain. It generally takes from one to three years and can
take even longer.
A PMA application must provide extensive preclinical and clinical trial data and also information about the device and its components regarding,
among other things, device design, manufacturing and labeling. As mentioned above, in conjunction with a PMA review, the FDA typically will inspect the
manufacturer’s facilities for compliance with QSR requirements.
Upon submission, the FDA determines if the PMA application is sufficiently complete to permit a substantive review, and, if so, the application is
accepted for filing. The FDA then commences an in-depth review of the PMA application, which typically takes one to three years, but may take longer. The
review time is often significantly extended as a result of the FDA asking for more information or clarification of information already provided. The FDA also
may respond with a “not approvable” determination based on deficiencies in the application and require additional clinical trials that are often expensive
and time consuming and can delay approval for months or even years. During the review period, an FDA advisory committee may be convened to review the
application and recommend to the FDA whether, or upon what conditions, the device should be approved. Although the FDA is not bound by the advisory
panel decision, the panel’s recommendation is important to the FDA’s overall decision making process.
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If the FDA’s evaluation of the PMA application is favorable, the FDA typically issues an “approvable letter” requiring the applicant’s agreement to
specific conditions (e.g., changes in labeling) or specific additional information (e.g., submission of final labeling) in order to secure final approval of the
PMA application. Once the approvable letter is satisfied, the FDA will issue a PMA for the approved indications, which can be more limited than those
originally sought by the manufacturer. The PMA can include post approval conditions that the FDA believes necessary to ensure the safety and effectiveness
of the device including, among other things, restrictions on labeling, promotion, sale and distribution. Failure to comply with the conditions of approval can
result in material adverse enforcement action, including the loss or withdrawal of the approval. Even after approval of a PMA, a new PMA or PMA
supplement is required in the event of a modification to the device, its labeling or its manufacturing process.
Clinical Trials
A clinical trial is generally required to support a PMA, Biologic or Drug application and is sometimes required for a premarket notification. Such trials
generally require submission of an application for an Investigational Device Exemption, or IDE. The IDE application must be supported by appropriate data,
such as animal and laboratory testing results, showing that it is safe to test the device in humans and that the testing protocol is scientifically sound. The IDE
must be approved in advance by the FDA for a specified number of patients (unless the product is deemed a non-significant risk device eligible for more
abbreviated IDE requirements). Clinical trials are subject to extensive monitoring, record keeping and reporting requirements. Clinical trials may begin once
the IDE application is approved by the FDA and the appropriate institutional review boards, or IRBs, at the clinical trial sites, and must comply with FDA
regulations. T o conduct a clinical trial, we also are required to obtain the patients’ informed consent that complies with both FDA requirements and state and
federal privacy and human subject protection regulations. We, the FDA or the IRB could suspend a clinical trial at any time for various reasons, including a
belief that the risks to study subjects outweigh the anticipated benefits. Even if a trial is completed, the results of clinical testing may not adequately
demonstrate the safety and efficacy of the device or may otherwise not be sufficient to obtain FDA approval to market the product in the U.S.
Post Market
After a device is placed on the market, numerous regulatory requirements apply. These include: the Quality System Regulation, which requires
manufacturers to follow elaborate design, testing, control, documentation and other quality assurance procedures during the manufacturing process; labeling
regulations; the FDA’s general prohibition against promoting products for unapproved or “off-label” uses; and the Medical Device Reporting regulation,
which requires that manufacturers report to the FDA if their device caused or contributed, or may have caused or contributed to a death or serious injury or
malfunctioned in a way that would likely cause or contribute to a death or serious injury if it were to recur. Class II devices also can have special controls
such as performance standards, post market surveillance, patient registries, and FDA guidelines that do not apply to Class I devices.
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The manufacturer is subject to inspection and marketing surveillance by the FDA to determine our compliance with regulatory requirements. If the FDA
finds that we have failed to comply, it can institute a wide variety of enforcement actions, ranging from a warning letter to more severe sanctions such as:
·

Fines, injunctions, and civil penalties;

·

Recall or seizure of our products;

·

Operating restrictions, partial suspension or total shutdown of production;

·

Refusing our requests for 510(k) clearance or PMA approval of new products;

·

Withdrawing 510(k) clearance or PMA approvals already granted; and

·

Criminal prosecution.

The FDA also has the authority to require repair, replacement or refund of the cost of any medical device that we have manufactured or distributed.
Fraud, Abuse and False Claims
The Company is directly and indirectly subject to various federal and state laws governing relationships with healthcare providers and pertaining to
healthcare fraud and abuse, including anti-kickback laws. In particular, the federal healthcare program Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits persons from
knowingly and willfully soliciting, offering, receiving or providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, in exchange for or to induce either the referral of an
individual, or the furnishing, arranging for or recommending a good or service for which payment may be made in whole or part under federal healthcare
programs, such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs. Penalties for violations include criminal penalties and civil sanctions such as fines, imprisonment
and possible exclusion from Medicare, Medicaid and other federal healthcare programs. The Anti-Kickback Statute is broad and prohibits many
arrangements and practices that are lawful in businesses outside of the healthcare industry. In implementing the statute, the Office of Inspector General of the
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (“OIG”) has issued a series of regulations, known as the “safe harbors.” These safe harbors set forth provisions
that, if all their applicable requirements are met, will assure healthcare providers and other parties that they will not be prosecuted under the Anti-Kickback
Statute. The failure of a transaction or arrangement to fit precisely within one or more safe harbors does not necessarily mean that it is illegal or that
prosecution will be pursued. However, conduct and business arrangements that do not fully satisfy each applicable element of a safe harbor may result in
increased scrutiny by government enforcement authorities, such as the OIG. Many states have laws similar to the federal law.
The Federal False Claims Act (“FCA”) imposes civil liability on any person or entity that submits, or causes the submission of, a false or fraudulent claim
to the U.S. Government. Damages under the FCA can be significant and consist of the imposition of fines and penalties. The FCA also allows a private
individual or entity with knowledge of past or present fraud against the federal government to sue on behalf of the government to recover the civil penalties
and treble damages. The U.S. Department of Justice (“DOJ”) on behalf of the government has previously alleged that the marketing and promotional
practices of pharmaceutical and medical device manufacturers included the off-label promotion of products or the payment of prohibited kickbacks to
doctors violated the FCA resulting in the submission of improper claims to federal and state healthcare entitlement programs such as Medicaid. In certain
cases, manufacturers have entered into criminal and civil settlements with the federal government under which they entered into plea agreements, paid
substantial monetary amounts and entered into corporate integrity agreements that require, among other things, substantial reporting and remedial actions
going forward.
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Healthcare fraud and abuse laws are complex, and even minor, inadvertent violations can give rise to claims that the relevant law has been violated. We
make payments to physicians and hospitals for a variety of services, such as tissue procurement services, research, serving on our medical advisory board,
consulting, and speaking to payers about our products in support of our reimbursement efforts. While these transactions were structured with the intention of
complying with all applicable laws, including state anti-referral laws and other applicable anti-kickback laws, it is possible that regulatory or enforcement
agencies or courts may in the future view these transactions as prohibited arrangements that must be restructured or for which we would be subject to
significant civil or criminal penalties.
AdvaMed is one of the primary voluntary U.S. trade associations for medical device manufacturers. This association has established guidelines and
protocols for medical device manufacturers in their relationships with healthcare professionals on matters including research and development, product
training and education, grants and charitable contributions, support of third-party educational conferences, and consulting arrangements. Adoption of the
AdvaMed Code by a medical device manufacturer is voluntary, and while the OIG and other federal and state healthcare regulatory agencies encourage its
adoption and may look to the AdvaMed Code, they do not view adoption of the AdvaMed Code as proof of compliance with applicable laws. As part of a
Company-wide compliance plan adopted by the Company in February 2013, MiMedx has incorporated the principles of the AdvaMed Code in its standard
operating procedures, sales force training programs, and relationships with health care professionals. Key to the underlying principles of the AdvaMed Code
is the need to focus the relationships between manufacturers and healthcare professionals on matters of training, education and scientific research, and limit
payments between manufacturers and healthcare professionals to fair market value for legitimate services provided and payment of modest meal, travel and
other expenses for a healthcare professional under limited circumstances. The Company has incorporated these principles into its relationships with
healthcare professionals under its consulting agreements, payment of travel and lodging expenses, research and educational grant procedures and
sponsorship of third-party conferences. In addition, the Company has conducted training sessions on these principles. However, the Company cannot
provide any assurance that regulatory or enforcement authorities will view these arrangements as being in compliance with applicable laws or that one or
more of its employees or agents will not disregard the rules established by the Company.
See discussion below- “Risk Factors” under the heading “We and our sales representatives, whether employees or independent contractors, must
comply with various federal and state anti-kickback, self-referral, false claims and similar laws, any breach of which could cause a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition and results of operations.”
International
International sales of the Company’s products are subject to foreign government regulations, which vary substantially from country to country. The time
required to obtain approval by a foreign country may be longer or shorter than that required for FDA approval, and the requirements may differ. In addition,
the export of certain MiMedx Group products that have not yet been cleared or approved for domestic distribution may be subject to FDA export
restrictions. There can be no assurance that we will receive on a timely basis, if at all, any foreign government or United States export approvals necessary for
the marketing of our products abroad.
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The primary regulatory environment in Europe is that of the European Union, which consists of twenty-seven countries, encompassing most of the major
countries in Europe. Other countries, such as Switzerland, have voluntarily adopted laws and regulations that mirror those of the European Union with
respect to medical devices. The European Union has adopted numerous directives and standards regulating design, manufacture, clinical trials, labeling, and
adverse event reporting for medical devices. Devices that comply with the requirements of a relevant directive will be entitled to bear a CE Mark and can be
commercially distributed throughout Europe. For tissue products, the Company must submit for approval and clearance with each individual country,
supporting the compliance of the product with the country’s directives and/or standards. Once approved, the tissue product can be distributed within that
particular country. The method of assessing conformity varies depending on the class of the product, but normally involves a combination of self-assessment
by the manufacturer and a third party assessment by a “Notified Body.” This third party assessment may consist of an audit of the manufacturer’s quality
system and specific testing of the manufacturer’s product. A successful assessment by a Notified Body resident in one country within the European Union is
required in order for a manufacturer to commercially distribute the product throughout the European Economic Area EEA.
Export of Uncleared or Unapproved Devices
Export of devices eligible for the 510(k) clearance process, but not yet cleared to market, is permitted without FDA approval, provided that certain
requirements are met. Unapproved devices subject to the PMA process can be exported to any country without FDA approval provided that, among other
things, they are not contrary to the laws of the country to which they are intended for import, they are manufactured in substantial compliance with the
Quality System Regulations, and they have been granted valid marketing authorization by any member country of the European Union, Australia, Canada,
Israel, Japan, New Zealand, Switzerland or South Africa. If these conditions are not met, FDA approval must be obtained, among other things, by
demonstrating to the FDA that the product is approved for import into the country to which it is to be exported and, in some cases, by providing safety data
for the device. There can be no assurance that the FDA will grant export approval when necessary or that countries to which the device is to be exported will
approve the device for import. Our failure to obtain necessary FDA export authorization and/or import approval could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operation.
Manufacturing
MiMedx Group performs all tissue processing in Kennesaw, Ga. The Company expanded production capacity from one (1) to three (3) processing lines
in the second quarter of 2012. The Company also performs research and early stage product and process development activities in its Kennesaw, Georgia,
location.
We are subject to the FDA’s quality system regulations, state regulations, and regulations promulgated by the European Union. We are FDA registered,
CE marked and ISO certified. Our facilities are subject to periodic unannounced inspections by regulatory authorities, and may undergo compliance
inspections conducted by the FDA and corresponding state and foreign agencies.
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Suppliers
We have identified reliable sources and suppliers of collagen, source materials of NDGA, which we believe will provide a product in compliance with
FDA guidelines. We engage in the manufacture of our own hydrogel products and accessibility to critical raw materials for the PVA-based biomaterial
products is not inhibited by supply or market constraints.
We have a comprehensive network of hospitals who participate in our placenta donation program. We have a dedicated staff that works at these
hospitals, collecting donated placentas from mothers who undergo Caesarian section births and consent to donation. In addition, we have entered into
agreements with certain third party companies who also collect placenta donations in other hospitals. We believe that we will be able to procure an adequate
supply of tissue to meet anticipated demand.
Research and Development
Our research and development group has extensive experience in developing products related to our field of interest, and works with our Medical
Advisory Board to design products that are intended to improve patient outcomes, simplify techniques, shorten procedures, reduce hospitalization and
rehabilitation times and, as a result, reduce costs. Clinical trials that demonstrate the safety, efficacy and cost effectiveness of our products are key to
obtaining broader reimbursement for our products. In addition to our internal staff we contract with outside labs and physicians who aid us in our research
and development process. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” at Item 7 below for information
regarding expenditures for research and development in each of the last two fiscal years.
Environmental Matters
The Company’s tissue preservation activities generate some chemical and biomedical wastes, consisting primarily of diluted alcohols and acids, human
and animal pathological and biological wastes, including human and animal tissue and body fluids removed during laboratory procedures. The chemical
and biomedical wastes generated by the Company are placed in appropriately constructed and labeled containers and are segregated from other wastes
generated by the Company. The Company contracts with third parties for transport, treatment, and disposal of waste. The Company strives to remain
compliant with applicable laws and regulations promulgated by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, the U. S. Environmental Protection agency
and the Georgia Department of Natural Resources, Environmental Protection/division.
Employees
As of December 31, 2012, we had 166 employees, of whom 159 are full-time and 7 are part-time employees. We consider our relationships with our
employees to be satisfactory. None of our employees is covered by a collective bargaining agreement.
Litigation
None outside the ordinary course of business.
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Available Information
Our website address is www.mimedx.com. We make available on this website under “Investors — SEC Filings,” free of charge, our proxy statements,
annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable
after we electronically file or furnish such materials to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). In addition, we post filings of Forms 3, 4, and
5 filed by our directors, executive officers and ten percent or more shareholders. We also make available on this website under the heading “Investors —
Corporate Governance” our Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee Charters as well as our
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.
The reference to our website does not constitute incorporation by reference of any information contained at that site.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
We have limited operating experience and a history of net losses, and we may never achieve or maintain profitability.
We have a limited operating history and have focused primarily on research and development, clinical trials, product engineering, expanding our
manufacturing capabilities, and building a sales force to market our EpiFix® and AmnioFix® products. We have incurred significant net losses over the last
few years, including net losses of approximately $7.7 million in 2012, $10.2 million in 2011, and $11.4 million in 2010. At December 31, 2012, we had an
accumulated deficit of approximately $69.7 million. We will continue to incur significant expenses for the foreseeable future as we expand our sales and
marketing, research and development, and clinical activities. We may never generate sufficient revenues to achieve or sustain profitability. Even if we do
achieve profitability, we may not be able to sustain or increase profitability. Our business and prospects must be evaluated in light of the expenses, delays,
uncertainties and complications typically encountered by businesses in our stage of development, many of which may be beyond our control. These include,
but are not limited to, lack of sufficient capital, unanticipated problems, delays or expenses relating to product development, governmental approvals, and
licensing and marketing activities, competition, technological changes and uncertain market acceptance. In addition, if we are unable to manage growth
effectively, our operating results could be materially and adversely affected. We may not be able to successfully address any or all of these risks, and the
failure to adequately do so could cause our business, results of operations, and financial condition to suffer.
Our operating results may fluctuate significantly as a result of a variety of factors, many of which are outside of our control.
We are subject to the following factors, among others, that may negatively affect our operating results:
·

The announcement or introduction of new products by our competitors;

·

Failure of government and private health plans to adequately and timely reimburse the users of our products;

·

Our ability to upgrade and develop our systems and infrastructure to accommodate growth;

·

Our ability to attract and retain key personnel in a timely and cost effective manner;

·

The amount and timing of operating costs and capital expenditures relating to the expansion of our business, operations and infrastructure;

·

Regulation by federal, state or local governments; and
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·

General economic conditions as well as economic conditions specific to the healthcare industry.

As a result of our limited operating history, limited resources, and the nature of the markets in which we compete, it is extremely difficult for us to
forecast accurately. We have based our current and future expense levels largely on our investment plans and estimates of future events although certain of
our expense levels are, to a large extent, fixed. We may be unable to adjust spending in a timely manner to compensate for any unexpected revenue
shortfall. Accordingly, any significant shortfall in revenue relative to our planned expenditures would have an immediate adverse effect on our business,
results of operations and financial condition. Further, as a strategic response to changes in the competitive environment, the Company may from time to time
make certain pricing, service or marketing decisions that could have a material and adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial
condition. Due to the foregoing factors, our revenue and operating results are and will remain difficult to forecast.
We are in a highly competitive field and face competition from large, well-established, tissue processors, medical device manufacturers as well as new
market entrants.
Our business is in a very competitive and evolving field. Competition from other tissue processors, medical device companies and from research and
academic institutions is intense, expected to increase, subject to rapid change, and could be significantly affected by new product introductions.
Many of our products have short regulatory timeframes and our competitors may be able to develop competitive products that are as or more effective
than our products or that render our products and technologies less competitive or obsolete.
Many of our competitors have competitive advantages over us, including some or all of the following:
·

Significantly greater name recognition;

·

Established relations with surgeons, hospitals, other healthcare providers and third party payers;

·

Large and established sales and distribution networks in the United States and/or in international markets;

·

Greater experience in obtaining and maintaining regulatory approvals and/or clearances from the United States Food and Drug Administration and
other regulatory agencies;

·

Greater financial, managerial and other resources for product research and development, sales and marketing efforts and protecting and enforcing
intellectual property rights.

The presence of this competition in our market may lead to pricing pressure, which would make it more difficult to sell our products at a price that will
make us profitable or prevent us from selling our products at all.
Our success will depend on our ability to perfect and protect our intellectual property rights related to our technologies as well as to develop new
technologies and new applications for our technologies.
Our failure to compete effectively would have a material and adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
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Our EpiFix® and AmnioFix® products are dependent on the availability of sufficient quantities of placental tissue from human donors, and any
disruption in supply could adversely affect our business.
The success of our human tissue products depends upon, among other factors, the availability of sufficient quantities of placental tissue from human
donors. The availability of donated placental tissue could be adversely impacted by regulatory changes, public opinion of the donor process as well as our
own reputation in the industry. Any disruption in the supply of donated human tissue could restrict our growth and could have a material adverse impact on
our business and financial condition. We cannot be sure that the supply of human tissue will continue to be available at current levels or will be sufficient to
meet our future needs.
Our EpiFix® and AmnioFix® products are derived from human tissue and therefore have the potential for disease transmission.
The utilization of human tissue creates the potential for transmission of communicable disease, including, but not limited to, human immunodeficiency
virus (“HIV”), viral hepatitis, syphilis and other viral, fungal or bacterial pathogens. We are required to comply with federal and state regulations intended to
prevent communicable disease transmission.
Although we maintain strict quality controls over the procurement and processing of our tissue, there is no assurance that these quality controls will be
adequate. In addition, negative publicity concerning disease transmission from other companies’ improperly processed donated tissue could have a negative
impact on the demand for our EpiFix® and AmnioFix® products.
We depend on key personnel.
Our success will depend, in part, upon our ability to attract and retain skilled personnel, including sales, managerial and technical personnel. There can
be no assurance that we will be able to find and attract additional qualified employees to support our expected growth or retain any such personnel. Our
inability to hire qualified personnel or the loss of services of our key personnel may have a material and adverse effect on our business, operations and results
of operations.
We are dependent on our relationships with distributors and independent sales representatives to generate revenue.
We derive material revenues through our relationships with distributors and independent sales representatives. If such relationships were terminated for
any reason, it could materially and adversely affect our ability to generate revenues and profits. The Company intends to obtain the assistance of additional
distributors and independent sales representatives to continue its sales growth. We may not be able to find additional distributors and independent sales
representatives who will agree to market and/or distribute our products on commercially reasonable terms, if at all. If we are unable to establish new
distribution and independent sales representative relationships or renew current distribution and sales agency agreements on commercially acceptable terms,
our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.
We are investing significant capital in expanding our sales force, and there can be no assurance that these efforts will result in significant increases in
sales.
We are engaged in a major initiative to build and further expand our sales and marketing capabilities. As a result, we are investing in a direct sales force
to allow us to reach new customers. The incurrence of these expenses impacts our operating results, and there can be no assurance that we will be successful
in significantly expanding the sales of our products.
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A significant portion of our revenues come from a limited number of accounts .
Three customers accounted for approximately 68% of revenues for the year ended December 31, 2012. We provide products to Government accounts,
including the Veteran’s Administration, through a distributor that has a Federal Supply Schedule Contract that recently was extended through January
2018. These sales represented 40% of our revenue in 2012. Our agreement with the distributor has an initial term of three years ending in April 2015. The
agreement has the potential of being extended for two additional one year terms. We believe the risk related to that concentration of revenue from a single
distributor is mitigated by the fact that our own sales force calls on and has a personal relationship with the individual Veteran’s Administration facilities that
represent most of that revenue. Therefore, we believe we eventually could regain much of the Veteran’s Administration business, even if our relationship
with our distributor were terminated. Nevertheless, if our agreement with our distributor were terminated prematurely or if the distributor were for any reason
unable to service the Government market, there could be a disruption of our Government accounts business that could materially and adversely affect our
business, revenues and results of operations.
Another of our distributors represented 21% of total revenue in 2012. While we believe our relationship with this distributor is good, if this relationship
were terminated for any reason, including non-renewal of our contract upon expiration of the current term in May 2013, our business, revenues and results of
operations could suffer.
Our revenues depend on adequate reimbursement from public and private insurers and health systems.
Our success depends on the extent to which reimbursement for the costs of our products and related treatments will be available from third party payers,
such as public and private insurers and health systems. Government and other third-party payers attempt to contain healthcare costs by limiting both
coverage and the level of reimbursement of new products. Therefore, significant uncertainty usually exists as to the reimbursement status of new healthcare
products. A significant number of public and private insurers and health systems currently do not provide reimbursement for our products. If we are not
successful in obtaining adequate reimbursement for our products from these third party payers, the market’s acceptance of our products could be adversely
affected. Inadequate reimbursement levels also likely would create downward price pressure on our products. Even if we do succeed in obtaining widespread
reimbursement for our products, future changes in reimbursement policies could have a negative impact on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.
Disruption of our manufacturing and processing could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Our results of operations are dependent upon the continued operation of our manufacturing and processing facilities. Risks that could impact our ability
to use these facilities include the occurrence of natural and other disasters, and the need to comply with the requirements of directives from government
agencies, including the FDA. The unavailability of our manufacturing and processing facilities could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, and results of operations during the period of such unavailability.
To be commercially successful, we must convince physicians that our products are safe and effective alternatives to existing treatments and that our
products should be used in their procedures.
We believe physicians will only adopt our products if they determine, based on experience, clinical data and published peer reviewed journal articles,
that the use of our products in a particular procedure is a favorable alternative to conventional methods. Physicians may be slow to change their medical
treatment practices for the following reasons, among others:
·

Their lack of experience with prior procedures in the field using our products;

·

Lack of evidence supporting additional patient benefits and our products over conventional methods;
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·

Perceived liability risks generally associated with the use of new products and procedures;

·

Limited availability of reimbursement from third party payers; and

·

The time that must be dedicated to training.

In addition, we believe recommendations for and support of our products by influential physicians are essential for market acceptance and adoption. If
we do not receive this support or if we are unable to demonstrate favorable long-term clinical data, physicians and hospitals may not use our products, which
would significantly reduce our ability to achieve expected revenue and would prevent us from becoming profitable.
We will need to expand our organization, and we may be unable to manage rapid growth effectively.
Our failure to manage growth effectively could have a material and adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. We
anticipate that a period of significant expansion will be required to penetrate and service the market for our existing and anticipated future products and to
continue to develop new products. This expansion will place a significant strain on management, operational and financial resources. To manage the
expected growth of our operations and personnel, we must both modify our existing operational and financial systems, procedures and controls and
implement new systems, procedures and controls. We must also expand our finance, administrative, and operations staff. Management may be unable to hire,
train, retain, motivate and manage necessary personnel or to identify, manage and exploit existing and potential strategic relationships and market
opportunities.
Additional financing may be necessary for implementation of our growth strategy.
We may require additional debt and/or equity financing to pursue our growth strategy. Given our limited operating history and history of net losses,
there can be no assurance that we will be successful in obtaining additional financing. Lack of additional funding could force us to curtail substantially our
growth plans or cease operations. Furthermore, our issuance of any additional securities would dilute the ownership of existing shareholders and may
substantially reduce the price of our common stock. Furthermore, debt financing, if available, will require the payment of interest and may involve restrictive
covenants that could impose limitations upon our operating flexibility. Our failure to successfully obtain additional future funding may jeopardize our
ability to expand our business and operations.
We face the risk of product liability claims and may not be able to obtain or maintain adequate product liability insurance.
Our business exposes us to the risk of product liability claims that are inherent in the manufacturing, processing and marketing of medical devices and
human tissue products. We may be subject to such claims if our products cause, or appear to have caused, an injury. Claims may be made by patients,
healthcare providers or others selling our products. Defending a lawsuit, regardless of merit, could be costly, divert management attention and result in
adverse publicity, which could result in the withdrawal of, or reduced acceptance of, our products in the market.
Although we have product liability insurance that we believe is adequate, this insurance is subject to deductibles and coverage limitations and we may
not be able to maintain this insurance. If we are unable to maintain product liability insurance at an acceptable cost or on acceptable terms with adequate
coverage or otherwise protect ourselves against potential product liability claims, we could be exposed to significant liabilities, which may harm our
business. A product liability claim or other claim with respect to uninsured liabilities or for amounts in excess of insured liabilities could result in significant
costs and significant harm to our business.
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We may implement a product recall or voluntary market withdrawal due to product defects, which could significantly increase our costs, damage our
reputation and disrupt our business.
The manufacturing, marketing and processing of our tissue products and medical devices involves an inherent risk that our products may be defective or
that our products or processes do not meet applicable quality standards and requirements. In that event, we may voluntarily implement a recall or market
withdrawal or may be required to do so by a regulatory authority. A recall or market withdrawal of one of our products would be costly and would divert
management resources. A recall or withdrawal of one of our products, or a similar product manufactured or processed by another manufacturer, also could
impair sales of our products as a result of confusion concerning the scope of the recall or withdrawal, or as a result of the damage to our reputation for quality
and safety.
We may not be successful in commercializing all of our technologies for our medical device products, such as HydroFix® and CollaFix™.
We have had only limited sales of our HydroFix® products. We have invested substantial time and resources in developing various additional products
using our HydroFix® and CollaFix TM technologies. Further commercialization of these technologies will require additional development, clinical
evaluation, regulatory clearance or approval, significant marketing efforts and substantial additional investment before they can provide us with any
revenue. Despite our efforts, any such products may not become commercially successful products for a number of reasons, including:
·

We may not be able to obtain regulatory clearance or approvals for such products, or the approved indication may be narrower than we seek;

·

Such products may not prove to be safe and effective in preclinical or clinical trials;

·

Physicians or hospitals may not receive any reimbursement from third party payers, or the level of reimbursement may be insufficient to support
widespread adoption of such products;

·

We may experience delays in our development programs;

·

Any products that are approved may not be accepted in the marketplace by physicians or patients;

·

We may not be able to manufacture any such products in commercial quantities or at an acceptable cost; and

·

Rapid technological change may make such products obsolete.

Our international business and prospects could be adversely impacted by risks inherent in international markets.
Sales to customers outside the United States subject us to inherent risks in the economic, political, legal and business environments in the foreign
countries in which we do business, including the following:
·

Fluctuations in currency exchange rates;

·

Regulatory, product approval and reimbursement requirements;

·

Tariffs and other trade barriers;

·

Greater difficulty in accounts receivable collection and longer collection periods;

·

Difficulties and costs of managing foreign distributors;
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·

Reduced protection for intellectual property rights in some countries;

·

Burdens of complying with a wide variety of foreign laws;

·

The impact of recessions in economies outside the U.S.;

·

Political and economic instability; and

·

U.S. Export regulatory restrictions.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
Our ability to protect our intellectual property and proprietary technology through patents and other means is uncertain and may be inadequate, which
would have a material and adverse effect on us.
Our success depends significantly on our ability to protect our proprietary rights to the technologies used in our products. We rely on patent protection,
as well as a combination of copyright, trade secret and trademark laws and nondisclosure, confidentiality and other contractual restrictions to protect our
proprietary technology, including our licensed technology. These legal means afford only limited protection and may not adequately protect our rights or
permit us to gain or keep any competitive advantage. In addition, our pending patent applications include claims to material aspects of our products and
procedures that are not currently protected by issued patents. The patent application process can be time consuming and expensive. We cannot ensure that
any of our pending patent applications will result in issued patents. Competitors may be able to design around our patents or develop products that provide
outcomes that are comparable or even superior to ours. Although we have taken steps to protect our intellectual property and proprietary technology,
including entering into confidentiality agreements and intellectual property assignment agreements with some of our officers, employees, consultants and
advisors, such agreements may not be enforceable or may not provide meaningful protection for our trade secrets or other proprietary information in the event
of unauthorized use or disclosure or other breaches of the agreements. Furthermore, the laws of foreign countries may not protect our intellectual property
rights to the same extent as do the laws of the United States.
The failure to obtain and maintain patents and/or protect our intellectual property rights could have a material and adverse effect on our business, results
of operations, and financial condition. Whether a patent is valid is a complex matter of science and law, and therefore we cannot be certain that, if
challenged, our patents would be upheld. If one or more of those patents are invalidated, that could reduce or eliminate any competitive advantage we might
otherwise have had.
In the event a competitor infringes upon our licensed or pending patent or other intellectual property rights, enforcing those rights may be costly,
uncertain, difficult and time consuming.
Even if successful, litigation to enforce or defend our intellectual property rights could be expensive and time consuming and could divert our
management’s attention.
The prosecution and enforcement of patents licensed to us by third parties are not within our control, and without these technologies, our product may not
be successful and our business would be harmed if the patents were infringed or misappropriated without action by such third parties.
We have obtained licenses from third parties for patents and patent application rights related to our HydroFix® and CollaFix™ technologies, allowing
us to use intellectual property rights owned by or licensed to these third parties. We do not control the maintenance, prosecution, enforcement or strategy for
many of these patents or patent application rights and as such are dependent in part on the owners of the intellectual property rights to maintain their
viability. Their failure to do so could significantly impair our ability to exploit those technologies.
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We may become subject to claims of infringement of the intellectual property rights of others, which could prohibit us from developing our products,
require us to obtain licenses from third parties or to develop non-infringing alternatives, and subject us to substantial monetary damages.
Third parties could assert that our products infringe their patents or other intellectual property rights. Whether a product infringes a patent or other
intellectual property involves complex legal and factual issues, the determination of which is often uncertain. Therefore, we cannot be certain that we have
not infringed the intellectual property rights of others. Because patent applications may take years to issue, there also may be applications now pending of
which we are unaware that may later result in issued patents that our products or processes infringe. There also may be existing patents or pending patent
applications of which we are unaware that our products or processes may inadvertently infringe.
Any infringement claim could cause us to incur significant costs, place significant strain on our financial resources, divert management’s attention from
our business and harm our reputation. If the relevant patents in such claim were upheld as valid and enforceable and we were found to infringe, we could be
prohibited from selling any product that is found to infringe unless we could obtain licenses to use the technology covered by the patent or other intellectual
property or are able to design around the patent or other intellectual property. We may be unable to obtain such a license on terms acceptable to us, if at all,
and we may not be able to redesign our products to avoid infringement. A court could also order us to pay compensatory damages for such infringement, plus
prejudgment interest and could, in addition, treble the compensatory damages and award attorney fees. These damages could be substantial and could harm
our reputation, business, financial condition and operating results. A court also could enter orders that temporarily, preliminarily or permanently enjoin us
and our customers from making, using, or selling products, and could enter an order mandating that we undertake certain remedial activities. Depending on
the nature of the relief ordered by the court, we could become liable for additional damages to third parties.
We may be subject to damages resulting from claims that we, our employees, or our independent contractors have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged
trade secrets of others.
Some of our employees were previously employed at other medical device companies. We may also hire additional employees who are currently
employed at other medical device companies, including our competitors. Additionally, consultants or other independent agents with which we may contract
may be or have been in a contractual arrangement with one or more of our competitors. Although no claims against us are currently pending, we may be
subject to claims that these employees or independent contractors have used or disclosed any party’s trade secrets or other proprietary
information. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. Even if we are successful in defending against these claims, litigation could result
in substantial costs and be a distraction to management. If we fail to defend such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable
intellectual property rights or personnel. A loss of key personnel or their work product could hamper or prevent our ability to market existing or new
products, which could severely harm our business.
Our NDGA License Agreement for our CollaFix™ technology could be terminated.
Under our license agreement with Shriners’ Hospitals for Children and University of South Florida Research Foundation dated January 29, 2007, it is
possible for the licensor to terminate the agreement if we breach the license agreement and all of our cure rights are exhausted. If our license agreement were
to be terminated, it would have a negative impact on our business.
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Risks Related to Regulatory Approval of Our Products and Other Government Regulations
Reclassification of our EpiFix® and AmnioFix® products could make the introduction of new tissue products more expensive and significantly delay the
expansion of our tissue product offerings and subject us to additional post-market regulatory requirements
Our EpiFix® and AmnioFix® products are derived from human tissue. The FDA has specific regulations governing human cells, tissues and cellular and
tissue-based products, or HCT/Ps. An HCT/P is a product containing or consisting of human cells or tissue intended for transplantation into a human
patient. HCT/Ps that meet the criteria for regulation solely under Section 361 of the Public Health Service Act (so-called “361 HCT/Ps”) are not subject to
any premarket clearance or approval requirements and are subject to less stringent post-market regulatory requirements.
To be a 361 HCT/P, a product generally must meet all four of the following criteria:
·

It must be minimally manipulated;

·

It must be intended for homologous use;

·

Its manufacture does not involve combination with another article, except for water, crystalloids or a sterilizing, preserving or storage agent; and

·

It does not have a systemic effect and is not dependent upon the metabolic activity of living cells for its primary function.

We believe that our EpiFix® and AmnioFix® products are properly classified as 361 HCT/Ps and not as medical devices, biologics or drugs. However,
there can be no assurance that the FDA would agree that this regulatory classification applies to these products and any regulatory reclassification could have
adverse consequences for us and make it more difficult or expensive for us to conduct our business by requiring premarket clearance or approval and
compliance with additional post-market regulatory requirements. Additionally, increased regulatory scrutiny within the industry in which we operate could
lead to increased regulation of HCT/Ps, including 361 HCT/Ps. We also cannot assure you that the FDA will not impose more stringent definitions with
respect to products that qualify as 361 HCT/Ps.
Obtaining and maintaining the necessary regulatory approvals for our medical device products are expensive and time-consuming and may impede our
ability to exploit our HydroFix® and CollaFix™ technologies.
The process of obtaining regulatory clearances or approvals to market a medical device from the FDA or similar regulatory authorities outside of the
United States is costly and time consuming, and there can be no assurance that such clearances or approvals will be granted on a timely basis, or at all. The
FDA’s 510(k) clearance process generally takes three months to twelve months from submission, depending on whether a Special or traditional 510(k)
premarket notification has been submitted, but can take significantly longer. An application for premarket approval, or PMA, must be submitted to the FDA
if the device cannot be cleared through the 510(k) clearance process and is not exempt from premarket review by the FDA. The PMA process almost always
requires one or more clinical trials and can take one to three years from the date of filing, or longer. In some cases, the FDA has indicated that it will require
clinical data as part of the 510(k) process.
There is no certainty that any of our contemplated additional medical device products will be cleared by the FDA by means of either a 510(k) notice or a
PMA application. Even if the FDA permits us to use the 510(k) clearance process, we cannot assure you that the FDA will not require either supporting data
from laboratory tests or studies that we have not conducted, or substantial supporting clinical data. If we are unable to use the 510(k) clearance process for
any of our products, are required to provide clinical data or laboratory data that we do not possess to support our 510(k) premarket notifications for any of
these products, or otherwise experience delays in obtaining or fail to obtain regulatory clearances, the commercialization of such product will be delayed or
prevented, which will adversely affect our ability to generate revenue. It also may result in the loss of potential competitive advantages that we might
otherwise attain by bringing our products to market earlier than our competitors. Any of these contingencies could adversely affect our business.
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Our business is subject to continuing regulatory compliance by the FDA and other authorities, which is costly and or failure to comply could result in
negative effects on our business.
As discussed above, the FDA has specific regulations governing our tissue-based products, or HCT/Ps. The FDA’s regulation of HCT/Ps includes
requirements for registration and listing of products, donor screening and testing, processing and distribution (“Current Good Tissue Practices”), labeling,
record keeping and adverse-event reporting, and inspection and enforcement.
Medical device products are subject to even more stringent regulation by the FDA. Even if pre-market clearance or approval is obtained, the approval or
clearance may place substantial restrictions on the indications for which the product may be marketed or to whom it may be marketed, may require warnings
to accompany the product or impose additional restrictions on the sale and/or use of the product. In addition, regulatory approval is subject to continuing
compliance with regulatory standards, including the FDA’s quality system regulations.
If we fail to comply with the FDA regulations regarding our tissue products or medical devices, FDA could take enforcement action, including any of the
following sanctions and the manufacture of our products or processing of our tissue could be delayed or terminated:
·

Untitled letters, warning letters, fines, injunctions, consent decrees and civil penalties;

·

Customer notifications for repair, replacement, refunds;

·

Recall, detention or seizure of our products;

·

Operating restrictions or partial suspension or total shutdown of production;

·

Refusing or delaying our requests for 510(k) clearance or premarket approval of new products or modified products;

·

Withdrawing 510(k) clearances or PMA approvals that have already been granted;

·

Refusal to grant export approval for our products; or

It is likely that the FDA’s regulation of our medical device products will continue to evolve in the future. Complying with any such new regulatory
requirements may entail significant time delays and expense, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company.
The American Association of Tissue Banks (“AATB”) has issued operating standards for tissue banking. Compliance with these standards is a
requirement in order to become a licensed tissue bank. In addition, some states have their own tissue banking regulations.
In addition, procurement of certain human organs and tissue for transplantation is subject to the restrictions of the National Organ Transplant Act
(“NOTA”), which prohibits the transfer of certain human organs, including skin and related tissue for valuable consideration, but permits the reasonable
payment associated with the removal, transportation, implantation, processing, preservation, quality control and storage of human tissue and skin. We
reimburse tissue banks, hospitals and physicians for their services associated with the recovery, storage and transportation of donated human tissue. If we
were to be found to have violated NOTA’s prohibition on the sale or transfer of human tissue for valuable consideration, we would potentially be subject to
criminal enforcement sanctions, which could materially and adversely affect our results of operations.
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We and our sales representatives, whether employees or independent contractors, must comply with various federal and state anti-kickback, self referral,
false claims and similar laws, any breach of which could cause a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Our relationships with physicians, hospitals and other healthcare providers are subject to scrutiny under various federal anti-kickback, self-referral, false
claims and similar laws, often referred to collectively as healthcare fraud and abuse laws. Healthcare fraud and abuse laws are complex, and even minor,
inadvertent violations can give rise to claims that the relevant law has been violated. Possible sanctions for violation of these fraud and abuse laws include
monetary fines, civil and criminal penalties, exclusion from federal and state healthcare programs, including Medicare, Medicaid, Veterans Administration
health programs, workers’ compensation programs and TRICARE (the healthcare system administered by or on behalf of the U.S. Department of Defense for
uniformed services beneficiaries, including active duty and their dependents, retirees and their dependents), and forfeiture of amounts collected in violation
of such prohibitions. Certain states have similar fraud and abuse laws, imposing substantial penalties for violations. Any government investigation or a
finding of a violation of these laws would likely result in a material adverse effect on the market price of our common stock, as well as our business, financial
condition and results of operations.
Anti-kickback laws and regulations prohibit any knowing and willful offer, payment, solicitation or receipt of any form of remuneration in return for the
referral of an individual or the ordering or recommending of the use of a product or service for which payment may be made by Medicare, Medicaid or other
government-sponsored healthcare programs. We have formed a Medical Advisory Board consisting of an aggregate of over 14 physicians and scientists to
assist us with scientific research and development and to help us evaluate technologies. We have also entered into consulting agreements and product
development agreements with physicians, including some who may order our products after our products are introduced to market. In addition, some of these
physicians own our stock, which they purchased in arms’ length transactions on terms identical to those offered to non-physicians, or received stock options
from us as consideration for consulting services performed by them. We also may engage additional physicians on a consulting basis and have entered into
clinical trial agreements with physicians. While these transactions were structured with the intention of complying with all applicable laws, including state
anti-referral laws and other applicable anti-kickback laws, it is possible that regulatory or enforcement agencies or courts may in the future view these
transactions as prohibited arrangements that must be restructured or for which we would be subject to other significant civil or criminal penalties. Because
our strategy relies on the involvement of physicians who consult with us on the design of our products, we could be materially impacted if regulatory or
enforcement agencies or courts interpret our financial relationships with our physician advisors who refer or order our products to be in violation of
applicable laws and determine that we would be unable to achieve compliance with such applicable laws. This could harm our reputation and the reputations
of our physician advisors. In addition, the cost of noncompliance with these laws could be substantial since we could be subject to monetary fines and civil
or criminal penalties, and we could also be excluded from federally funded healthcare programs, including Medicare and Medicaid, for non-compliance.
The scope and enforcement of all of these laws is uncertain and subject to rapid change, especially in light of the lack of applicable precedent and
regulations. There can be no assurance that federal or state regulatory or enforcement authorities will not investigate or challenge our current or future
activities under these laws. Any investigation or challenge could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations. Any state or federal regulatory or enforcement review of us, regardless of the outcome, would be costly and time consuming. Additionally, we
cannot predict the impact of any changes in these laws, whether these changes are retroactive or will have effect on a going-forward basis only.
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The implementation of the reporting and disclosure obligations of the Physician Payment Sunshine Act provisions of the Health Care Reform Law could
adversely affect our business.
The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act also includes new reporting and disclosure requirements, commonly referred to as the “Sunshine Act”, for
manufacturers of drugs, biological, medical devices and medical supplies with regard to payments or other transfers of value made to certain physicians and
teaching hospitals. Implementation had been delayed pending the issuance of applicable rules by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”).
On February 1, 2013, CMS released the final rule to implement the Sunshine Act. The final rule provides that data collection activities begin on August 1,
2013, and first disclosure reports are due by March 31, 2014 for the period August 1, 2013 through December 31, 2013.
The final rule implementing the Physician Payment Sunshine Act is complex, ambiguous, and broad in scope, and we are in the process of analyzing its
application to our businesses. It is difficult to predict how the new requirements may impact existing relationships among manufacturers, distributors,
physicians, and teaching hospitals and the costs of compliance with these new requirements if we determine that they apply to us.
We face significant uncertainty in the industry due to government healthcare reform.
There have been and continue to be proposals by the federal government, state governments, regulators and third party payers to control healthcare costs,
and generally, to reform the healthcare system in the United States. There are many programs and requirements for which the details have not yet been fully
established or the consequences are not fully understood. These proposals may affect aspects of our business. We also cannot predict what further reform
proposals, if any, will be adopted, when they will be adopted, or what impact they may have on us.
Risks Related to the Securities Markets and Ownership of Our Common Stock
The price of our common stock has been, and will likely continue to be, volatile.
The market price of our common stock, like that of the securities of many other companies that are in, or are just emerging from, the development stage,
has fluctuated over a wide range and it is likely that the price of our common stock will fluctuate in the future. Over the past two fiscal years, the closing
price of our common stock, as reported by the OTC Bulletin Board, has fluctuated from a low of $0.76 to a high of $3.85. The market price of our common
stock could be impacted by a variety of factors, including:
·

Fluctuations in stock market prices and trading volumes of similar companies or of the markets generally;

·

Our ability to successfully launch, market and earn significant revenue from our products;

·

Our ability to obtain additional financing to support our continuing operations;

·

Disclosure of the details and results of regulatory applications and proceedings;

·

Changes in government regulation;

·

Additions or departures of key personnel;

·

Our investments in research and development or other corporate resources;

·

Announcements of technological innovations or new commercial products or services by us or our competitors;

·

Developments in the patents or other proprietary rights owned or licensed by us or our competitors;

·

The timing of new product introductions;
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·

Actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operating results, including any restatements of previously reported results;

·

Our ability to effectively and consistently manufacture our products and avoid costs associated with the recall of defective or potentially defective
products;

·

Our ability and the ability of our distribution partners to market and sell our products;

·

Changes in distribution channels; and

·

The ability of our vendors to effectively and timely deliver necessary materials and product components.

Further, due to the relatively fixed nature of most of our costs, which primarily include personnel costs as well as facilities costs, any unanticipated
shortfall in revenue in any fiscal quarter would have an adverse effect on our results of operations in that quarter. Accordingly, our operating results for any
particular quarter may not be indicative of results for future periods and should not be relied upon as an indication of our future performance. These
fluctuations could cause the trading price of our stock to be negatively affected. Our quarterly operating results have varied substantially in the past and may
vary substantially in the future. In addition, the stock market has been very volatile, particularly on the OTC Bulletin Board where our stock is quoted. This
volatility is often not related to the operating performance of companies listed thereon and will probably continue in the foreseeable future.
The concentrated common stock ownership by certain of our executive officers and directors will limit your ability to influence corporate matters.
As of December 31, 2012, our directors and executive officers together beneficially owned approximately 16% of our outstanding common stock. This
group has significant influence over our management and affairs and overall matters requiring shareholder approval, including the election of directors and
significant corporate transactions, such as a merger or sale of our company or our assets, for the foreseeable future. This concentrated control will limit the
ability of other shareholders to influence corporate matters and, as a result, we may take actions that some of its shareholders do not view as beneficial. In
addition, such concentrated control could discourage others from initiating changes of control. As a result, the market price of our shares could be adversely
affected.
The exercise of warrants or options or conversion of notes may depress our stock price and may result in dilution to our common stockholders.
There are a significant number of outstanding options to purchase our stock, as well as outstanding warrants and notes that are convertible into our
common stock. If the market price of our common stock rises above the exercise price of outstanding warrants and options or the conversion price of the
outstanding notes, holders of those securities may be likely to exercise their warrants and options or convert their notes and sell the common stock acquired
upon exercise or conversion of such securities, as applicable, in the open market. Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public
market by holders of warrants, options, or notes may depress the prevailing market price for our common stock and could impair our ability to raise capital
through the future sale of our equity securities. Additionally, if the holders of outstanding options, warrants, or notes exercise those options or warrants or
convert those notes, as applicable, our common stockholders will incur dilution in their relative percentage ownership.
As of December 31, 2012, warrants to purchase 3,129,168 shares of our common stock at a weighted average exercise price of $1.04 per share were
outstanding and exercisable; options to purchase 13,614,135 shares of common stock were outstanding, at a weighted average exercise price of $1.42 per
share, which 5,236,597 were exercisable at a weighted average exercise price of $1.05 per share; the senior secured promissory notes were convertible into
5,313,527 shares of common stock at a weighted average conversion price of $1.00 per share; and the short term earnout liability was convertible into an
estimated 1,508,419 shares of common stock at a weighted average conversion price of $3.84 per share. There is also potential further dilution in the future
from the long term portion of the earnout liability and from the unvested portion of the contingent warrants.
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Our common stock is and likely will remain subject to the SEC’s “Penny Stock” rules, which may make its shares more difficult to sell.
Because the price of our common stock is currently and may remain less than $5.00 per share, it is expected to be classified as a “penny stock.” The SEC
rules regarding penny stocks may have the effect of reducing trading activity in our shares, making it more difficult for investors to sell. Under these rules,
broker-dealers who recommend such securities to persons other than institutional accredited investors must:
·

Make a special written suitability determination for the purchaser;

·

Receive the purchaser’s written agreement to a transaction prior to sale;

·

Provide the purchaser with risk disclosure documents which identify certain risks associated with investing in “penny stocks” and which describe
the market for these “penny stocks” as well as a purchaser’s legal remedies;

·

Obtain a signed and dated acknowledgment from the purchaser demonstrating that the purchaser has received the required risk disclosure document
before a transaction in a “penny stock” can be completed; and

·

Give bid and offer quotations and broker and salesperson compensation information to the customer orally or in writing before or with the
confirmation.

These rules make it more difficult for broker-dealers to effectuate customer transactions and trading activity in our securities and may result in a lower
trading volume of our common stock and lower trading prices.
Our common stock may be thinly traded.
At times the public market for our common stock has been minimal. We cannot be certain more of a public market for our common stock will continue to
develop, or if developed, that it will be sustained. Our common stock will likely be thinly traded compared to larger more widely known companies. We
cannot predict the extent to which an active public market for our common stock will develop or be sustained at any time in the future. If we are unable to
develop or sustain a market for our common stock, investors may be unable to sell the common stock they own, and may lose the entire value of their
investment.
Securities analysts may elect not to report on our common stock or may issue negative reports that adversely affect the stock price.
At this time, two securities analysts provide research coverage of our common stock. However, there is no assurance that these analysts will continue to
report on our common stock or that additional analysts will initiate reporting on our common stock. Rules mandated by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and a global
settlement reached in 2003 among the SEC, other regulatory agencies, and a number of investment banks led to a number of fundamental changes in how
analysts are reviewed and compensated. In particular, many investment banking firms are required to contract with independent financial analysts for their
stock research. It may remain difficult for a company such as ours, with a smaller market capitalization, to attract independent financial analysts that will
cover our common stock. If securities analysts discontinue covering our common stock, the lack of research coverage may adversely affect its actual and
potential market price. The trading market for our common stock may be affected in part by the research and reports that industry or financial analysts
publish about our business. If one or more analysts elect to cover us and then downgrade the stock, the stock price would likely decline rapidly. If one or
more of these analysts cease coverage of us, we could lose visibility in the market, which in turn could cause our stock price to decline. This could have a
negative effect on the market price of our shares.
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We do not intend to pay cash dividends.
We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently expect to use available funds and any future earnings in the
development, operation and expansion of our business and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. In addition, the terms of
any future debt or credit facility we may obtain may preclude us from paying any dividends. As a result, capital appreciation, if any, of our common stock
will be an investor’s only source of potential gain from our common stock for the foreseeable future.
Shareholders may experience significant dilution if future equity offerings are used to fund operations or acquire complementary businesses.
If future operations or acquisitions are financed through the issuance of equity securities, shareholders could experience significant dilution. In addition,
securities issued in connection with future financing activities or potential acquisitions may have rights and preferences senior to the rights and preferences
of our common stock.
We may become involved in securities class action litigation that could divert management’s attention and harm its business.
The stock market in general and the stocks of medical device companies in particular have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations. These
fluctuations have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of the companies involved. If these fluctuations occur in the future,
the market price of our shares could fall regardless of its operating performance. In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a particular
company’s securities, securities class action litigation has been brought against that company. If the market price or volume of our shares suffers extreme
fluctuations, then we may become involved in this type of litigation which would be expensive and divert management’s attention and resources from
managing the business.
Anti-takeover provisions in our organizational documents may discourage or prevent a change of control, even if an acquisition would be beneficial to
shareholders, which could affect our share price adversely and prevent attempts by shareholders to replace or remove current management
Our Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws contain provisions that could delay or prevent a change of control of our company or its Board of Directors that
shareholders might consider favorable. Some of these provisions include:
·

Authorizing the issuance of preferred stock which can be created and issued by the Board of Directors without prior common stock shareholder
approval, with rights senior to those of the common stock;

·

Restricting persons who may call shareholder meetings;

·

Electing directors on a staggered basis; and

●

Allowing the Board to fill vacancies and to fix the number of directors.
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Item 1B.Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties
Our corporate headquarters are located in Kennesaw, Georgia where we lease approximately 20,300 square feet of office, laboratory and manufacturing
space. We lease approximately 21,200 square feet nearby, which primarily consists of laboratory, manufacturing and warehouse space. On January 31, 2013,
the Company signed a lease agreement under which the Company will lease approximately 79,854 square feet of office, laboratory, and warehouse space
which will become the Company’s new corporate headquarters. The Company expects to occupy the new facility and vacate its current headquarters
building in May 2013.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings
None outside the ordinary course of business.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
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PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Our common stock was approved for quotation on the OTC Bulletin Board on July 19, 2007. Only a limited number of shares were traded after the
approval of the quotation in July 2007. The common stock was traded with the trading symbol of “AYXC.”
Our common stock began trading under the symbol “MDXG” on April 2, 2008. The following table sets forth the high and low bid prices on the OTC
Bulletin Board for our common stock, based on information provided from OTC Bulletin Board. These quotations reflect inter-dealer prices, without retail
mark-up, mark-down, or commission and may not necessarily represent actual transactions.
Year ended December 31, 2012
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

High
$

Year ended December 31, 2011
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

Low
1.40
2.20
2.99
3.85

$

1.42
1.15
1.39
1.25

$

High
$

1.10
1.03
1.97
2.59
Low
1.04
0.76
1.00
1.00

Based upon information supplied from our transfer agent, there were approximately 805 shareholders of record of our common stock as of February 15,
2013.
We have not paid any cash dividends on our common stock since our formation and do not intend to do so in the future.
To facilitate trading in the Company’s shares, the Board is considering applying for a listing on a national exchange. If the Board does determine to
pursue listing on a national exchange, the Company may consider implementing a reverse split of its common stock.
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
In the fourth quarter os 2012, the Company issued 532,260 unregistered shares of common stock in connection with the conversion by Mr. Petit, our
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, of his Convertible Senior Secured Promissory Note.
Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers
We did not repurchase any shares of our common stock in 2012.
Item 6. Selected Financial Data
Not applicable.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
You should read the following discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations, together with the financial statements and the
related notes appearing at the end of this report. Some of the information contained in this discussion and analysis or set forth elsewhere in this report,
including information with respect to our plans and related financing, includes forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. You should
read the “Risk Factors” section of this report for a discussion of important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results described
in or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion and analysis.
The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on the Company’s financial statements, which have been
prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The preparation of these financial statements requires making estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements, as well as the reported revenue, and expenses during the reporting periods. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate such estimates and judgments,
including those described in greater detail below. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
Overview
MiMedx Group, Inc. and subsidiaries (“MiMedx” or the “Company”) is an integrated developer, manufacturer and marketer of patent protected
regenerative biomaterial products and allografts processed from human amniotic membrane. “Innovations in Regenerative Biomaterials" is the framework
behind our mission to give physicians products and tissues to help the body heal itself. Our biomaterial platform technologies include the device
technologies HydroFix® and CollaFix TM, and our tissue technologies, AmnioFix® and EpiFix®. Our tissue technologies, processed from the human
amniotic membrane, utilize our proprietary Purion® process that was developed by our wholly-owned subsidiary, Surgical Biologics LLC, to produce a safe,
effective and minimally manipulated implant. Surgical Biologics is the leading supplier of amniotic tissue, having supplied over 120,000 implants to date to
distributors and OEMs for application in the Surgical, Ophthalmic, Orthopedics, Spine, Wound Care and Dental sectors of healthcare.
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Our focus is on soft tissue repair. Our largest addressable market is in wound care consisting of diabetic, venous & pressure ulcers. The Orthopedic,
General Surgery, Urology & OBIGYN soft tissue repair market represent significant growth opportunities.
Our distribution model is currently comprised of direct sales, an evolving network of third party sales agents and stocking distributors managed by
regional sales managers marketing MiMedx branded products. We have several OEM relationships targeting several niche markets. We also market our
products internationally through stocking distributors.
We have organized an advisory panel of leading physicians to provide insight into our primary fields of interest for new products and technology, as
well as guidance and advice with respect to ongoing product development programs.
Our core focus is on our EpiFix® and AmnioFix® platforms. We are continuing to evaluate our HydroFix® and CollaFix TM products to determine how
to exploit this technology.
With the acquisition of Surgical Biologics we have added technologies that do not require a 510(K) or PMA clearance as both the EpiFix® and
AmnioFix® platforms are regulated by Section 361 of the Public Health Services Act due to the fact that the products are not more than minimally
manipulated and are for homologous use only. Our near-term focus for these products is on working with the private payers and Medicare to assure adequate
and timely reimbursement. On January 1, 2012, our CMS C-Code went into effect which allows for Medicare reimbursement in Ambulatory Surgery Centers
and Hospital Outpatient Centers for EpiFix®. Additionally, we added the permanent position of Chief Medical Officer to lead the efforts related to
reimbursement. We filled the position with a doctor who served for many years as Medical Director for a major private payer and has extensive experience
working with Medicare. This individual is also responsible for managing our clinical trials.
Critical Accounting Policies
We believe that of our significant accounting policies, which are described in Note 2 to our financial statements appearing elsewhere in this report, the
following accounting policies involve a greater degree of judgment and complexity. Accordingly, these are the policies we believe are the most critical to
aid in fully understanding and evaluating our consolidated financial condition and results of operations.
Goodwill and Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired. No goodwill impairment has been recognized during 2012 or
2011.
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The Company reviews its long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not
be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to future undiscounted cash
flows expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by
which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. Because our test indicated that the carrying value of the intangible assets related
to HydroFix® exceeded its fair value, an impairment loss of approximately $1,798,000 was recognized and the intangible asset carrying amount was adjusted
to its new basis. The Impairment was reported as a separate line item in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and included Loss From Operations.
Judgment and complexity related to goodwill and impairment of long-lived assets involve consideration of:
· Significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results,
· Significant negative industry or economic trends,
· Significant decline in the Company’s stock price for a sustained period, or
· Significant decline in the Company’s market capitalization relative to net book value.
Fair Value Measurements
The Company records certain financial instruments at fair value, including: cash equivalents and contingent consideration. The Company may make an
irrevocable election to measure other financial instruments at fair value on an instrument-by-instrument basis; although as of December 31, 2012 the
Company has not chosen to make any such elections. Fair value financial instruments are recorded in accordance with the fair value measurement framework.
The Company also measures certain non-financial assets at fair value on a non-recurring basis. These non-recurring valuations include evaluating assets such
as long-lived assets, and non-amortizing intangible assets for impairment; allocating value to assets in an acquired asset group; and applying accounting for
business combinations. The Company uses the fair value measurement framework to value these assets and reports these fair values in the periods in which
they are recorded or written down.
The fair value measurement framework includes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes observable and unobservable inputs used to measure fair values in their
broad levels. These levels from highest to lowest priority are as follows:
· Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical assets or liabilities;
· Level 2: Quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities or observable prices that are based on inputs not quoted on active markets,
but corroborated by market data; and
· Level 3: Unobservable inputs or valuation techniques that are used when little or no market data is available.
The determination of fair value and the assessment of a measurement’s placement within the hierarchy requires judgment. Level 3 valuations often involve a
higher degree of judgment and complexity. Level 3 valuations may require the use of various cost, market, or income valuation methodologies applied to
unobservable management estimates and assumptions. Management’s assumptions could vary depending on the asset or liability valued and the valuation
method used. Such assumptions could include: estimates of prices, earnings, costs, actions of market participants, market factors, or the weighting of various
valuation methods. The Company may also engage external advisors to assist it in determining fair value, as appropriate.
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Although the Company believes that the recorded fair value of its financial instruments is appropriate, these fair values may not be indicative of net
realizable value or reflective of future fair values.
Share-based Compensation
We follow the provisions of FASB Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 718, “Compensation — Stock Compensation” (ASC 718), previously referred
to as Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R — Share-based Payments which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation
expense for all share-based payment awards either modified or granted to employees and directors based upon estimated fair values. The Black-ScholesMerton option-pricing model, consistent with the provisions of ASC 718, was used to determine the fair value of each option granted. Option valuation
models require the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the expected stock price volatility. The Company uses projected volatility rates, which
are based upon historical volatility rates, trended into future years. Because the Company’s employee stock options have characteristics significantly
different from those of traded options, and because changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, in management’s
opinion, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of the Company’s options.
Debt Instruments with Detachable Warrants and Beneficial Conversion Features
According to ASC470 “Debt” Instruments with Detachable Warrants, proceeds from the sale of convertible debt instruments with stock purchase warrants
(detachable call options) shall be allocated to the two elements based upon the relative fair values of the debt instrument without the warrants and of the
warrants themselves at the time of issuance. The Black-Scholes-Merton pricing model, consistent with the provisions of ASC 470, was used to determine the
fair value of each warrant granted. The portion of the proceeds so allocated to the warrants is accounted for as paid-in capital. The remainder of the proceeds
is allocated to the debt instrument portion of the transaction. Also, the embedded beneficial conversion feature present in the convertible instrument is
recognized separately at issuance by allocating a portion of the proceeds equal to the intrinsic value of that feature to additional paid-in capital.
Contingent Consideration
The Agreement and Plan of Merger between the Company and the former owners of Surgical Biologics (“the Merger”) dated January 5, 2011 involved the
potential for the payment of future contingent consideration in MiMedx common stock. The contingent consideration was originally recorded at the
estimated fair value of the contingent milestone payment on the acquisition date. Payment of the additional consideration was contingent on the acquired
company reaching sixty percent (60%) of the excess of the amniotic tissue based gross revenues in calendar year 2011 over gross revenues in calendar year
2010 minus any FDA approval costs. The payment was made as the aggregate number of shares of MiMedx common stock per a specified formula in the
Agreement and Plan of Merger. At December 31, 2011 the fair value of the contingent consideration tied to 2011 revenue was calculated to be approximately
$3,185,000 and resulted in the issuance of approximately 2,632,576 shares of MiMedx common stock in April 2012. In addition the Company shall deliver
to the former owners of Surgical Biologics an aggregate number of shares of the Company equal to thirty percent (30%) of the Gross Revenues in calendar
year 2012 over the Gross Revenues in calendar year 2011 minus any FDA approval costs. The fair value of the contingent milestone consideration was
remeasured at the estimated fair value as of December 31, 2012 with the change in fair value recognized as income or expense within Other Income (Expense)
in the consolidated statements of earnings. At December 31, 2012, the fair value of the contingent consideration tied to 2012 revenue was calculated to be
approximately $5,792,000 and the liability adjusted and recorded as a non-current liability in the consolidated balance sheet and is due to be paid in
MiMedx common stock not more than 30 days following the filing of our Form 10-K.
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Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
In January 2012 the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2011-04, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Amendments to Achieve
Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRSs, which clarifies some existing concepts and expands the disclosures
for fair value measurements that are estimated using significant unobservable (Level 3) inputs. The adoption of ASU 2011-04 did not have a material effect
on the Company’s financial condition, profitability, and/or cash flows.
In January 2012 the Company adopted ASU 2011-05, Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Presentation of Comprehensive Income. The amendments to
the Codification in this ASU will require companies to present the components of net income and other comprehensive income either as one continuous
statement or as two consecutive statements. It eliminates the option to present components of other comprehensive income as part of the statement of
changes in stockholders’ equity. The standard does not change the items which must be reported in other comprehensive income, how such items are
measured or when they must be reclassified to net income. This standard is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15,
2011. Because this ASU impacts presentation only, it had no effect on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
In January 2012 the Company adopted ASU 2011-08, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Testing Goodwill for Impairment, which gives
entities testing goodwill for impairment the option of performing a qualitative assessment before calculating the fair value of a reporting unit in step 1 of the
goodwill impairment test. The adoption of ASU 2011-08 did not have a material effect on the Company’s financial condition, profitability, and cash flows.
In July 2012, the FASB issued ASU No. 2012-02, which amends the guidance in ASC 350-30 on testing indefinite-lived intangible assets, other than
goodwill, for impairment. Under the revised guidance, companies testing an indefinite-lived intangible asset for impairment have the option of performing a
qualitative assessment before calculating the fair value of the asset (i.e. step 1 of the impairment test). If companies determine, on the basis of qualitative
factors, that the fair value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset is more likely than not less than the carrying amount, the two-step impairment test would be
required. This update is effective for annual and interim impairment tests performed for fiscal years beginning after September 15, 2012, with early adoption
permitted. The Company adopted the revised guidance, and it did not have a material impact on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Results of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2012, compared to the year ended December 31, 2011
Revenue
Total revenue increased from approximately $7,760,000 in 2011 to $27,054,000 in 2012. The increase in revenue as compared to the prior year is due
primarily to increased sales of our amniotic membrane tissue products, EpiFix® and AmnioFix®. The Company experienced an approximate increase of
$8,508,000 or 189% in demand in the Surgical and Sports Medicine market which is predominantly sold through independent sales agents and
distributors. This growth over the prior year was driven by the launch of AmnioFix® injectable as well as additional surgical applications such as
prostatectomy surgery where the anti-scarring properties of the tissue were deemed to be beneficial. The growth in Wound Care market revenue of
approximately $10,239,000 or 870% as compared to the prior year was driven by the addition of a direct sales force starting in the third quarter and
continuing into the fourth quarter focusing on Government accounts. The sales executives hired have extensive experience in the wound care sector and
maintain direct relationships with the physicians. Sales to government accounts are sold through a distributor who handles all of the contracting matters
including invoicing and collection. This distributor is also a service disabled veteran owned small business. The Other markets category which includes our
Ophthalmic and Dental tissue based products which are sold on an OEM basis as well as our HydroFix® medical device product sold through distributors
increased approximately $546,000 or26% as compared to prior year.
Tissue Processing Costs and Cost of Products Sold
Cost of products sold as a percentage of revenue improved to 19.2% from 43.3% as compared to prior year. The improvement was due primarily to the
increase in direct sales revenue, improved product mix and higher production rates that absorb a greater percentage of fixed manufacturing costs. During the
year the Company increased its clean room capacity from one line to three lines, added 32 tissue processors to fully staff the new production lines and tripled
the number of tissue recovery technicians. The expansion of production capacity was driven by increased demand for processed tissue. The new hires were
given extensive training resulting in increasing daily processing rates over the course of the year. Personnel costs represent approximately $3,087,000 or
42.2% of total manufacturing, quality assurance and recovery spending for the year ended December 31, 2012.
Beginning in 2012, the Company decided to allocate both depreciation expense and share-based compensation to each functional area. These expenses were
reclassified in the prior year to maintain comparability. The amount of depreciation expense in cost of products sold was approximately $156,000 and
$105,000, and the amount of share-based compensation in cost of products sold was $98,000 for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
Research and Development Expenses
Our research and development expenses (“R&D expenses”) decreased approximately $92,000 or 3.1% to $2,885,000 during the year ended December 31,
2012, compared to approximately $2,976,000 in the prior year. The decrease is primarily related to the closure of our Tampa research facility in mid-2011,
along with decreased spending on animal studies for our CollaFix™ and HydroFix® products. Approximately $783,000, or 27.1%, of R&D expenses for the
year ended December 31, 2012 were attributable to personnel costs, compared to approximately $1,186,000 or 39.8% for the year ended December 31,
2011. Clinical study costs were approximately $667,000 and $761,000 for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. This decrease of
approximately $94,000 is a result of lower costs in animal studies related to our CollaFix™ and HydroFix® products. It is expected that expenses related to
clinical studies will increase in subsequent quarters driven by new market opportunities and our reimbursement efforts. Spending on legal costs related to
patent filings tripled to $611,000 for the year ended December 31, 2012 from $204,000 for the same period in 2011. The increase was driven by the
Company’s focus on building a strong patent portfolio related to our EpiFix® and AmnioFix® platforms. Additionally, as described above in Cost of
Products Sold, beginning in 2012, we decided to allocate both depreciation expense and share-based compensation expense to the appropriate functional
areas, and have reclassified prior year amounts to maintain comparability. During the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, we recorded approximately
$120,000 and $119,000 for depreciation expense, respectively, and approximately $289,000 and $255,000 for share-based compensation expense,
respectively, to research and development.
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Our research and development expenses consist primarily of internal personnel costs, fees paid to external consultants, and supplies and instruments used in
our laboratories. During the current year, the Company filed 3 international patent applications for the amniotic tissue technology and 1 international patent
application for the collagen technology. The Company also filed 11 US patent applications, including 6 non-provisional applications for the amnion
technology, 4 provisional applications for the amnion technology and 1 non-provisional application for the collagen technology. Additionally, during the
current year the Company was granted 1 US patent for the amnion technology, 3 US patents for the hydrogel technology, 1 US patent for the collagen
technology, and 2 European patents for the collagen technology. We expect overall R&D spending to increase as we continue to invest in our patent
portfolio as well as scientific and clinical studies related to our amnion technology.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, General and Administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2012, increased approximately $9,789,000 or 87.5% to $20,971,000
compared to $11,181,000 for the year ended December 31, 2011. The increase was driven by costs associated with building our direct sales organization for
government accounts and commercial accounts for wound care, building a customer service and sales training organization as well as increased commissions
due to higher sales volume paid to both company personnel as well as third party representatives and distributors. Total headcount increased by 57 full and
part time associates from 23 at the beginning of the year to 80 as of December 31, 2012. Also contributing to the increase was higher spending on support
costs related to medical reimbursement including our reimbursement hotline, our information technology infrastructure to help manage the growth of the
business, increased marketing costs including trade shows, increased share based compensation expense and a provision for anticipated costs associated with
its management incentive program.
Selling, General and Administrative expenses consist of personnel costs, professional fees, sales commissions, sales training costs, industry trade show fees
and expenses, product promotions and product literature costs, facilities costs and other sales, marketing and administrative costs, depreciation and
amortization, and share-based compensation. Personnel costs excluding sales commissions and bonuses represent approximately $6,288,000 or 30.0% of
total Selling, General and Administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2012, compared to approximately $3,144,000 or 28.1% in the year ended
December 31, 2011. Sales commissions to both MiMedx personnel as well as third party representatives and distributors totaled $3,884,000 or 18.5% of total
Selling, General and Administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2012, compared to $547,000 or 4.9% in the prior year. The increase was
driven by higher sales volume and the move to a direct sales model for wound care.
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Historically, the Company has reported depreciation and share-based compensation expense as part of Selling, General and Administrative expense. The
Company decided to report these expenses in each functional area in order to more accurately present all of the costs attributable to each functional area.
During the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, we recorded a total of approximately $465,000 and $447,000 in depreciation expense allocated to
each functional area per the table below. The overall $19,000 increase in depreciation was attributable to the purchase of additional production and office
equipment and leasehold build-out to support our revenue growth and additional staff. We depreciate our assets on a straight-line basis, principally over five
to seven years.
The following table shows the allocation of depreciation for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, to operating departments:
Depreciation expense included in:
Cost of products sold
Research and development
Selling, general and administrative

$

$

Year Ended December 31,
2012
2011
155,987 $
104,950
120,260
118,565
189,120
222,987
465,367 $
446,502

Share-based compensation for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, was approximately $2,539,000 and $1,659,000, respectively, an increase of
approximately $880,000 or 53.0%. Increased employee stock option grants reflecting management’s philosophy of aligning employee compensation with
investor objectives and the increase in the market price of MiMedx common stock was the primary reason for the increase in expense. The following table
shows the allocation of share-based compensation for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, to operating departments:
Share-based compensation included in:
Cost of products sold
Research and development
Selling, general and administrative

$

$

Year Ended December 31,
2012
2011
97,970 $
98,366
289,341
254,997
2,151,410
1,305,720
2,538,721 $
1,659,083

We recorded approximately $1,380,000 and $1,336,000 in amortization expense related to intangible assets in the years ending December 31, 2012 and
2011, respectively. The increase of approximately $45,000 is the result of additional amortization recognized in the current year related to our development
costs of our AmnioFix® injectable product that we began selling in early 2012. We amortize our intangible assets over a period of three to fourteen years,
which we believe represents the remaining useful lives of the patents underlying the licensing rights and intellectual property. We do not amortize goodwill
but we test at least annually our goodwill for impairment and periodically evaluate other intangibles for impairment based on events or changes in
circumstances as they occur.
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Net Interest Expense
We recorded financing and net interest expense of approximately $2,307,000 during the year ended December 31, 2012, compared with approximately
$433,000 of financing and net interest expense during the year ended December 31, 2011. The increase of approximately $1,874,000 is primarily due to
interest related to our Convertible Senior Secured Promissory Notes, which were issued during the last quarter of 2011. The following table summarizes the
interest charges for the yearsended December 31, 2012 and 2011.
Year Ended December 31,
Amortization of
Debt Discount
Convertible Line of Credit
with Related Party
$
Convertible Debt related
to acquisition
Convertible Senior
SecuredPromissory
Notes
Deferred financing related
to Senior Secured
Promissory Notes
Other
$

2012
Accrued
Interest Expense,
Interest
net

Total

Amortization of
Debt Discount

Accrued
Interest

60,904 $

— $

622,106 $

170,509

21,078

—

191,587

266,991

49,315

—

316,306

961,941

500,000

—

1,461,941

14,907

7,732

—

22,639

—
—
99,773

—
18,045
18,045

—
18,045
$ 432,970

—
20,449
10,910
10,910
10,910 $ 2,306,993 $

42,726

—
—
315,152 $

$

—

Total

561,202 $

20,449
—
—
—
1,714,101 $ 581,982 $

33,254 $

2011
Interest Expense,
net

$

$

75,980

Contractual Commitments
The table below sets forth our known contractual obligations as of December 31, 2012:

Contractual Obligations
Convertible senior secured promissory notes (a) $
Capital lease obligation
Operating lease obligations
Royalty payments
$

TOTAL
5,313,645
87,041
482,886
600,000
6,483,572

less than
1 year
$
5,313,645
22,510
350,696
50,000
$
5,736,851

1-3 years

$

60,135
132,190
150,000
342,325

More
than
5 years

3-5 years

$

—
4,395
—
150,000
154,395

$

—
—
—
250,000
250,000

(a) In January and February of 2013 all note holders elected to convert their notes including the Company’s Chairman and CEO, resulting in the
issuance of 5,271,963 shares of common stock which represents the face value of their respective notes plus accrued but unpaid interest. The
Company’s Chairman and CEO received 532,260 shares of common stock upon conversion of his note.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have no off-balance sheet arrangements.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Revenue continues to increase quarter over quarter while management maintains tight controls over spending. As of December 31, 2012, the Company had
approximately $6,754,000 of cash and cash equivalents. The Company reported total current assets of approximately $18,089,000 at December 31, 2012 and
total current liabilities of approximately $5,071,000 at December 31, 2012. The resulting current ratio for the period improved to 3.6 as compared to 3.0 as
of December 31, 2011 when current liabilities are adjusted for approximately $2,425,000 of the current portion of long term debt convertible into MiMedx
common stock. Management believes that its anticipated cash from operating and financing activities and existing cash and cash equivalents will enable the
Company to meet its operational liquidity needs and fund its planned investing activities for the next year. For our long-term capital requirements, the
company may seek additional debt and/or equity financing.
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Discussion of Cash Flows
Net cash used in operations during the year ended December 31, 2012, decreased approximately $3,280,000 to $3,385,000 compared to $6,665,000 used in
operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2011, primarily attributable to our increased sales activity and improved gross margins.
Net cash used in investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2012, decreased approximately $120,000 to $583,000 compared to $703,000 used
in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2011. 2012 activity included higher equipment purchases of approximately $97,000, while 2011
activity included approximately $466,000 related to the Surgical Biologics acquisition offset by a grant from the state of Georgia of $250,000.
Net cash flows from financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2012 decreased approximately $3,529,000 to $6,610,000 as compared to
$10,139,000 during the year ended December 31, 2011. Cash flows from financing activities during the current year include approximately $6,001,000
received from the exercise of warrants, $1,052,000 received from the exercise of stock options, $427,000 in payments related to the acquisition of Surgical
Biologics, and $16,000 in payments on an equipment lease.
Due to the material amount of non-cash related items included in the Company results of operations, the Company has developed an Adjusted EBITDA
metric which provides management with a clearer view of operational use of cash (see the table below). The Adjusted EBITDA for 2012 was approximately
$2,394,000 which is an improvement of approximately $8,708,000 as compared to the prior year. This improvement was the result of increased revenue and
improved gross margins.
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We use various numerical measures in investor conference calls, investor meetings and other forums which are or may be considered “Non-GAAP financial
measures” under Regulation G. We have provided below for your reference, supplemental financial disclosure for these measures, including the most directly
comparable GAAP measure and an associated reconciliation. The following table provides reconciliation of reported Net Loss on a GAAP basis to Adjusted
EBITDA defined as Earnings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation, Amortization and Share-Based Compensation:

Net Loss (Per GAAP)

$

Add back:
Financing expense associated with beneficial conversion of note payable issued in conjunction with
acquisition

Year Ended December 31,
2012
2011
(7,662,376) $ (10,193,986)

170,509

266,991

Financing expense associated with beneficial conversion of Line of Credit with Related Party

561,202

33,254

Financing expense associated with beneficial conversion of Senior Secured Promissory Notes

982,390

14,907

Other interest expense, net

592,891

117,818

Depreciation Expense

465,367

446,502

Amortization Expense

1,380,241

1,335,908

Employee Share Based Compensation

2,075,680

1,307,869

463,041

351,214

Impairment of Intangible Assets

1,798,495

-

Fair Value Adjustment of Earn-out Liability

1,567,050

5,803

Other Share Based Compensation

Income (Loss) Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation, Amortization and Share Based Compensation

$

2,394,490

$

(6,313,720)

Inflation
We do not believe that the rate of inflation has had a material effect on our operating results. However, inflation could adversely affect our future
operating results.
Item 7A.Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Not applicable.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and
Stockholders of MiMedx Group, Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of MiMedx Group, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the related
consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States of America). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of MiMedx Group, Inc.
and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States of America), MiMedx Group,
Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated March 15, 2013 expressed an unqualified opinion.
/s/ Cherry Bekaert LLP
Atlanta, Georgia
March 15, 2013
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and
Stockholders of MiMedx Group, Inc.
We have audited MiMedx Group, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012, based on criteria established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). MiMedx Group, Inc.’s management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States of America). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in
all material respects. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed
risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, MiMedx Group, Inc maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012, based on
criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO).
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States of America), the consolidated
balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows of MiMedx Group, Inc., and
our report dated March 15, 2013 expressed an unqualified opinion.
/s/ Cherry Bekaert LLP
Atlanta, Georgia
March 15, 2013
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MIMEDX GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
ASSETS
December 31,
2012
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Inventory, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

$

Total current assets
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $2,279,840 and $1,814,473, respectively
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $4,848,756 and $3,468,515, respectively
Deposits and other long term assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Other current liabilities
Current portion of line of credit with related party
Current portion of long term convertible debt related to acquisition
Total current liabilities

6,754,485
7,653,561
3,022,784
657,961

$

2011
4,112,326
1,891,919
712,602
164,664

18,088,791

6,881,511

1,071,625
4,040,443
11,911,749
70,000

869,411
4,040,443
15,090,485
214,342

$

35,182,608

$

27,096,192

$

1,251,684
3,743,934
75,154
5,070,772

$

1,517,449
783,189
6,620
1,295,980
1,128,806
4,732,044

Earn-out liability payable in MiMedx common stock
Convertible Senior Secured Promissory Notes
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

5,792,330
4,012,442
299,762
15,175,306

7,410,503
2,744,587
312,493
15,199,627

-

-

Commitments and contingency (Notes 14 and 15)
Stockholders' equity:
Preferred stock; $.001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized and 0 shares issued and outstanding
Common stock; $.001 par value; 130,000,000 shares authorized; 88,423,169 issued and 88,373,169 outstanding for
2012 and 74,306,895 issued and 74,256,895 outstanding for 2011
Additional paid-in capital
Treasury stock (50,000 shares at cost)
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders' equity
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

$
See notes to consolidated financial statements
51

88,423
89,627,601
(25,000)
(69,683,722)

74,307
73,868,604
(25,000)
(62,021,346)

20,007,302

11,896,565

35,182,608

$

27,096,192
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MIMEDX GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Years Ended December 31,
2012
2011
REVENUES:
Net sales

$

27,053,773

$

7,760,446

OPERATING COSTS AND EXPENSES:
Cost of products sold
Research and development expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Impairment of intangible assets
Fair value adjustment of earn-out liability
LOSS FROM OPERATIONS

5,188,378
2,884,546
20,970,687
1,798,495
1,567,050
(5,355,383)

3,357,909
2,976,313
11,181,437
5,803
(9,761,016)

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE), net
Amortization of debt discount
Interest expense, net

(1,714,101)
(592,892)

(315,152)
(117,818)

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAXES
Income taxes

(7,662,376)
-

(10,193,986)
-

NET LOSS

$

Net loss per common share
Basic and diluted

$

Shares used in computing net loss per common share
Basic and diluted

(7,662,376) $ (10,193,986)

(0.09) $

81,646,295
See notes to consolidated financial statements
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MIMEDX GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND 2011
Preferred
Stock
Series A
Shares

Common
Stock
Shares

Amount

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Amount

Treasury
Stock

Accumulated
Deficit

Total

Balances, December 31, 2010

- $

-

64,381,910 $ 64,382 $ 57,888,506 $ (25,000) $ (51,827,360) $ 6,100,528

Employee share-based compensation
expense

-

-

-

-

1,307,869

-

-

1,307,869

Other share-based compensation expense

-

-

-

-

351,214

-

-

351,214

Exercise of stock options

-

-

490,000

490

295,263

-

-

295,753

Sale of common stock and warrants (net
of $47,733 of offering costs)

-

-

3,778,321

3,779

3,726,808

-

-

3,730,587

Shares issued in conjunction with
conversion of convertible debt

-

-

406,664

406

406,257

-

-

406,663

Shares issued in conjunction with
acquisition of Surgical Biologics, LLC

-

-

5,250,000

5,250

7,082,250

-

-

7,087,500

Beneficial conversion feature recognized
on convertible debt

-

-

-

-

2,715,552

-

-

2,715,552

Warrants issued in conjunction with
convertible promissory notes

-

-

-

-

14,885

-

-

14,885

Discount on beneficial conversion
feature recognized on line of credit
with related party

-

-

-

-

80,000

-

-

80,000

Net loss

-

-

-

-

-

-

Balances, December 31, 2011

- $

-

(10,193,986)

(10,193,986)

74,306,895 $ 74,307 $ 73,868,604 $ (25,000) $ (62,021,346) $ 11,896,565

Continued on next page
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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MIMEDX GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND 2011

Balances, December 31, 2011

Convertible
Preferred
Stock Series
A
Shares
Amount
- $
-

Common
Additional
Stock
Paid-in
Treasury
Accumulated
Shares
Amount
Capital
Stock
Deficit
Total
74,306,895 $ 74,307 $ 73,868,604 $ (25,000) $ (62,021,346) $ 11,896,565

Employee share-based
compensation expense

-

-

-

-

2,075,680

-

-

2,075,680

Other share-based compensation expense

-

-

-

-

463,041

-

-

463,041

Exercise of stock options

-

-

843,863

844

1,051,824

-

-

1,052,668

Exercise of warrants

-

-

7,959,767

7,960

5,993,103

-

-

6,001,063

Repurchase warrants

-

-

-

-

(568)

-

-

Cashless exercise of warrants

-

-

216,085

216

(216)

-

-

-

Common stock issued for accrued
director fees

-

-

167,086

167

184,486

-

-

184,653

Common stock issued for earn-out
liability

-

-

2,632,576

2,632

3,182,591

-

-

3,185,223

Discount on beneficial conversion feature

-

-

-

-

514,456

-

-

514,456

Common stock issued for acquisition
note

-

-

893,267

893

892,374

-

-

893,267

1,403,630

1,404

1,402,226

-

-

-

Conversion of line of credit with related
party
Net loss

-

-

Balances, December 31, 2012

- $

-

(568)

1,403,630
-

(7,662,376)

(7,662,376)

88,423,169 $ 88,423 $ 89,627,601 $ (25,000) $ (69,683,722) $ 20,007,302

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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MIMEDX GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years Ended December 31,
2012
2011
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash flows from operating activities:
Depreciation
Amortization of intangible assets
Impairment of intangible assets
Amortization of debt discount and deferred financing costs
Employee share-based compensation expense
Other share-based compensation expense
Change in fair value of earn-out liability
Increase (decrease) in cash resulting from changes in (net of effects of acquisition):
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Accrued interest
Other liabilities
Net cash flows from operating activities

$

(7,662,376) $ (10,193,986)
465,367
1,380,241
1,798,495
1,714,101
2,075,680
463,041
1,567,050

446,502
1,335,908
315,152
1,307,869
351,214
5,803

(5,761,642)
(2,310,182)
(466,060)
96,657
(81,112)
2,960,744
387,896
(12,731)
(3,384,831)

(1,208,456)
(253,942)
(70,980)
(80,375)
929,039
327,212
107,886
16,383
(6,664,771)

(582,931)
(582,931)

(486,091)
250,000
(466,417)
(702,508)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of warrants
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Repayment of convertible debt related to acquisition
Repayment of equipment lease
Repurchase of warrants
Proceeds from Senior Secured Promissory Notes
Proceeds from Line of Credit with related party
Repayment of Line of Credit
Repayment of Note Payable
Proceeds from sale of common stock and warrants and common stock with registration rights, net
Net cash flows from financing activities

6,001,063
1,052,668
(427,126)
(16,116)
(568)
6,609,921

295,753
5,000,000
1,300,000
(99,000)
(88,657)
3,730,587
10,138,683

Net change in cash

2,642,159

2,771,404

Cash, beginning of period

4,112,326

1,340,922

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of equipment
Proceeds from grant
Cash paid for acquisition, net of cash acquired of $33,583
Net cash flows from investing activities

Cash, end of period

$
continued on next page
See notes to consolidated financial statements
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MIMEDX GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years Ended December 31,
2012
2011
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes

$
$

13,322
-

$
$

15,456
-

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash financing activity:
During the year ended December 31, 2012:
* the Company issued 167,086 shares of stock valued at $184,653 for accrued Director's fees
*

the Company issued 216,085 shares of stock for cashless exercise of warrants

*

the Company recognized a beneficial conversion feature valued at $514,456 related to the vested contingent warrants on the line of credit with
related party
the Company issued 2,632,576 shares of stock valued at $3,185,223 for payment of the 2011 Earn-out liability related to its acquisition of Surgical
Biologics

*
*

the Company acquired equipment under a capital lease in the amount of $84,650

*

the Company issued 893,267 shares of stock valued at $893,267 for payment of the Convertible Secured Promissory Notes related to the acquisition
of Surgical Biologics
The Company issued 1,403,630 shares of stock valued at $1,403,630 for payment of the Line of Credit with related party

*

During the year ended December 31, 2011:
* the Company converted its outstanding convertible debt and accrued interest to equity by issuing 406,664 shares of common stock
*

the Company issued 5,250,000 shares of stock valued at $7,087,500 and issued convertible secured promissory notes for $1,250,000 in conjunction
with its acquisition of Surgical Biologics

*

the Company recognized a beneficial conversion feature valued at $437,500 related to the convertible debt issued with regard to its acquisition of
Surgical Biologics, LLC

*

the Company recognized a beneficial conversion feature valued at $80,000 related to the convertible debt issued with regard the Note Payable to
related party

*

the Company recognized a beneficial conversion feature valued at $2,278,052 related to the convertible debt issued with regard to the Senior
Secured Promissory Notes

*

the Company issued warrants valued at $14,885 for placement fees associated with the Senior Secured Promissory Notes
See notes to consolidated financial statements
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND 2011
1.

Nature of Business

MiMedx Group, Inc. (“MiMedx,” “The Company,” “we,” or “us”) operates in one business segment, Regenerative Biomaterials, which includes the design,
manufacture, and marketing of products and tissue processing services for the Wound Care, Orthopedics, Spine, Ophthalmic and Dental market
categories. Our biomaterial platform technologies include the device technologies HydroFix® and CollaFix TM, and our tissue technologies, AmnioFix® and
EpiFix®.
The Company is focused primarily on the United States but will pursue other individual markets based upon the specific opportunity. The adoption of
the technologies may vary depending on each country’s regulations, but the opportunities to help individuals in the different disease states remain similar
and large.
2.

Significant Accounting Policies

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying financial statements include the accounts of MiMedx Group, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries MiMedx, Inc., SpineMedica, LLC.,
and Surgical Biologics, LLC. All significant inter-company balances and transactions have been eliminated
Reclassifications
Certain amounts in the prior year financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current year financial statement presentation.
Historically, the Company has reported depreciation and share-based compensation expense as part of Selling, General and Administrative expense. The
Company decided to report these expenses in each functional area in order to more accurately present all of the costs attributable to each functional area.
During the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, we recorded a total of approximately $465,000 and $447,000 in depreciation expense allocated to
each functional area per the table below. The overall $19,000 increase in depreciation was attributable to the purchase of additional production and office
equipment and leasehold build-out to support our revenue growth and additional staff. We depreciate our assets on a straight-line basis, principally over five
to seven years.
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The following table shows the allocation of depreciation for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, to operating departments:
Depreciation expense included in:
Cost of products sold
Research and development
Selling, general and administrative

$

$

Year Ended December 31,
2012
2011
155,987 $
104,950
120,260
118,565
189,120
222,987
465,367 $
446,502

Share-based compensation for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, was approximately $2,539,000 and $1,659,000, respectively, an increase of
approximately $880,000 or 53.0%. Increased employee stock option grants reflecting management’s philosophy of aligning employee compensation with
investor objectives and the increase in the market price of MiMedx common stock was the primary reason for the increase in expense. The following table
shows the allocation of share-based compensation for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, to operating departments:
Share-based compensation included in:
Cost of products sold
Research and development
Selling, General and administrative

$

$

Year Ended December 31,
2012
2011
97,970 $
98,366
289,341
254,997
2,151,410
1,305,720
2,538,721 $
1,659,083

Segment Reporting
ASC 280, “Segment Reporting” requires use of the “management approach” model for segment reporting. The management approach model is based on the
way a company’s management organizes segments within the company for making operating decisions and assessing performance. The Company determined
it has one operating segment. Disaggregation of the Company’s operating results is impracticable, because the Company’s research and development
activities and its assets overlap, and management reviews its business as a single operating segment. Thus, discrete financial information is not available by
more than one operating segment.
Market Concentrations and Credit Risk
The Company places its cash and cash equivalents on deposit with financial institutions in the United States. In July 2010, the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation (“FDIC”) increased coverage to $250,000 for substantially all depository accounts and temporarily provides unlimited coverage for certain
qualifying and participating non-interest bearing transaction accounts. The temporary unlimited coverage expired on December 31, 2012, at which time the
amounts insured by the FDIC returned to $250,000. As of January 1, 2013, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $6,254,000 in
excess of these insured amounts.
The Company’s principal market concentration of risk is related to its limited distribution channels. Three customers accounted for approximately 68% of
revenues for the year ended December 31, 2012, including one customer who represented 40% and another customer which represented 21% of total
revenue. Two customers accounted for approximately 37% of the revenues for the year ended December 31, 2011, including one customer who represented
19% and another customer which represented 18% of total revenue. The Company’s accounts receivable are derived from customers primarily located in the
United States of America. As of December 31, 2012 two customers accounted for 78% of total accounts receivable, 53% and 25% respectively compared to
December 31, 2011 when two customers accounted for 43% of total accounts receivable, 33% and 10%, respectively.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less.
Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable represent amounts due from customers for which revenue has been recognized. Generally, the Company does not require collateral or
any other security to support its receivables.
The allowance for doubtful accounts is the Company’s best estimate of the amount of probable credit losses in the Company’s existing receivables. The
Company determines the allowance based on factors such as historical collection experience, customer’s current creditworthiness, customer concentration,
age of accounts receivable balance and general economic conditions that may affect the customer’s ability to pay. As of December 31, 2012, and 2011, the
Company has $49,400 and $19,500, respectively, in the allowance for doubtful accounts. Actual customer collections could differ from estimates. The
approximate provision during the year ended December 31, 2012 was $56,900, with charge-offs of approximately $27,000 as compared to the approximate
provision during the year ended December 31, 2011 of $57,900 with charge-offs of approximately $60,000.
Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market, using the first–in, first-out (FIFO) method. Inventory is tracked through Raw Material, WIP, and
Finished Good stages as the product progresses through various production steps and stocking locations. Within WIP labor and overhead costs are absorbed
through the various production processes upon work order closes in our ERP (Enterprise Resource Planning) system. Historical yields and normal capacities
are utilized in the calculation of production overhead rates. Reserves for inventory obsolescence are utilized to account for slow-moving inventory as well as
inventory no longer needed due to diminished market demand.
Goodwill and Purchased Intangible Assets
Goodwill and purchased intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized but are tested for impairment at least annually. The Company reviews
goodwill and purchased intangible assets with indefinite lives for impairment annually at the beginning of its fourth fiscal quarter and whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. For goodwill, the Company performs a two-step impairment test. In
the first step, the Company compares the fair value of the Company to its carrying value. The Company determines the fair value utilizing the market
approach. Under the market approach, the Company uses its market capitalization which is calculated by taking the Company’s share price times the number
of outstanding shares. If the fair value of the Company exceeds the carrying value of the net assets, goodwill is not impaired, and no further testing is
required. If the fair value of the Company is less than the carrying value, the Company must perform the second step of the impairment test to measure the
amount of impairment loss, if any. In the second step, the Company’s value is allocated to all of the assets and liabilities, including any unrecognized
intangible assets, in a hypothetical analysis that calculates the implied fair value of goodwill in the same manner as if the Company was being acquired in a
business combination. If the implied fair value of the reporting unit's goodwill is less than the carrying value, the difference is recorded as an impairment
loss.
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The Company estimates the fair value of indefinite-lived purchased intangible assets using a market approach. The Company recognizes an impairment loss
when the estimated fair value of the indefinite-lived purchased intangible assets is less than the carrying value. The Company reviews purchased intangible
assets with finite lives for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of an asset may not be
recoverable. Recoverability of these intangible assets is assessed based on the undiscounted future cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset. If
the undiscounted future cash flows are less than the carrying value, the purchased intangible assets with finite lives are considered to be impaired. The
amount of the impairment loss, if any, is measured as the difference between the carrying amount of these assets and the fair value based on a discounted cash
flow approach or, when available and appropriate, to comparable market values. The Company amortizes purchased intangible assets with finite lives using
the straight-line method over the estimated economic lives of the assets. Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized into Selling, General and
Administrative Expenses in the consolidated statement of operations using the straight-line method over various periods depending upon the specific asset.
Impairment of Goodwill
We tested for impairment of the Intangible Assets related to the Licenses for SaluMedica LLC, Spine Repair and Polyvinyl Alcohol Cryogel as of September
30, 2012 using an undiscounted cash flow methodology. The impairment was the result of the HydroFix® product line experiencing slower than projected
growth in each of its markets. Our test indicated that the carrying value of the assets related to HydroFix® exceeded its fair value, an impairment loss of
approximately $1,798,000 was recognized and the intangible asset carrying amount was adjusted to its new basis. The impairment was reported as a separate
line item in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and included in the Loss From Operations.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, principally five to seven
years. Leasehold improvements are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lesser of the estimated useful lives or the life of the lease.
Impairment of Long-lived Assets
The Company evaluates the recoverability of its long-lived assets (property and equipment) whenever adverse events or changes in business climate indicate
that the expected undiscounted future cash flows from the related assets may be less than previously anticipated. If the net book value of the related assets
exceeds the expected undiscounted future cash flows of the assets, the carrying amount would be reduced to the present value of their expected future cash
flows and an impairment loss would be recognized.
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Deferred Grant Income
The Company received a Regional Economic Business Assistance ("REBA") grant in the amount of $250,000 from the State of Georgia to help the Company
defray certain expenses and capital expenditures related to the Company's expansion of manufacturing activities in the State. To retain the grant monies the
Company must add a certain number of full time positions and spend a certain amount on capital and operations expenditures by December 31, 2014. The
Company recorded the grant monies received as Deferred Grant Income which is included in the Other Liabilities section of the balance sheet per ASC 45030 Gain Contingencies where an existing condition, situation, or set of circumstances involving uncertainty as to possible gain will ultimately be resolved
when one or more future events occur or fail to occur. A contingency that might result in a gain should not be reflected in the financial statements because to
do so might be to recognize the gain before its realization. As part of the transaction, the Company sold and is leasing back $250,000 of the assets from the
State for $100 payable at the time the performance standards are achieved or at the termination date of the lease whichever is earlier. Once the Company has
met the headcount and expenditure goals of the project the Company shall notify the State and pay the fixed rent amount of $100 at which time ownership of
the equipment will transfer back to the Company. The Company also entered into a Performance and Accountability Agreement with the State of Georgia
which defines the performance standard that if the Company fails to reach by no later than December 31, 2014, the Company shall repay a portion of the
Grant amount.
Debt Instruments with Detachable Warrants and Beneficial Conversion Features
According to ASC-470 Debt Instruments with Detachable Warrants, proceeds from the sale of convertible debt instruments with stock purchase warrants
(detachable call options) shall be allocated to the two elements based upon the relative fair values of the debt instrument without the warrants and of the
warrants themselves at the time of issuance. The portion of the proceeds so allocated to the warrants shall be accounted for as paid-in capital. The remainder
of the proceeds shall be allocated to the debt instrument portion of the transaction. Also, the embedded beneficial conversion feature present in the
convertible instrument shall be recognized separately at issuance by allocating a portion of the proceeds equal to the intrinsic value of that feature to
additional paid-in capital.
Revenue Recognition
The Company sells its products primarily through a combination of independent stocking distributors and representatives in the U.S. and independent
distributors in international markets. The Company recognizes revenue when title to the goods and risk of loss transfers to customers, provided there are no
material remaining performance obligations required of the Company or any matters of customer acceptance. In cases where the Company utilized
distributors or ships products directly to the end user, it recognizes revenue according to the shipping terms of the agreement provided all revenue
recognition criteria have been met. A portion of the Company’s revenue is generated from inventory maintained at hospitals or with field
representatives. For these products, revenue is recognized at the time the product has been used or implanted. The Company records estimated sales returns,
discounts and allowances as a reduction of net sales in the same period revenue is recognized.
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Research and Development Costs
Research and development costs consist of direct and indirect costs associated with the development of the Company’s technologies. These costs are
expensed as incurred.
Income Taxes
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying
amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective income tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates
expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax
assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the period that included the enactment date. Valuation allowances are recorded for deferred tax
assets when the recoverability of such assets is not deemed more likely than not.
Uncertain Tax Positions
Tax positions are evaluated in a two-step process. The Company first determines whether it is more likely than not that a tax position will be sustained upon
examination. If a tax position meets the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold it is then measured to determine the amount of benefit to recognize in the
financial statements. The tax position is measured as the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimate
settlement. The Company classifies gross interest and penalties and unrecognized tax benefits that are not expected to result in payment or receipt of cash
within one year as non-current liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Share-based Compensation
The Company follows the provisions of ASC topic 718 “Compensation — Stock compensation” which requires the use of the fair-value based method to
determine compensation for all arrangements under which employees and others receive shares of stock or equity instruments (options and warrants). All
awards are amortized on a straight-line basis over their vesting terms.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying value of accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate their fair value due to the short-term nature of these liabilities. The fair value of
our convertible debt approximates $4,012,000 which represents the face value less the unamortized discount of any beneficial conversion feature plus
accrued but unpaid interest at December 31, 2012, as compared to the fair value of our short term and long term convertible debt of approximately
$5,169,000 which represented the face value less the unamortized discount of any beneficial conversion feature plus accrued but unpaid interest at December
31, 2011. As of December 31, 2012, and December 31, 2011, the fair value of warrants issued in conjunction with placement fees was approximately
$20,500 and $15,000, respectively, which represents the face value less the unamortized discount of any beneficial conversion feature.
Fair Value Measurements
The Company records certain financial instruments at fair value, including: cash equivalents and contingent consideration. The Company may make an
irrevocable election to measure other financial instruments at fair value on an instrument-by-instrument basis; although as of December 31, 2012 the
Company has not chosen to make any such elections. Fair value financial instruments are recorded in accordance with the fair value measurement framework.
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The Company also measures certain non-financial assets at fair value on a non-recurring basis. These non-recurring valuations include evaluating assets such
as long-lived assets, and non-amortizing intangible assets for impairment; allocating value to assets in an acquired asset group; and applying accounting for
business combinations. The Company uses the fair value measurement framework to value these assets and reports these fair values in the periods in which
they are recorded or written down.
The fair value measurement framework includes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes observable and unobservable inputs used to measure fair values in their
broad levels. These levels from highest to lowest priority are as follows:
·
·
·

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2: Quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities or observable prices that are based on inputs not quoted on active markets,
but corroborated by market data; and
Level 3: Unobservable inputs or valuation techniques that are used when little or no market data is available.

The determination of fair value and the assessment of a measurement’s placement within the hierarchy requires judgment. Level 3 valuations often involve a
higher degree of judgment and complexity. Level 3 valuations may require the use of various cost, market, or income valuation methodologies applied to
unobservable management estimates and assumptions. Management’s assumptions could vary depending on the asset or liability valued and the valuation
method used. Such assumptions could include: estimates of prices, earnings, costs, actions of market participants, market factors, or the weighting of various
valuation methods. The Company may also engage external advisors to assist it in determining fair value, as appropriate.
Although the Company believes that the recorded fair value of its financial instruments is appropriate, these fair values may not be indicative of net
realizable value or reflective of future fair values.
Net loss Per Share
Basic net loss per common share is computed using the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period.
For all periods presented, diluted net loss per share is the same as basic net loss per share, as the inclusion of equivalent shares from outstanding common
stock options, warrants, and convertible debt would be anti-dilutive.
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The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011:

Net loss
Denominator for basic earnings per share - weighted average shares
Effect of dilutive securities: Stock options and warrants outstanding and convertible
debt (a)
Denominator for diluted earnings per share - weighted average shares adjusted for
dilutive securities
Loss per common share - basic and diluted

$

Year ended December 31,
2012
2011
(7,662,376) $
(10,193,986)
81,646,295
72,450,337
—

$

—

81,646,295
(0.09) $

72,450,337
(0.14)

(a) Securities outstanding that were excluded from the computation, prior to the use of the treasury stock method, because they would have been anti-dilutive
are as follows:
December 31, 2012
13,614,135
3,129,168
5,313,645
22,056,948

Outstanding Stock Options
Outstanding Warrants
Convertible Debt, promissory notes
Convertible Line of Credit with Related Party
Convertible Debt, Acquisition

December 31, 2011
10,333,583
9,388,817
5,007,732
1,342,726
1,299,315
27,372,173

The table above excludes all securities with contingencies including the earnout liability and contingent warrants.
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
In January 2012 the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2011-04, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Amendments to Achieve
Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRSs, which clarifies some existing concepts and expands the
disclosures for fair value measurements that are estimated using significant unobservable (Level 3) inputs. The adoption of ASU 2011-04 did not have a
material effect on the Company’s financial condition, profitability, and cash flows.
In January 2012 the Company adopted ASU 2011-05, Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Presentation of Comprehensive Income. The amendments to the
Codification in this ASU will require companies to present the components of net income and other comprehensive income either as one continuous
statement or as two consecutive statements. It eliminates the option to present components of other comprehensive income as part of the statement of
changes in stockholders’ equity. The standard does not change the items which must be reported in other comprehensive income, how such items are
measured or when they must be reclassified to net income. This standard is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15,
2011. Because this ASU impacts presentation only, it had no effect on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
In January 2012 the Company adopted ASU 2011-08, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Testing Goodwill for Impairment, which gives entities
testing goodwill for impairment the option of performing a qualitative assessment before calculating the fair value of a reporting unit in step 1 of the
goodwill impairment test. The adoption of ASU 2011-08 did not have a material effect on the Company’s financial condition, profitability, and cash flows.
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In July 2012, the FASB issued ASU No. 2012-02, which amends the guidance in ASC 350-30 on testing indefinite-lived intangible assets, other than
goodwill, for impairment. Under the revised guidance, companies testing an indefinite-lived intangible asset for impairment have the option of performing a
qualitative assessment before calculating the fair value of the asset (i.e. step 1 of the impairment test). If companies determine, on the basis of qualitative
factors, that the fair value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset is more likely than not less than the carrying amount, the two-step impairment test would be
required. This update is effective for annual and interim impairment tests performed for fiscal years beginning after September 15, 2012, with early adoption
permitted. The Company adopted the revised guidance, and it did not have a material impact on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted
Disclosures about offsetting assets and liabilities – In December 2011, the FASB issued accounting guidance on disclosures about offsetting assets and
liabilities. The guidance requires entities to disclose both gross and net information about instruments and transactions that are offset in the statement of
financial position, as well as instruments and transactions that are subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement. In January
2013, the FASB issued guidance clarifying the scope of the disclosures to apply only to derivatives, including bifurcated embedded derivatives, repurchase
and reverse repurchase agreements, and securities lending and securities borrowing transactions. This guidance is effective January 1, 2013, with
retrospective application required. We do not expect the adoption to have a material impact on our financial statements.
Reporting of amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income – In February 2013, the FASB issued accounting guidance on the
reporting of reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income. The guidance requires an entity to present, either on the face of the statement
where net income is presented or in the notes, significant amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income by the respective line items of
net income if the amount is reclassified to net income in its entirety in the same reporting period. For other amounts not required to be reclassified in their
entirety to net income in the same reporting period, a cross reference to other disclosures that provide additional detail about the reclassification amounts is
required. This guidance is effective January 1, 2013. We do not expect the adoption to have a material impact on our financial statements.
3.

Liquidity and Management’s Plans

As of December 31, 2012, the Company had approximately $6,754,000 of cash and cash equivalents. The Company reported total current assets of
approximately $18,089,000 and current liabilities of approximately $5,071,000. The Company believes that its anticipated cash from operating and
financing activities and existing cash and cash equivalents will enable the Company to meet its operational liquidity needs, fund its planned investing
activities and pay its debt when due for the next year.
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4.

Acquisition of Surgical Biologics, LLC

On December 21, 2010, we entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (“the Merger Agreement”) with Membrane Products Holdings, LLC and OnRamp
Capital Investments, LLC, the owners of Surgical Biologics, LLC (“Surgical Biologics”), a privately held company headquartered in Kennesaw,
Georgia. This transaction closed on January 5, 2011 and as a result we acquired all of the outstanding shares of Surgical Biologics in exchange for $500,000
cash, a total of $1,250,000 in 4% Convertible Secured Promissory Notes, and $7,087,500 in stock, represented by 5,250,000 shares of our common stock
(525,000 of which were held in escrow for the purpose of securing the indemnification obligations outlined in the Merger Agreement). Contingent
consideration shall be payable in a formula determined by sales for the years 2011 and 2012. The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value
measurement of contingent consideration related to the acquisitions are annualized revenue forecasts developed by the Company’s management and the
probability of achievement of those revenue forecasts. The contingent consideration was initially valued at $7,404,700 and is shown in the schedule below
as fair value of earn-out (level 3 input under the valuation hierarchy). We completed the acquisition of Surgical Biologics in an effort to extend our
biomaterials product lines. As of December 31, 2011, the Company evaluated the contingent liability based on operating results for the year, and adjusted
the earn-out liability to $7,410,503. On April 30, 2012, the Company issued 2,632,576 shares of its Common Stock valued at $3,185,223 in payment of the
2011 earn-out. As of December 31, 2012, the Company evaluated the 2012 contingent liability based on operating results for the year ended December 31,
2012, and adjusted the 2012 earn-out liability to $5,792,330.
Accrued Earn - Out Acquisition Consideration
2012
Beginning balance at January 1,
Valuation at acquisition date
Remeasurement adjustments
Common stock issued on earn - out
Ending balance at December 31,

$

$

7,410,503

2011
$

1,567,050
(3,185,223)
5,792,330 $

7,404,700
5,803
7,410,503

In total, the 4% Convertible Promissory Notes were convertible into up to 1,250,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at $1.00 per share (a) at any time
upon the election of the holder of the Convertible Notes; or (b) at the election of the Company, at any such time as the closing price per share of the
Company’s common stock (as reported by the OTCBB or on any national securities exchange on which the Company’s shares may be listed, as the case may
be) closes at no less than $1.75 per share for not less than 20 consecutive trading days in any period prior to the maturity date. The 4% Convertible
Promissory Notes matured in eighteen (18) months and earned interest at 4% per annum on the outstanding principal amount payable in cash on the maturity
date or convertible into shares of common stock of the Company as provided for above. The 4% Convertible Promissory Notes were secured by a security
interest in the Intellectual Property, including the Patents and know-how and trade secrets related thereto, owned by, or exclusively licensed to, Surgical
Biologics, LLC. In July, 2012, the Company settled the Convertible Promissory Notes by paying approximately $177,000 in cash and issuing 893,267 shares
of MiMedx common stock.
The Company has evaluated the contingent consideration for accounting purposes under GAAP and has determined that the contingent consideration is
within the scope of ASC 480 Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity whereby a financial instrument other than an outstanding share, that embodies a
conditional obligation that the issuer may settle by issuing a variable number of its equity shares, shall be classified as a liability if, at inception, the
monetary value of the obligation is based solely or predominantly on variations in something other than the fair value of the issuer’s equity shares.
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The actual purchase price was based on cash paid, the fair value of our stock on the date of the Surgical Biologics acquisition, and direct costs associated
with the combination. The actual purchase price was allocated as follows:
Value of 5,250,000 shares issued at $1.35 per share
Cash paid at closing
Cash retained for working capital
Assumed Debt
Convertible Secured Promissory Note
Fair value of earn-out
Total fair value of purchase price

$

$

Assets purchased:
Tangible assets:
Debt-free working capital
Other assets, net
Property, plant and equipment

$

Intangible assets:
Customer relationships
Supplier relationships
Patents and know-how
Trade names and trademarks
In-process research and development – liquid
In-process research and development – other
Licenses and permits

7,087,500
350,000
150,000
182,777
1,250,000
7,404,700
16,424,977

671,880
385
72,866
745,131
3,520,000
241,000
5,530,000
1,008,000
2,160,000
25,000
13,000
12,497,000

Goodwill
Total Assets Purchased

$
67
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Working capital and other assets were composed of the following:
Working capital:
Cash
Prepaid Expenses
Accounts Receivable
License Receivable
Inventory
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Deferred rent and customer deposits
Debt-free working capital

$

Current portion of debt
Long-term debt
Line of credit
Net working capital

$

Deposits
Deferred rent (non-current)

$
$

33,583
2,738
181,087
340,000
347,106
(196,101)
(36,533)
671,880
(62,590)
(21,187)
(99,000)
489,103
16,582
(16,197)
385

The combination was accounted for as a purchase business combination as defined by ASC Topic 805 – Business Combinations. The allocation of the
purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed was based on an independent valuation report obtained by us.
The values assigned to intangible assets are subject to amortization. The intangible assets were assigned the following lives for amortization purposes:
Estimated useful
life (in years)
14
14
14
indefinite
indefinite(a)
indefinite
3

Intangible asset:
Customer relationships
Supplier relationships
Patents and know-how
Trade names and trademarks
In-process research and development – liquid
In-process research and development – other
Licenses and permits

(a)AmnioFix® injectable was launched in 2012 with amortization recorded over its expected useful life.
Goodwill consists of the excess of the purchase price paid over the identifiable net assets and liabilities acquired at fair value. Goodwill was determined
using the residual method based on an independent appraisal of the assets and liabilities acquired in the transaction. Goodwill is tested for impairment as
defined by ASC Topic 350 – Intangibles – Goodwill and Other.
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5.

Inventories

Inventories consisted of the following items as of December 31, 2012 and 2011:

Raw materials
Work in process
Finished goods
Inventory, gross
Reserve for obsolescence
Inventory, net
6.

$

$

December 31,
2012
2011
233,747 $
95,288
1,598,537
308,763
1,349,121
361,007
3,181,405
765,058
(158,621)
(52,456)
3,022,784 $
712,602

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the following as of December 31, 2012 and 2011:

Leasehold improvements
Lab and clean room equipment
Furniture and equipment
Construction in Progress
Property, Equipment, gross
Less accumulated depreciation
Property, Equipment, net

$

$

December 31,
2012
2011
1,022,230 $
925,086
1,887,645
1,463,144
431,563
295,654
10,027
3,351,465
2,683,884
(2,279,840)
(1,814,473)
1,071,625 $
869,411

The table above includes reclassifications of production equipment previously included in the furniture and office equipment category.
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7.

Intangible Assets and Royalty Agreement

Intangible assets activity is summarized as follows:
December 31, 2012
Average
Amortization
Lives
License-Shriners Hsp for
Children & USF Research (a)
License - SaluMedica LLC Spine
Repair (b)
License - Polyvinyl Alcohol
Cryogel (c)
Customer Relationships (d)
Supplier Relationships (d)
Patents & Know-How (d)
Micronized Processing KnowHow (d)
Licenses/Permits (d)

Trade Names/Trademarks (d)
In-process Research &
Development-Other (d)

10 years

Gross
Carrying
Value

$

996,000

December 31, 2011

Impairment
Adjustment

Accumulated
Amortization

$

$

—

(587,633) $

Net
Carrying
Value

408,367

Gross
Carrying
Value

$

996,000

Accumulated
Amortization

$

(488,033) $

Net
Carrying
Value

507,967

10 years

2,399,000

(851,676)

(1,547,324)

—

2,399,000

(1,313,573)

1,085,427

10 years
14 years
14 years
14 years

2,667,000
3,520,000
241,000
5,530,000

(946,819)
—
—
—

(1,223,561)
(502,857)
(34,429)
(790,000)

496,620
3,017,143
206,571
4,740,000

2,667,000
3,520,000
241,000
5,530,000

(998,932)
(251,429)
(17,215)
(395,000)

1,668,068
3,268,571
223,785
5,135,000

14 years
3 years

2,160,000
13,000
17,526,000

—
—
(1,798,495)

(154,286)
(8,667)
(4,848,756)

2,005,714
4,333
10,878,749

2,160,000
13,000
17,526,000

—
(4,333)
(3,468,515)

2,160,000
8,667
14,057,485

indefinite

1,008,000

1,008,000

1,008,000

indefinite

25,000
$ 18,559,000

—
—
25,000
$ (1,798,495) $ (4,848,756) $ 11,911,749

25,000
$ 18,559,000

—

—

—

1,008,000

—
25,000
$ (3,468,515) $ 15,090,485

(a) On January 29, 2007, the Company acquired a license from Shriners Hospitals for Children and University of South Florida Research Foundation,
Inc. Within 30 days after the receipt by the Company of approval by the FDA allowing the sale of the first licensed product, the Company is required to pay
an additional $200,000 to the licensor. Due to its contingent nature, this amount is not recorded as a liability. The Company will also be required to pay a
royalty of 3% on all commercial sales revenue from the licensed products. The Company is also obligated to pay a $50,000 minimum annual royalty
payment over the life of the license.
(b) License from SaluMedica, LLC (SaluMedica) for the use of certain developed technologies related to spine repair. This license was acquired through the
acquisition of SpineMedica Corp.
(c) On March 31, 2008, the Company entered into a license agreement for the use of certain developed technologies related to surgical sheets made of
polyvinyl alcohol cryogel. The agreement also provides for the issuance of an additional 600,000 shares upon the Company meeting certain milestones
related to future sales. On December 31, 2009 the Company completed the sale of its first commercial product and met its first milestone under this
agreement. As a result the Company issued 100,000 shares of common stock to the licensor valued at $71,000. At December 31, 2012 or 2011, there are no
additional amounts accrued for this obligation due to its contingent nature.
(d) On January 5, 2011, the Company acquired Surgical Biologics, LLC. As a result, the Company recorded intangible assets for customer and supplier
relationships, patents and know-how, licenses/permits, trade names and trademarks and in-process research and development.
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Expected future amortization of intangible assets is as follows:
Estimated
Amortization
Expense
$
1,050,380
1,046,047
1,022,651
976,998
886,927
5,895,746
$
10,878,749

Year ending December 31,
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
Thereafter
8.

Accrued Expenses

Accrued Expenses consist of the following as of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011:

Accrued Personnel Related Costs
Accrued Commissions
Other Accrued Expenses
Total Accrued Expenses

$

$
71

December 31,
2012
2011
1,761,760 $
311,849
1,469,925
112,905
512,249
358,435
3,743,934 $
783,189
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9.

Long-Term Debt

The following table summarizes our long-term debt:
December 31,
2012
2011
$5M Convertible Senior Secured Promissory Notes including interest at 5% per annum payable quarterly through
December 31, 2013, and an additional one time 5% interest charge payable on January 15, 2013 if not repaid by
December 31, 2012, collateralized by a first priority lien shared equally with holder of the Convertible Line of Credit
with Related Party in all of the patents and intellectual property owned by the Company subordinated to the
Convertible Debt related to acquisition for Surgical Biologics intellectual property until repaid. (a)

$

5,313,645

$

5,007,732

Convertible Line of Credit with Related Party with 5% interest; principal and interest payable in full December 31,
2012 collateralized by a first priority lien shared equally with holders of Convertible Senior Secured Promissory Notes
in all patents and intellectual property of the Company subordinated to the Convertible debt related to the acquisition
for Surgical Biologics intellectual property until repaid. (b)

-

1,342,726

Convertible debt related to acquisition with 4% interest; principal and interest payable in full on July 5, 2012,
collateralized by a first priority lien in all the intellectual property owned by Surgical Biologics immediately after the
closing. (c)

-

1,299,315

Total debt

$

Less unamortized debt discount

5,313,645

$

(1,301,203)

Less current portion

(2,480,400)

-

Long-term portion

$

4,012,442

7,649,773

(2,424,786)
$

2,744,587

(a) Investors received First Contingent Warrants (25% of amount invested) and Second Contingent Warrants (25% of amount invested) at an exercise price of
$.01 per share. In March 2012 a total of 1,250,000 First Contingent Warrants were vested. In July 2012, a total of 1,250,000 Second Contingent Warrants
were voided due to the Company share price trading at or above $1.75 for ten consecutive trading days. The additional interest resulting from the beneficial
conversion feature, inclusive of the First Contingent Warrants, totaled $2,278,052 which has been recorded as a debt discount that has been and will continue
to be charged to interest expense using the effective interest rate over the life of the note.
(b) The same terms offered to the Senior Secured Promissory note with regard to Contingent Warrants applied to the Convertible Line of Credit. In March
2012 a total of 325,000 First Contingent Warrants vested. In July 2012, a total of 325,000 Second Contingent Warrants were voided. The additional interest
related to the beneficial conversion feature totaled $594,456 and was recorded as a debt discount and charged to interest expense using the effective interest
rate over the life of the note. On December 7, 2012, the Chairman and CEO elected to convert his note and accrued interest resulting in the issuance of
1,403,630 shares of MiMedx common stock.
(c) Additional financing expense of $437,500 was recorded for the beneficial conversion feature of the convertible notes over the term of the note. In July,
2012, the Company settled the Convertible Promissory Notes by paying approximately $177,000 in cash and issuing 893,267 shares of MiMedx common
stock.
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Convertible Line of Credit with related party
On March 31, 2011, the Company and its Chairman of the Board and CEO (“the Lender”) entered into a Subscription Agreement for a 5% Convertible Senior
Secured Promissory Note (“Subscription Agreement”) and, in connection therewith, agreed to issue a 5% Convertible Senior Secured Promissory Note
(“Note”) in the amount borrowed by the Company. At the option of the Lender, the Note was convertible into the number of shares of common stock of the
Company equal to the quotient of the outstanding principal amount and accrued interest of the Note as of the date of such election divided by $1.00 per
share.
Senior Secured Promissory Notes
From December 27 to December 31, 2011, the Company sold 5% Convertible Senior Secured Promissory Notes (the “Notes”) to individual accredited
investors for aggregate proceeds of $5,000,000. The aggregate proceeds included $500,000 of Notes sold to the Company’s Chairman of the Board and
CEO. In total, the principal of the Notes is convertible into up to 5,000,000 shares of common stock of the Company (“Common Stock”) plus accrued but
unpaid interest at $1.00 per share at any time upon the election of the holder of the note.
As of December 31, 2012 the Company had not repaid the Notes in full and as a result requires the Company to pay each lender an additional interest
payment in the amount of five percent (5%) of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of such lender’s Notes as of December 31, 2012. The additional
interest was accrued on a monthly basis during the year.
In conjunction with the sale of the Convertible Senior Secured Promissory notes, the Company incurred a placement fee of $32,800 and issued 42,400
common stock warrants to the placement agents at an exercise price of $1.09 per share. The warrants expire in five years. The fair value of the warrants was
determined to be approximately $15,000 using the Black-Scholes-Merton valuation technique. The total direct costs of approximately $47,800 are recorded
as deferred financing costs and are being amortized over the term of the Senior Notes using the effective interest method. Further, the placement agent
warrants are classified in stockholders’ equity because they achieved all of the requisite conditions for equity classification in accordance with GAAP.
In January and February of 2013 all note holders elected to convert their notes including the Company’s Chairman and CEO, resulting in the issuance of
5,271,963 shares of common stock which represents the face value of their respective notes plus accrued but unpaid interest. The Company’s Chairman and
CEO received 532,260 shares of common stock upon conversion of his note. This will also result in the acceleration of amortization of debt discount of
$1,301,000 in the same period.
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10. Common Stock Placements
October 2010 Private Placement
In October 2010, the Company commenced a private placement to sell common stock and warrants. For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company
sold 3,778,321 shares of Common Stock and issued 1,889,161 warrants and received cash proceeds of $3,730,587 net of $47,733 in offering costs. Under the
terms of the offering, for each share purchased, the investor received one 5-year warrant to purchase the common stock of the Company at an exercise price of
$1.50 per share. The terms of the warrant, (the “Callable Warrant”) are that for every two shares of common stock purchased, the holder is issued a 5-year
warrant to purchase one share of the Company’s Common Stock at an exercise price of $1.50 per share. The Callable Warrant was callable by the Company at
any time after the issuance if the closing sale price of the Stock exceeds $1.75 for fifteen (15) or more consecutive trading days. Upon written notice, the
Company may redeem the Callable Warrant at a price of $0.01 per share. In July 2012, the Company decided to exercise its right to call approximately
3,345,000 warrants. The Company raised approximately $4,900,000 and issued approximately 3,289,000 shares of MiMedx common stock including a total
of 503,332 Callable Warrants exercised by the Company’s Chairman and CEO. The balance of 56,750 warrants were repurchased at $0.01 per share.
Additionally, under the terms of the offering the Company issued a First Contingent Warrant (“First Contingent Warrant”) and a Second Contingent Warrant
(“Second Contingent Warrant”) to Purchase Common Stock. These warrants vested assuming certain revenue targets were not achieved and could be voided
if the closing trading price of the Company’s stock achieved a certain level for a specified number of consecutive trading days. The First Contingent Warrant
vested during the second quarter of 2012 resulting in the issuance of approximately 1,673,000 warrants including approximately 252,000 to the Company’s
Chairman and CEO, at an exercise price of $0.01 per share. On July 3, 2012, 1,672,742 Second Contingent Warrants were voided which represented the tenth
consecutive trading day of the closing trading price of the Company stock being at least $1.75. As of December 31, 2012 approximately 1,609,000 First
Contingent Warrants have been exercised.
11. Equity
Stock Incentive Plan
The Company has three share-based compensation plans, the MiMedx Group, Inc. Assumed 2006 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2006 Plan”), the MiMedx Inc.
2007 Assumed Stock Plan (the “Assumed 2007 Plan”) and the MiMedx Group Inc. Amended and Restated Assumed 2005 Stock Plan (the “Assumed 2005
Plan”) which provide for the granting of qualified incentive and non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation awards and restricted stock awards to
employees, directors, consultants and advisors. The awards are subject to a vesting schedule as set forth in each individual agreement. The Company intends
to use only the 2006 Plan to make future grants. The number of assumed options under the Assumed 2005 Plan and Assumed 2007 Plan outstanding at
December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 totaled 375,000. The maximum number of shares of common stock which can be issued under the 2006 Plan is
16,500,000 at December 31, 2012 and 12,500,000 at December 31, 2011, with an increase of 4,000,000 shares in May 2012.
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Activity with respect to the stock options is summarized as follows:

Outstanding at January 1, 2011
Granted
Exercised
Unvested options forfeited
Vested options expired
Outstanding at December 31, 2011
Vested or expected to vest at December 31, 2011

Number of
Shares
8,257,650
3,918,500
(490,000)
(217,252)
(1,135,315)
10,333,583
10,283,583

$
$
$
$
$
$
$

WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price
1.20
1.17
0.60
1.10
1.70
1.17
1.17

Outstanding at January 1, 2012
Granted
Exercised
Unvested options forfeited
Vested options expired
Outstanding at December 31, 2012
Vested or expected to vest at December 31, 2012

10,333,583
5,307,500
(843,862)
(387,171)
(795,915)
13,614,135
13,367,278

$
$
$
$
$
$
$

1.17
1.90
1.25
1.17
1.55
1.42
1.41

WeightedAverage
Remaining
Contractual
Term
(in years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

7.1
5.7

$
$

1,457,218
1,395,223

8.0
7.9

$
$

32,924,881
32,490,930

The intrinsic value of options exercised during the year ended December 31, 2012, was approximately $718,978 and was $258,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2011.
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The following is a summary of stock options outstanding for years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively:

Range of Exercise Prices
$0.50 - $0.76
$0.87 - $1.35
$1.40 - $2.18
$2.29 - $3.47
$3.49 - $3.85

Range of Exercise Prices
$0.50
$0.65 - $1.00
$1.04 - $1.80
$2.40

Number
outstanding
2,372,500
7,048,668
1,958,467
2,177,000
57,500
13,614,135

2012
Options Outstanding
WeightedAverage
Remaining
Contractual
Term
(in years)
5.3
8.6
6.8
9.7
10.0
8.0

Number
outstanding
587,250
2,967,500
6,228,833
550,000
10,333,583

2011
Options Outstanding
WeightedAverage
Remaining
Contractual
Term
(in years)
2.9
5.7
8.8
0.7
7.1
76

Options Exercisable

$
$
$
$
$
$

WeightedAverage
Exercise Price
0.66
1.15
1.68
1.42

Number
Exercisable
2,372,500
1,674,638
1,189,459
5,236,597

WeightedAverage
Exercise Price
$
0.66
$
1.15
$
1.68
$
$
$
1.05

Options Exercisable

$
$
$
$
$

WeightedAverage
Exercise Price
0.50
0.79
1.30
2.40
1.17

Number
Exercisable
513,268
2,730,224
2,207,005
550,000
6,000,497

WeightedAverage
Exercise Price
$
0.50
$
0.79
$
1.45
$
2.40
$
1.16
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A summary of the status of the Company’s unvested stock options as of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 is presented below:

Unvested Stock Options
Unvested at January 1, 2012
Granted
Cancelled/expired
Vested
Unvested at December 31, 2012

WeightedAverage
Number of
Grant Date Fair
Shares
Value
4,333,086 $
0.72
5,307,500 $
1.90
(387,171) $
1.17
(875,877) $
1.05
8,377,538 $
0.96

Unvested Stock Options
Unvested at January 1, 2011
Granted
Cancelled/expired
Vested
Unvested at December 31, 2011

WeightedAverage
Number of
Grant Date Fair
Shares
Value
2,679,787 $
0.87
3,918,500 $
0.63
(1,352,567) $
0.59
(912,634) $
0.81
4,333,086 $
0.72

Total unrecognized compensation expense at December 31, 2012, was approximately $6,151,000 and will be charged to expense through December 2015.
The fair value of the options granted was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model that uses assumptions for
expected volatility, expected dividends, expected term, and the risk-free interest rate. Expected volatilities are based on historical volatility of peer
companies and other factors estimated over the expected term of the options. The term of employee options granted is derived using the “simplified method”
which computes expected term as the average of the sum of the vesting term plus the contract term. The simplified method was used due to the Company’s
lack of sufficient historical data to provide a reasonable basis upon which to estimate the expected term due to the limited period of time its equity shares
have been publically traded. The term for non-employee options is generally based upon the contractual term of the option. The risk-free rate is based on the
U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant for the period of the expected term or contractual term as described.
77

Index to Financial Statements

The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of options using the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model are set forth in the following table:
Year ended December 31,
2012
2011
45.7-64.3%
57.3-58.1%
6
6
—
—
.62%-1.77%
0.86% - 2.24%

Expected volatility
Expected life (in years)
Expected dividend yield
Risk-free interest rate

The weighted-average grant date fair value for options granted during the year ended December 31, 2012, was approximately $1.07 and $.63 for 2011.
Warrants
The Company grants common stock warrants in connection with equity share purchases by investors as an additional incentive for providing long-term
equity capital to the Company and as additional compensation to consultants and advisors. The warrants are granted at negotiated prices in connection with
the equity share purchases and at the market price of the common stock in other instances. The warrants have been issued for terms of five years.
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Common Stock warrants activity and resulting balances for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, are as follows:

Number of
Warrants
6,003,924
1,889,161
203,332
—
1,250,000
42,400
9,388,817

Warrants outstanding at January 1, 2011
Issued in connection with private placement of common stock
Issued in connection with convertible promissory notes
Issued in connection with line of credit with related party
Issued in connection with Senior Secured Promissory Notes
Placement agent
Warrants outstanding at December 31, 2011
Warrants issued:
Vested contingent warrants related to private placement of common stock
Vested contingent warrants related to line of credit with related party
Contingent warrants voided
Warrants exercised:
Contingent warrants related to convertible note
Contingent warrants related to private placement of common stock
Contingent warrants related to line of credit with related party
Callable warrants
Other
Warrants expired
Warrants redeemed for cashless exercises
Repurchased callable warrants (a)
Warrants outstanding at December 31, 2012

1,672,743
325,000
—

WeightedAverage
Exercise Price
per Warrant
$
1.21
1.50
1.50
—
0.01
1.09
$
1.00
$

0.01
0.01
—

(1,249,750)
(1,608,802)
(325,000)
(3,288,733)
(1,703,568)
(10,000)
(14,789)
(56,750)
3,129,168 $

0.01
0.01
0.01
1.50
0.63
1.00
0.53
1.50
1.04

Number of
Contingent
Warrants
1,252,990
1,889,162
203,332
650,000
1,250,000
—
5,245,484

WeightedAverage
Exercise Price
per Contingent
Warrant
$
0.01
0.01
0.01
0.01
0.01
—
$
0.01

(1,672,743) $
(325,000)
(3,247,741)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

$

0.01
0.01
0.01
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

(a) The Company repurchased the callable warrants at $0.01 per share.
Warrants may be exercised in whole or in part by:
•

Notice given by the holder accompanied by payment of an amount equal to the warrant exercise price multiplied by the number of warrant shares being
purchased; or

•

Election by the holder to exchange the warrant (or portion thereof) for that number of shares equal to the product of (a) the number of shares issuable
upon exercise of the warrant (or portion) and (b) a fraction, (x) the numerator of which is the market price of the shares at the time of exercise minus the
warrant exercise price per share at the time of exercise and (y) the denominator of which is the market price per share at the time of exercise.

These warrants are not mandatorily redeemable, do not obligate the Company to repurchase its equity shares by transferring assets or issue a variable number
of shares.
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The warrants require that the Company deliver shares as part of a physical settlement or a net-share settlement, at the option of the holder, and do not provide
for a net-cash settlement.
All of our warrants are classified as equity as of December 31, 2012 and 2011.
12. Income Taxes
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes.
The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various states. With few exceptions, the Company is subject to U.S. federal, state
and local income tax examinations for the years 2009 through 2012. However, certain returns from years prior to 2009, in which net operating losses and tax
credits have arisen, are still open for examination by the tax authorities.
Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:
December 31,
2012
2011
Deferred tax assets and liabilities:
Accrued liabilities
Beneficial conversion feature on convertible financial instruments
Intangible assets
Property and equipment
R&D Credit Carryforward
Stock Compensation
Adjust accrued earn-out liability
Charitable Contributions
Patent fees
Net operating loss
Net deferred tax assets

$

$

Valuation allowance
$

(73,000) $
(449,000)
1,117,000
89,000
1,407,356
213,000
567,947
3,000
6,000
15,487,000
18,368,303 $

131,000
(927,000)
249,000
(18,000)
494,000
—
——
—
15,524,000
15,453,000

(18,368,303)
(15,453,000)
— $
—

The reconciliation of the Federal statutory income tax rate of 34% to the effective rate is as follows:
12/31/2012
34.00%
3.40%
6.51%
(43.91%)
—%

Federal statutory rate
State taxes, net of federal benefit
Permanent items & other
Valuation allowance

12/31/2011
34.00%
5.34%
(11.30%)
(28.04%)
—%

Income taxes are based on estimates of the annual effective tax rate and evaluations of possible future events and transactions and may be subject to
subsequent refinement or revision.
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The Company has incurred net losses since its inception, and therefore, no current income tax liabilities have been incurred for the periods presented. The
amount of federal operating loss carryforwards was approximately $42,700,000 at December 31, 2012, and $41,400,000 at December 31, 2011. The loss
carryforwards will expire at various dates beginning in 2026 through 2032 if not utilized. A valuation allowance is recorded to reduce the deferred tax assets
reported if, based on the weight of the evidence, it is more likely than not that a portion or none of the deferred tax assets will be realized. After consideration
of all the evidence, including reversal of deferred tax liabilities, future taxable income and other factors, management has determined that a full valuation
allowance is necessary as of December 31, 2012 and 2011. Additionally, the Company has various tax credit carryforwards of approximately $1,400,000 as
of December 31, 2012. The tax credit carryforwards will expire at various dates beginning in 2025 through 2032 if not utilized.
The Company's net operating losses and credits could be subject to annual limitations due to ownership change limitations provided by Internal Revenue
Code Section 382. An annual limitation could result in the expiration of net operating losses and tax credit carryforward before utilization. At this time the
Company does not believe its carryforwards or credits will be materially impacted by such limitations.
13. Related Party Transactions
The Company has related party expense as described in the following table:

Office space lease (a)
Aircraft use (b)
Hybrid debt instrument (c)
Line of credit (d)
Convertible senior secured promissory notes (e)

$

$

December 31,
2012
2011
48,182 $
41,000
—
1,100
—
3,232
103,630
42,726
50,000
4,507
201,812 $
92,565

(a) payments related to the lease of office space from an entity owned by the Chairman of the Board and CEO for $48,182 for 2012 and $41,000 for 2011,
respectively
(b) payments related to aircraft use from an entity owned by the former Chairman of the Board and current member of the Board of Directors
(c) interest of $3,232 related to convertible promissory notes issued in October 2010 to the Chairman of the Board and CEO and two other members of the
Board of Directors
(d) interest of $103,630 for 2012 and $42,726 for 2011, respectively related to a revolving secured line of credit with the Chairman of the Board and CEO
dated March 31, 2011
(e) interest of $50,000 for 2012 and $4,507 for 2011, respectively related to the convertible senior secured promissory notes with the Chairman of the Board
and CEO during the fourth quarter of 2011
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14. 401k Plan
The Company has a 401(k) plan (the “Plan”) covering employees who have attained 21 years of age and have completed three months of service. Under the
Plan, participants may defer up to 100% of their eligible wages to a maximum of $17,000 per year (annual limit for 2012). Employees age 50 or over in 2012
may make additional pre-tax contributions up to $5,500 above and beyond normal plan and legal limits. Annually, the Company may elect to match
employee contributions up to 6% of the employee’s compensation. Additionally, the Company may elect to make a discretionary contribution to the Plan.
The Company did not provide matching contributions for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011.
15. Commitments
Contractual Arrangements
The Company has entered into operating lease agreements for facility space and equipment, and employment agreements with our Vice President of Sales for
Europe, Middle East and Africa and for some key employees acquired with Surgical Biologics. In addition, the Company has minimum royalty payments
due in conjunction with one of its licenses.
The estimated annual lease, royalty, and employment agreement expenses are as follows:
Year ended December 31,
2013
2014
Thereafter

$

$

423,206
204,700
542,021
1,169,927

Rent expense on all operating leases for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, was approximately $528,000 and $533,000.
16. Subsequent Events
On January 31, 2013, the Company entered into a lease agreement (the “Lease”) under which the Company will lease approximately 80,000 square feet of
office, laboratory and warehouse space in Marietta, Georgia. This building will become the Company’s new corporate headquarters.
The initial term of the lease is sixty-nine (69) months commencing on May 1, 2013. Base rental payments over the term of the lease total approximately
$7,100,000. Under the Lease, the Company is obligated to post a security deposit in the amount of $499,087. As of the date of this report approximately
$250,000 of this obligation has been deposited.
During the months of January and February 2013, all holders of the Convertible Senior Secured Promissory Notes converted their interest in this obligation to
shares of MiMedx common stock. The total amount of debt plus accrued interest that was exchanged was $5,271,963. In conjunction with this exchange
5,271,963 shares of the Company’s common stock were issued in full satisfaction of this obligation. Included in this total are 532,260 shares representing
Mr. Petit’s conversion of his note.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A.Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We maintain “disclosure controls and procedures” within the meaning of Rule 13a-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the
Exchange Act. Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by the
Company in the reports filed under the Exchange Act, such as this Annual Report on Form 10-K, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the
time periods specified in the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms. Our disclosure controls and procedures include controls and
procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating our
disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only
reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and no evaluation of controls and procedures can provide absolute assurance that all
control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within a company have been detected. Management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the costbenefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.
As required by Rule 13a-15(b) of the Exchange Act, prior to filing this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision
and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and
operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based on their evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls
and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended). Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December
31, 2012. In making this assessment, our management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(“COSO”) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework. Our management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2012, our internal control over financial
reporting is effective based on these criteria.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even those systems
determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation. Also, projections of any
evaluation of the effectiveness of internal controls over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate.
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An evaluation was also performed under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, of any changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during our last fiscal quarter and that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. That evaluation did not identify any change in our internal control over
financial reporting that occurred during our latest fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control
over financial reporting.
Cherry, Bekaert & Holland, L.L.P., an independent registered accounting firm, as auditors of our financial statements have issued an attestation report on
the effectiveness of the Company’s and its subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012. Cherry, Bekaert & Hollard,
L.L.P.’s report is included in this report.
Item 9B.Other Information
None.
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Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
Information required by this Item will be contained in our definitive proxy statement relating to our Annual Meeting of Shareholders under the captions
“Corporate Governance,” “Executive Officers,” “Nominees for Election of Directors” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance,” or
similar captions which are incorporated herein by reference.
We have adopted our “Code of Business Conduct and Ethics” and a copy is posted on our website at http://mimedx.com/governance.aspx. In the event
that we amend any of the provisions of this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that require disclosure under applicable law, SEC rules or listing standards,
we intend to disclose such amendment on our website.
Any waiver of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for any executive officer or director must be approved by the Board and will be disclosed on a
Form 8-K filed with the SEC, along with the reasons for the waiver.
Item 11. Executive Compensation
Information required by this Item will be contained in our definitive proxy statement relating to our Annual Meeting of Shareholders under the caption
“Executive Compensation,” which is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Shareholder Matters
Information required by this Item will be contained in our definitive proxy statement relating to our Annual Meeting of Shareholders under the captions
“Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management,” “Executive Compensation,” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information,” which is
incorporated herein by reference.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
Information required by this Item will be contained in our definitive proxy statement relating to our Annual Meeting of Shareholders under the caption
“Certain Relationships and Related Transactions,” which is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services
Information required by this Item will be contained in our definitive proxy statement relating to our Annual Meeting of Shareholders under the captions
“Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” and “Corporate Governance,” which are incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(a) Documents filed as part of this report:
(1)

Financial Statements

(2)

Financial Statement Schedules

(3)

Exhibits

See Item 15(b) below. Each management contract or compensation plan has been identified.
(b) Exhibits
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Exhibit
Number
2.1

3.1
3.2
10.1*
10.2*
10.3*
10.4*
10.5*
10.6*
10.7*
10.8*
10.9*
10.10*
10.11*

Description
Agreement and Plan of Merger is entered into as of the 22nd day of December, 2010 by and among MiMedx Group, Inc., MP Holdings
Acquisition Sub, LLC, ORCI Acquisition Sub, LLC, Membrane Products Holdings, LLC, Onramp Capital Investments, LLC, each of the
OnRamp Members (as defined therein); John R. Daniel, in his capacity as the representative of the Members and Surgical Biologics, LLC
(Certain exhibits and schedules have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K, but a copy will be furnished supplementally
to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request) (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 filed with Registrant’s Form 10-K filed
on March 31, 2011)
Articles of Incorporation of MiMedx Group, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 filed with Registrant’s Form 8-K on November 5,
2012)
Bylaws of MiMedx Group, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 filed with Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on April 2, 2008)
MiMedx, Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to the Exhibit 10.1 filed with the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed February 8,
2008)
Form of Incentive Award Agreement under the MiMedx, Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to the Exhibit 10.3 filed
with the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed February 8, 2008)
Form of Nonqualified Incentive Award Agreement under the MiMedx, Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to the
Exhibit 10.4 filed with the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed February 8, 2008)
MiMedx, Inc. 2005 Amended and Assumed Stock Plan (Incorporated by reference to the Exhibit 10.4 filed with the Registrant’s Form 8-K
filed February 8, 2008)
Declaration of Amendment to MiMedx, Inc. 2005 Assumed Stock Plan (Incorporated by reference to the Exhibit 10.6 filed with the
Registrant’s Form 8-K filed February 8, 2008)
Form of Incentive Award Agreement under the MiMedx, Inc. Assumed 2005 Stock Plan (formerly the SpineMedica Corp. 2005 Employee,
Director and Consultant Stock Plan), including a list of officers and directors receiving options thereunder (Incorporated by reference to the
Exhibit 10.7 filed with the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed February 8, 2008)
Form of Nonqualified Incentive Award Agreement under the MiMedx, Inc. Assumed 2005 Stock Plan (formerly the SpineMedica Corp. 2005
Employee, Director and Consultant Stock Plan) (Incorporated by reference to the Exhibit 10.8 filed with the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed
February 8, 2008)
MiMedx, Inc. Assumed 2007 Stock Plan (formerly the SpineMedica Corp. 2007 Stock Incentive Plan) (Incorporated by reference to the
Exhibit 10.9 filed with the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed February 8, 2008)
Declaration of Amendment to MiMedx, Inc. Assumed 2007 Stock Plan (formerly the SpineMedica Corp. 2007 Stock Incentive Plan)
(Incorporated by reference to the Exhibit 10.10 with the same number filed with the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed February 8, 2008)
Form of Incentive Award Agreement under the MiMedx, Inc. Assumed 2007 Stock Plan (formerly the SpineMedica Corp. 2007 Stock
Incentive Plan) (Incorporated by reference to the Exhibit 10.11 filed with the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed February 8, 2008)
Form of Nonqualified Incentive Award Agreement under the MiMedx, Inc. Assumed 2007 Stock Plan (formerly the SpineMedica Corp. 2007
Stock Incentive Plan) (Incorporated by reference to the Exhibit 10.12 filed with the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed February 8, 2008)
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10.12
10.13
10.14
10.15
10.16
10.17
10.18
10.19
10.20
10.21
10.22
10.23
10.24
10.25
10.26

Form of MiMedx, Inc. Employee Proprietary Information and Inventions Assignment Agreement (Incorporated by reference to the Exhibit
10.13 filed with the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed February 8, 2008)
Technology License Agreement between MiMedx, Inc., Shriners Hospitals for Children, and University of South Florida Research
Foundation dated January 29, 2007 (Incorporated by reference to the Exhibit 10.32 filed with the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed February 8,
2008)
Technology License Agreement between SpineMedica Corp. and SaluMedica, LLC dated August 12, 2005 (Incorporated by reference to the
Exhibit 10.33 filed with the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed February 8, 2008)
Technology License Agreement between SpineMedica Corp. and SaluMedica, LLC dated August 3, 2007 (Incorporated by reference to the
Exhibit 10.35 filed with the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed February 8, 2008)
First Amendment Technology License Agreement between SpineMedica Corp. and SaluMedica, LLC dated August 3, 2007 (Incorporated by
reference to the Exhibit 10.36 filed with the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed February 8, 2008)
Second Amendment to Technology License Agreement between SpineMedica Corp. and SaluMedica, LLC dated August 3, 2007
(Incorporated by reference to the Exhibit 10.36.1 filed with the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed February 8, 2008)
Acknowledgement of Georgia Tech Research Corporation dated August 12, 2005 (Incorporated by reference to the Exhibit 10.38 filed with
the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed February 8, 2008)
License Agreement between Georgia Tech Research Corporation and Restore Therapeutics, Inc. dated March 5, 1998 (Incorporated by
reference to the Exhibit 10.39 filed with the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed February 8, 2008)
First Amendment to License Agreement between Georgia Tech Research Corporation and Restore Therapeutics, Inc. dated November 18,
1998 (Incorporated by reference to the Exhibit 10.40 filed with the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed February 8, 2008)
Second Amendment to License Agreement between Georgia Tech Research Corporation and SaluMedica, LLC (f/k/a Restore Therapeutics,
Inc.) dated February 28, 2005 (Incorporated by reference to the Exhibit 10.41 filed with the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed February 8, 2008)1
Third Amendment to License Agreement between Georgia Tech Research Corporation and SaluMedica, LLC dated August 12, 2005
(Incorporated by reference to the Exhibit 10.42 filed with the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed February 8, 2008)
Assignment of Invention and Non-Provisional Patent Application from David N. Ku to SaluMedica Corp. dated August 11, 2005
(Incorporated by reference to the Exhibit 10.43 filed with the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed February 8, 2008)
Assignment of Invention and Non-Provisional Patent Application from SaluMedica, LLC to SpineMedica, LLC dated August 12, 2005
(Incorporated by reference to the Exhibit 10.44 filed with the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed February 8, 2008)
Form of SpineMedica, Corp. Employee Proprietary Information and Inventions Assignment Agreement (Incorporated by reference to the
Exhibit 10.45 filed with the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed February 8, 2008)
Purchase Agreement between SpineMedica Corp. and SaluMedica, LLC dated March 12, 2007 (Incorporated by reference to the Exhibit
10.46 filed with the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed February 8, 2008)
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10.27
10.28
10.29
10.30
10.31
10.32*
10.33*
10.34*
10.35
10.36
10.37
10.38
10.39
10.40
10.41
10.42
10.43
10.44
10.45

Letter Agreement between MiMedx, Inc. and SaluMedica, LLC dated June 26, 2007, (Incorporated by reference to the Exhibit 10.47 filed
with the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed February 8, 2008)
Investment Agreement dated March 31, 2008 between MiMedx Group, Inc. and SaluMedica, LLC (Incorporated by reference to the Exhibit
10.54 filed with the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed April 4, 2008)
Technology License Agreement dated March 31, 2008, between MiMedx Group, Inc. and SaluMedica, LLC (Incorporated by reference to the
Exhibit 10.55 filed with the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed April 4, 2008)
First Amendment to Technology License Agreement dated March 31, 2008 between MiMedx Group, Inc. and SaluMedica, LLC (Incorporated
by reference to the Exhibit 10.55.1 filed with the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed April 4, 2008)
Form of Indemnification Agreement (Incorporated by reference to the Exhibit 10.65 filed with the Registrant’s Form 8 -K filed July 15, 2008)
MiMedx Group, Inc. Amended and Restated Assumed 2005 Stock Plan (Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.4 filed with the Registrant’s
Form S-8 filed August 29, 2008) 10.67
Form of Incentive Stock Option Award Agreement under MiMedx Group, Inc. Amended and Restated Assumed 2005 Stock Plan
(Incorporated by reference to the Exhibit 10.68 filed with the Registrant’s Form 8 -K on September 4, 2008)
Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Award Agreement under MiMedx Group, Inc. Amended and Restated Assumed 2005 Stock Plan
(Incorporated by reference to the Exhibit 10.69 filed with the Registrant’s Form 8 -K on September 4, 2008)
Sale and Purchase Agreement with UPex Holdings, LLC (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed October
22, 2009)
Warrant to Purchase Common Stock dated September 22, 2009 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 filed with Registrant’s Form 8-K
filed September 28, 2009)
Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 filed with Registrant’s Form 8-K filed January 7,
2010)
Form of Subscription Agreement 5% Convertible Promissory Note (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with Registrant’s Form 8-K
filed October 25, 2010)
Form of 5% Convertible Promissory Note (Incorporated by referent to Exhibit 10.2 filed with Registrant’s Form 8-K filed October 25, 2010)
Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 filed with Registrant’s Form 8-K filed October 25,
2010)
Revolving Secured Line of Credit Agreement dated March 31, 2011 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.89 filed with Registrant’s Form
10-K filed March 31, 2011)
Amendment dated January 2, 2012, to Revolving Secured Line of Credit Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 filed with
Registrant’s Form 8-K filed January 3, 2012)
Form of Subscription Agreement 5% Convertible Promissory Note (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Registrant’s Form 8-K filed
January 3, 2012)
Form of 5% Convertible Promissory Note (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 filed with Registrant’s Form 8-K filed January 3, 2012)
Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 filed with Registrant’s Form 8-K filed January 3,
2012)
89

Index to Financial Statements

10.46
10.47
10.48
10.49
10.50*
10.51*
10.52*
10.53*
10.54
10.55
10.56
21.1
23.1#
31.1#
31.2#
32.1#
32.2#
99.1

Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 filed with Registrant’s Form 8-K filed January 3,
2012)
Form of Warrant to Purchase Common (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 filed with Registrant’s Form 8-K filed January 3, 2012)
Form of Amended and Restated Security and Intercreditor Agreement Form of Registration Rights Agreement (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.6 filed with Registrant’s Form 8-K filed January 3, 2012)
2011 Declaration of Amendment to 2006 Stock Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 filed with Registrant’s Form 8-K
filed January 3, 2012)
Change of Control Agreement Severance Compensation and Restrictive Covenant Agreement dated November 11, 2011 with Parker H. Petit
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.91 filed with Registrant’s Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2011)
Change of Control Agreement Severance Compensation and Restrictive Covenant Agreement dated November 11, 2011 with William C.
Taylor (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.92 filed with Registrant’s Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2011)
Change of Control Agreement Severance Compensation and Restrictive Covenant Agreement dated November 11, 2011 with Michael J.
Senken(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.93 filed with Registrant’s Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2011)
2012 Management Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 filed with Registrant’s Form 8-K filed February 29, 2012)
Consulting Agreement by & between Mimedx Group, Inc. and Roberta L. McCaw dated us of January 1, 2012.
Amendment to Consulting Agreement by & between Mimedx Group, Inc. and Roberta L. McCaw dated as of December 31, 2012.
Product Distribution Agreement by and between AvKare, Inc. and MiMedx Group, Inc. dated April 19, 2012
Subsidiaries of MiMedx Group, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 21.1 filed with Registrant’s Form 10-K filed on March 31, 2011)
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Acts of 2002
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Acts of 2002
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
The audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, for Surgical Biologics, LLC,
including the notes to such financial statements and the report of the independent auditor thereon (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1
to the Registrant’s Form 8-K/A filed on March 16, 2011)

Notes
* Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
# Filed herewith
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
March 15, 2013

MIMEDX GROUP, INC.
By: /s/ Michael J. Senken
Michael J. Senken
Chief Financial Officer
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature / Name

Title

Date

/s/: Parker H. Petit
Parker H. Petit

Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

March 15, 2013

/s/: Michael J. Senken
Michael J. Senken

Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial and accounting officer)

March 15, 2013

/s/: Joseph G. Bleser
Joseph G. Bleser

Director

March 15, 2013

/s/: J. Terry Dewberry
J. Terry Dewberry

Director

March 15, 2013

/s/: Charles Evans
Charles Evans

Director

March 15, 2013

/s/: Steve Gorlin
Steve Gorlin

Director

March 15, 2013

/s/: Bruce Hack
Bruce Hack

Director

March 15, 2013

/s/: Charles E. Koob
Charles E. Koob

Director

March 15, 2013

/s/: Larry W. Papasan
Larry W. Papasan

Director

March 15, 2013

/s/: William C. Taylor
William C. Taylor

Director

March 15, 2013

/s/: Neil Yeston
Neil Yeston

Director

March 15, 2013

92

EXHIBIT 10.54
CONSULTING AGREEMENT
THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into as of the 1 st day of January, 2012, by and between MiMedx Group, Inc, a Florida corporation with its
principal office at 60 Chastain Center Blvd., Suite 60, Kennesaw, GA 30144 (“MIMEDX”), and Roberta L. McCaw, an individual whose address is 310
Falling Leaf Ct., Seneca, SC 29672 (the “Consultant”).
W I T N E S S E T H:
WHEREAS, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein, MIMEDX desires to engage the Consultant, and the Consultant desires to accept such
engagement;
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements contained herein, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, hereby
covenant and agree as follows:
1.
Engagement. Subject to the terms hereof, MIMEDX engages the Consultant and the Consultant hereby accepts such engagement. The Consultant
hereby warrants to MIMEDX that the entering into and performance of this Agreement by the Consultant do not require the consent of any third party and
does not violate any provision of, or result in any breach of, any agreement or obligation to which the Consultant is party or is subject.
2 .
Duties. The Consultant shall provide consulting services to MIMEDX, to include professional legal services and serving as MIMEDX’s General
Counsel and Secretary. The Consultant shall report the MIMEDX’s Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. The Consultant shall devote approximately
fifteen (15) hours per week to the performance of services hereunder. The Consultant will provide services in MIMEDX’s offices one day per week.
3 .
Term. The engagement of the Consultant hereunder shall commence on the date hereof and shall continue for a period of one (1) year
thereafter, unless sooner terminated by the happening of any of the following events:
(a)

the death of the Consultant;

(b)

ten (10) days following written notice to the Consultant from MIMEDX indicating MIMEDX’s decision to terminate the
Agreement; or

(c)

ten (10) days following written notice to MIMEDX from the Consultant indicating the Consultant’s decision to terminate the
Agreement.

4.
Compensation. In consideration of the performance by the Consultant of the services set forth herein, MIMEDX shall pay to the Consultant
Eleven Thousand Seven Hundred Fifty Dollars ($11,750.00) per month. The Consultant shall also be entitled to reimbursement of pre-authorized travel and
business-related expenses in accordance with MIMEDX’s travel expense policies. Requests for expense reimbursements shall be submitted monthly to the
attention of Accounts Payable, MiMedx Group, Inc., 60 Chastain Center Blvd, GA 30144, accompanied by all back-up expense data as may be required by
MIMEDX.
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5.
Return of Data. Upon the expiration or termination of this Agreement, the Consultant shall return to MIMEDX all memoranda, notes, records, files
or other documentation, whether made or compiled by the Consultant alone or with others or supplied or made available to the Consultant by MIMEDX, or
developed by the Consultant alone or with others in the course of the Consultant’s engagement under this Agreement, and the Consultant will further execute
such agreements or other documents that MIMEDX deems reasonably necessary to further perfect MIMEDX’s rights hereunder.
6 .
Trade Secrets and Confidential Information. The Consultant acknowledges that MIMEDX is engaged in the business of, among other
things, clinical development of devices, products and implants for both surgical and non-surgical implants applications using proprietary technology
developed by MIMEDX and its subsidiaries over a long period of time and only through the investment of substantial amounts of money, time and effort of
skilled professionals. As a result of those investments of money, skill and time, MIMEDX has developed and will continue to develop certain valuable Trade
Secrets and Confidential Information including, without limitation, financial, operating or training ideas, business methods, processes and techniques that are
peculiar to the business of MIMEDX and the disclosure of which would be injurious to MIMEDX.
(a)

The term “Trade Secrets” means any scientific or technical information, design, process, procedure or formula or improvement that
is commercially valuable and secret in the sense that its confidentiality affords MIMEDX a competitive advantage over its
competitors and is not generally known to competitors of MIMEDX.

(b)

The term “Confidential Information” means any data or information and documentation, other than Trade Secrets, that is
competitively sensitive material, and not generally known to the public including, but not limited to, MIMEDX’s marketing
methods, pricing information, financial information, operating or training ideas and concepts, referral sources, business methods,
processes and techniques, and the special products, preparations, devices, techniques and services MIMEDX may offer or provide
to its customers from time to time.

7 .
Nondisclosure. The Consultant acknowledges and agrees that during the course of the Consultant’s engagement by MIMEDX under this
Agreement, the Consultant may come to have knowledge and information with respect to Trade Secrets and Confidential Information. The Consultant agrees
that, during the term of this Agreement and for a period of two (2) years after the expiration or termination for whatever reason of this Agreement, the
Consultant will not divulge, furnish, make accessible to anyone, or appropriate for the Consultant’s own use, any Confidential Information, including the
materials to be developed pursuant to this Agreement, and that at no time will the Consultant divulge, furnish or make accessible to anyone or appropriate for
Consultant’s own use any Trade Secrets; provided, however, that this obligation shall not apply to any Confidential Information or Trade Secrets that shall
have become generally known in the trade through no act or omission of the Consultant.
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8.
Remedies. The Consultant and MIMEDX agree that a breach of Sections 5 through 7 of this Agreement by the Consultant shall result in irreparable
damage and harm to MIMEDX and that MIMEDX shall be without an adequate remedy at law in the event of such breach. As a result, the Consultant agrees
that MIMEDX may, in addition to any other remedies available to it, institute and prosecute proceedings in any court of competent jurisdiction to enjoin the
Consultant from violating the provisions of this Agreement and that, in any such proceedings, the Consultant shall not assert that MIMEDX has an adequate
remedy at law for the breach by the Consultant of the provisions of this Agreement.
9 .
Independent Contractor. Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to create an agency or employment relationship between MIMEDX and the
Consultant, and it is expressly understood that the Consultant is an independent contractor for the purpose of providing services to MIMEDX as herein
provided. The Consultant shall be solely responsible for the Consultant’s federal and state income taxes, F.I.C.A. and unemployment taxes, and MIMEDX
shall not be required to withhold or pay any such taxes. Except as may be authorized in writing by the President of MIMEDX, the Consultant shall have no
authority to enter into any agreement or to make any representation, commitment or warranty binding upon MIMEDX or to incur any obligation or liability
on behalf of MIMEDX.
10.
No Conflicts. The Consultant represents and warrants to MIMEDX that the Consultant does not have any agreement to provide consulting services
to any other party, firm or company with respect to the development of devices, products and implants for the plastic surgery market or whose business is
directly competitive with the business of MIMEDX.
11.
Survival. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary stated in this Agreement, the obligations of the Consultant under Sections 5, 6, 7, 8 and 11 shall
survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement.
1 2 .
Binding Effect. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and shall be binding upon the Consultant, its successors and assigns and upon
MIMEDX and its successors and assigns; provided, however, that the Consultant may not assign or delegate any of the Consultant’s rights or obligations
hereunder.
13.

Governing Law. This Agreement shall be interpreted, construed and governed by and in accordance with the laws of the State of Georgia.

1 4 .
Waiver. The failure of either party to insist upon the strict adherence to any term of this Agreement on any occasion shall not be considered a
waiver or deprive that party of the right thereafter from enforcing that term or any other term of this Agreement.
15.
Headings. The paragraph headings have been inserted for convenience of reference only and in no way define, limit or describe the scope or intent
of any term or provision of this Agreement.
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16.
Severability. If any provision of this Agreement shall be declared invalid or illegal for any reason whatsoever, then notwithstanding such invalidity
or illegality, the remaining terms and provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect in the same manner as if the invalid or illegal
provision had not been contained herein.
17.
Notice. Any notice or other communication by either party to the other shall be in writing and shall be given personally or mailed, postage prepaid,
certified mail, return receipt requested or by overnight courier service, to the address for such party set forth above. Notice to MIMEDX must be sent to the
attention of the Chairman & Chief Executive Officer. Either party may change the address for notice by notifying the other party in writing of the new
address. Notices given as above provided shall be deemed given when received, refused or rejected.
1 9 .
Entire Agreement . This Agreement, together with any exhibits or other attachments hereto, is the complete and exclusive statement of the
agreement between the parties and supersedes all prior or contemporaneous proposals, oral or written, understandings, representations, conditions, covenants
and all other circumstances between the parties relating to the subject matter of this Agreement.
20.
Amendments. MIMEDX may, from time to time amend this Agreement by written notice to Consultant if such changes are required in order for this
Agreement to comply with state or federal law. Except as provided in the preceding sentence, this Agreement may be amended or changed only by an
Agreement in writing signed by both parties.
21.

Assignment. Consultant may not assign this Agreement or any rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of MIMEDX.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Consultant and MIMEDX have caused these presents to be duly executed as of the day and year first above written.
(“MIMEDX”)
MiMedx Group, Inc.

(“CONSULTANT”)
Roberta L. McCaw

By:

/s/ William C. Taylor

/s/ Roberta L. McCaw

Title:

President & COO
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Exhibit 10.55
AMENDMENT
This AMENDMENT amends that certain CONSULTING AGREEMENT (the “Consulting Agreement”) dated January 1, 2012, between MIMEDX
GROUP, INC., a Florida corporation, (the “Company” or “MIMEDX”) and Roberta L. McCaw (the “Consultant”).
WHEREAS, the Company and Consultant desire to make certain amendments to the Consulting Agreement.
NOW THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Company and
Consultant agree that the Consulting Agreement shall be, and hereby is, amended as follows:
1.

Effective January 7, 2013, Section 2 of the Consulting Agreement shall be deleted and replaced with the following:
Duties. The Consultant shall provide consulting services to MIMEDX, to include professional legal services and serving as MIMEDX’s
General Counsel and Secretary. The Consultant shall report to MIMEDX’s Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. The Consultant shall
devote approximately thirty (30) hours per week to the performance of services hereunder.

2.

Effective December 31, 2012, Section 3 of the Consulting Agreement shall be deleted and replaced with the following:
Term. The engagement of the Consultant hereunder shall commence on the date hereof and shall continue until terminated by the
happening of any of the following events:

3.

(a)

the death of the Consultant;

(b)

thirty (30) days following written notice to the Consultant from MIMEDX indicating MIMEDX’s decision to terminate the Agreement; or

(c)

thirty (30) days following written notice to MIMEDX from the Consultant indicating the Consultant’s decision to terminate the Agreement.

Effective January 7, 2013, Section 4 of the Consulting Agreement shall be deleted and replaced with the following:
Compensation. In consideration of the performance by the Consultant of the services set forth herein, MIMEDX shall pay to the Consultant
the sum of Twenty Thousand Dollars per month. In addition, the Consultant shall be entitled to participate in MIMEDX’s stock option
program and Management Incentive Plan to the same extent as if she were a MIMEDX employee. The Consultant shall also be entitled to
reimbursement of travel and business-related expenses in accordance with MIMEDX’s expense policies. Expense reimbursement requests
shall be submitted to the attention of Accounts Payable, MiMedx Group, Inc., 60 Chastain Center Blvd, Suite 60, Kennesaw, Georgia
30144, and shall contain all back-up data as may be required by MiMedx.

4.

In all other respects, the Consulting Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this AMENDMENT as of December 31, 2012, with the effective dates set forth herein.
MIMEDX GROUP, INC.

By: /s/ William C. Taylor
Its: President & COO

ROBERTA L. MCCAW
/s/: Roberta L. McCaw

Exhibit 10.56
CERTAIN CONFIDENTIAL MATERIAL APPEARING IN THIS DOCUMENT, MARKED BY
[*****], HAS BEEN OMITTED AND FILED SEPARATELY WITH THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION PURSUANT TO RULE 24b-2 PROMULGATED
UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED.
AVKARE, INC.
PRODUCT DISTRIBUTION AGREEMENT
This Product Distribution Agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered into as of this 19 th day of April, 2012, (the “Effective Date”) by and between, AvKARE,
Inc., a Tennessee corporation having a principal place of business at 615 North First Street, Pulaski, Tennessee 38478, (“ AVI”) and MiMedx Group, Inc., a
Florida corporation having a principal place of business at 60 Chastain Center Blvd., Suite 60, Kennesaw, GA 30144 (“Company”).
RECITALS
WHEREAS, Company manufactures or has the right to supply certain MiMedx- labelled medical products or equipment as identified in Schedule 1 hereto
(the “Products”); and
WHEREAS, AVI is a wholesaler of generic pharmaceuticals, disposable medical supplies and capital medical equipment to the governmental and
commercial sectors; and
WHEREAS, AVI desires to purchase and resell the Products on [*****] basis for the market category specified in Schedule 2 hereto (the “Market”); and
WHEREAS, Company is willing to grant AVI, Inc. the [*****] right to represent Company’s Products on any Federal Supply Schedule contract, subject to
the exceptions herein provided.
Company has not signed any authorizations to include Products on the Federal Supply Schedule other than the
authorization signed on behalf of AVI and will not authorize any other party to include Products on the Federal Supply Schedule while this Agreement is in
effect.
NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the foregoing and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are
hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:
1.

Appointment of AVI.

1.1

Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, Company appoints AVI, and AVI accepts such appointment, as Company's
authorized, [*****] distributor for the sale of the Products in the Market. AVI shall use best efforts to promote and sell the Products in the Market
as set forth in this Agreement. If Company desires to have new Products added to the Federal Supply Schedule, AVI shall use reasonable
commercial efforts to add such new Products to the Federal Supply Schedule within a commercially reasonable amount of time of Company’s
request and when such Products are added to the Federal Supply Schedule, the schedules to this Agreement shall be amended to include such new
Products. [*****]

1.2

AVI and the Company will cooperatively direct all sales and marketing efforts for the Market as listed on Schedule 2. AVI will confer with
Company on strategies and plans of action.

1.3

The Company and AVI will agree on specific accounts to be assigned to AVI as [*****] accounts. The initial list of such accounts will be set forth
on Schedule 3 to this Agreement within two (2) weeks of execution of this Agreement. The parties may add to the list of assigned accounts from
time to time by written agreement (which may be via e-mail). A complete list of Company’s stocking distributors, key personnel names, contact
information and their territories as of the date of the Agreement is listed on Schedule 4 to this Agreement.

1.4

AVI will discuss the appropriate pricing for the Market with Company. Although Company will have the final say on pricing in the Market,
Company will take into account all reasonable input from AVI

1.5

In addition to the discount referenced in Section 3.2, AVI will receive a [*****] commission on the selling price for all sales into the Market from
accounts assigned to AVI within the Market. AVI will absorb all credit card fees and Industrial Funding Fee (IFF). All orders will be received and
processed by AVI Company will receive a purchase order from AVI and will then procure the product from an FDA approved tissue bank.
Company will use reasonable commercial efforts to ship Products within twenty-four (24) hours after receipt of a purchase order.

1.6

[*****]

1.7

The parties are independent contractors and no other relationship is intended under this Agreement. Neither party shall act in a manner which
expresses or implies a relationship other than that of an independent contractor or bind the other party. Unless otherwise provided in this
Agreement, AVI and Company shall each be responsible for all of its own expenses and employees.

2.

Sales Outside of the Market

2.1

AVI shall sell the Products to the governmental entities operating within the Market (the “ Customers”). AVI will accept no orders from any other
market customer unless preapproved in writing by Company.
2

3.

Product Prices; Payment Terms

3.1

This Agreement constitutes the sole and exclusive terms and conditions for the purchase of the Products. Neither party shall add any additional
and/or conflicting terms and/or conditions by purchase order or otherwise without the signature of an officer of both parties hereto.

3.2

Unless otherwise agreed in writing by Company, sales by AVI must be in accordance with Company’s pricing policy as in effect from time to time.
The prices for Products sold to AVI hereunder shall be [*****] of AVI’s sales price for the Products to its Customer. AVI shall be responsible for
the reporting and payment of all Industrial Funding Fees (IFF) and credit card fees, as applicable. All Products will be shipped FOB Destination.
Company shall have the right to audited sales reports for MiMedx sales from AVI The initial price at which Products are to be sold to AVI’s
Customers and the initial prices for Products sold to AVI shall be as stated in Schedule 1 hereof. Company represents that it shall abide by all
applicable requirements promulgated by AVI’s Customers from time to time, including, without limitation, all requirements related to Federal
Acquisition Regulations and like rules.

3.3

Company may change the selling price of any Product on a proactive basis only by providing AVI at least ninety (90) days advance written notice
of such change.

3.4

All sales, use, value added and other taxes, and all duties, fees and other charges, now or hereafter imposed with respect to the sale and purchase of
the Products to AVI shall be the responsibility of Company and shall be included as a separate item in an invoice for the purchase of the Products.

3.5

Payment on Products orders shall be made within forty-five (45) days from the date of the invoice or receipt of goods, whichever is later.

3.6

All Products prices are stated and shall be paid in United States Dollars.

4.

Order Processing

4.1

AVI shall order Products from Company by submitting a purchase order identifying the ordered Products, quantities, sales price, proposed delivery
dates, and prices for each Product ordered, together with a bill-to and shipping address (a “Purchase Order”).

4.2

Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to acknowledge receipt of an order within two (2) business days after its receipt of such
Purchase Order, and confirm in writing that the order can be supplied.
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4.3

Company shall comply with all accepted delivery schedules set forth in an accepted Purchase Order. All ordered Products shall be shipped by
Company directly to locations designated by AVI without delay as designated in the Purchase Order. Unless otherwise approved by AVI in
writing, Company shall be solely responsible for all costs and expenses of Products delivery, including, without limitation, insurance related to
such shipments. Any delays or anticipated delays in Delivery shall be reported to AVI promptly, and AVI and Company shall work in good faith
to negotiate a reasonable solution to such delay; provided, however Company shall be solely responsible for all additional costs and expenses
arising therefrom. AVI may return over-shipments to Company at Company’s sole expense. Delivery shall not be deemed to be complete until
AVI or its designee has received and approved the Products in accordance with Section 9 hereof at the destination set forth on the Purchase
Order. Title to the Products and risk of loss shall pass to AVI after the Products have been received FOB at AVI’s designated location in the
applicable Purchase Order.

5.

Products Specifications and Changes

5.1

Company shall confirm that all Products conform to the all written specifications provided to AVI or to the Customer (the “Specifications”).

5.2

From time to time and only upon at least ninety (90) days advance written notice to AVI, Company may discontinue a Product or change a
specification; provided, however, in no event shall Company modify Products so that it results in a derogation of the performance of the Products
without the prior written approval of AVI In the event a Product specification is changed, or a Product is discontinued, any replacement product
shall be subject to the terms of this Agreement. If Company requires a change in the Specifications for its own benefit, Company shall pay all costs
associated with such a Company-requested change. Agreed changes to the Specifications for the benefit of AVI shall be at the expense of AVI

6.

Personnel; Support

6.1

Company shall provide AVI without charge, master copies of Company’s standard brochures, marketing materials, and technical data for the
Products.

6.2

Company is responsible for providing technical support to Customers. Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to respond to all
support requests in no later than three (3) business days. If such issue cannot be resolved, Company shall provide updates on the status of the
support request on a daily basis. Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to respond to all communications from AVI in no later than
two (2) business days.
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7.

Records and Regulatory Matters

7.1

At the time of delivery of each shipment of Products to AVI, Company shall provide AVI with properly completed copies of all documentation
reasonably requested by AVI, including, without limitation, manufacturing, quality testing, packaging and delivery records.

7.2

Company and AVI shall maintain true and accurate books, records, test results, data, and reports and all other information relating to
manufacturing, testing, performance and delivery of the Products, including, without limitation, all information required to be maintained to
document that the Products are certified for use in the Market. Such information shall be maintained for a period of at least five (5) years from the
relevant finished Products delivery date or longer if required under applicable laws.

7.3

Company shall be solely responsible for all licenses and other regulatory compliance issues including obtaining and maintaining all certifications
that the Products are fit for use in the Market. Company shall maintain all permits and licenses required with respect to its facilities, equipment
and manufacturing processes as required by applicable law, rule or regulation.

7.4

Company shall immediately advise AVI if an authorized agent of any regulatory authority issues any adverse finding related to the Products or
any loss of certification status.

7.5

Throughout the term of this Agreement, AVI shall be responsible for insuring that the Products are on the Federal Supply Schedule and must
remain in good standing to sell Products to the Market.

8.

Products Warranty; Customer Warranty

8.1

Subject to the provisions of this Section 8, Company warrants for a period of one (1) year after shipment (i) that each non-amnion based Product is
free from material defects in material and workmanship and has a shelf-life of at least one (1) year from the date of shipment and (ii) that each
amnion based Product has been collected, processed and stored in compliance with all applicable laws and standards, including the AATB
Standards and Title 21, Code of Federal Regulations 1271, Human Cells, Tissues, and Cellular and Tissue-Based Products, and has a shelf-life of
at least two (2) years from the date of shipment. Inspection, testing, acceptance or use of the Products by AVI shall not affect Company’s
representations and warranties under this Section. Company shall, at its sole expense, promptly replace or correct defects in Products not in
conformance with this Section.
5

8.2

EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY PROVIDED IN SECTION 8.1 ABOVE, COMPANY MAKES NO WARRANTIES OR CONDITIONS, EXPRESS,
STATUTORY, IMPLIED, OR OTHERWISE, AND COMPANY SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIMS THE IMPLIED WARRANTIES AND
CONDITIONS OF MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. NOTWITHSTANDING THE FOREGOING,
COMPANY DOES NOT EXCLUDE LIABILITY TO THE EXTENT THAT SUCH LIABILITY MAY NOT BE EXCLUDED OR LIMITED
BY LAW.

8.3

Company shall honor and be responsible for all claims arising out of Company’s warranty for the applicable Products as set forth in Section 8.1.
AVI shall provide such warranty to its Customers hereunder. AVI shall not pass on to its Customers a warranty of greater scope or protection than
the warranty (including the limited remedy, exclusions, and limitation of liability) set forth in Section 8.1.

9.

Products Returns and Recalls

9.1

AVI will inspect all shipments of Products received from Company following its receipt and will report any non-conforming Products to
Company. AVI and its designees reserve the right to inspect the Products and to reject any or all of the Products which are in AVI’s reasonable
judgment defective Products or are otherwise unacceptable. Payment by AVI for the Products delivered shall not constitute AVI’s acceptance
thereof. Rejected and/or unacceptable Products may be returned to Company at Company’s sole expense. In the event Products are delivered
whose defects or nonconformity are not reasonably apparent upon AVI’s or its designees’ initial examination, and such latent defects or
nonconformity results in deficiency of the Products or the failure of the Products to perform as intended, AVI reserves the right to require
replacement of the defective or nonconforming Products, as well as payment by Company of any resulting damages.
In the event (a) any government authority issues a request, directive or order that any Product be recalled, (b) a court of competent jurisdiction
orders such a recall, or (c) Company reasonably determines, after consultation with AVI that any Product should be recalled, the parties shall take
all appropriate corrective actions for recall. Company shall have administrative responsibility for effecting any such recall. AVI shall cooperate
with Company in contacting Customers. Each party shall bear its own costs incurred in connection with such recall except that Company shall, at
its option, either refund the price for recalled Products or replace recalled Products held by AVI’s Customers within a reasonable time at its
expense, including freight and applicable duties. If AVI is required to compensate its Customers as a result of Product being recalled, then
Company shall reimburse AVI for any such compensation up to the amount received by Company for the sale of the affected Products to such
Customers. The obligations set forth in this Section 9 shall survive any termination of this Agreement.
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10.

Advertising

10.1

Both the Company and AVI must approve all advertising and promotion materials which either party intends to use in relation to the sale
of Products by AVI in the Market. Company will use commercially reasonable efforts to review such materials and communicate its approval
thereof or the reasons for not approving the same within ten (10) days of the delivery of the applicable materials to Company.

11.

Products Stocking Requirements

11.1

Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to maintain adequate inventory levels of Products as may be necessary to meet the needs of
AVI.

12.

Proprietary Rights

12.1

AVI acknowledges that any property rights in the Products and technical, advertising and promotion material relating thereto, shall remain the
property of Company.
Technical, advertising and promotional material of Company shall only be used in furtherance of the purpose of this Agreement by AVI Company
warrants that the Products and any design or technical information to be supplied by Company to AVI shall be free from any patents, copyrights or
other intellectual property claims of third party and that Company has all necessary rights to enter into this Agreement. If an intellectual property
right infringement suit (“Action”) is brought against AVI arising from the use of the said technical information, Company agrees to indemnify,
defend and hold AVI harmless from and against such Action, provided that Company is notified promptly in writing of such Action. Company
will have sole control of any such Action or settlement negotiations, and Company agrees to pay, subject to the limitations hereinafter set forth,
any final judgment entered against AVI on such issue in any such Action defended by Company. AVI agrees that Company will be relieved of the
foregoing obligations unless AVI gives Company authority to proceed as contemplated herein and gives Company proper and full information
and assistance to settle and/or defend any such Action. If it is adjudicatively determined, or if Company believes, that the Products, or any part
thereof, infringe any patent, copyright or trademark, or if the sale or use of the Products, or any part thereof, is, as a result, enjoined, then Company
may, at its election, option, and expense: (i) procure for AVI the right under such patent, copyright or trademark to sell or use, as appropriate, the
Products or such part thereof; or (ii) replace the Products, or part thereof, with other non-infringing suitable Products or parts; or (iii) suitably
modify the Products or part thereof; or (iv) remove the Products, or part thereof, terminate distribution or sale thereof and accept return of and
refund the payments paid by AVI for such Products. Company will not be liable for any costs or expenses incurred without its prior written
authorization.
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12.2

Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 12.1, Company has no liability to AVI for (i) any infringement of patent or copyright claims alleging
infringement by completed equipment or any assembly, combination, method or process in which any of the Products may be used but not
covering the Products standing alone; (ii) any trademark infringements involving any marking or branding not applied by or requested by
Company , or involving any marking or branding applied by Company at the request of AVI; or (iii) the modification of the Products, or any part
thereof, unless such modification was made by Company, where such infringement would not have occurred but for such modifications. THE
FOREGOING PROVISIONS OF THIS SECTION 12 STATE THE ENTIRE LIABILITY AND OBLIGATIONS OF COMPANY AND THE
EXCLUSIVE REMEDY OF AVI AND ITS CUSTOMERS, WITH RESPECT TO ANY ALLEGED PATENT, COPYRIGHT OR
TRADEMARK INFRINGEMENT BY THE PRODUCTS OR ANY PART THEREOF.

13.

Trademarks
During the term of this Agreement, AVI shall have the right to indicate to the public that it is an authorized distributor of the Products and to
advertise such Products under the applicable trademarks, marks, and trade names of Company set forth in Schedule 5 ("Company's Trademarks")
and in the promotion and distribution of the Products; provided, however, that upon ninety (90) days’ prior written notice to AVI, Company may
substitute alternative marks for any or all of the Company’s Trademarks. All representations of Company's Trademarks that AVI intends to use
shall first be submitted to Company for approval (which shall not be unreasonably withheld) of design, color and other details or shall be exact
copies of those used by Company. In addition, AVI shall fully comply with all reasonable guidelines, if any, communicated by Company
concerning the use of Company's Trademarks.
AVI shall not alter or remove any of Company's Trademarks affixed to the Products by Company. Except as set forth in this Section 13, nothing
contained in this Agreement shall grant or shall be deemed to grant to AVI any right, title or interest in or to Company's Trademarks. All uses of
Company's Trademarks will inure solely to Company and AVI shall obtain no rights with respect to any of Company's Trademarks, other than the
right to distribute Products as set forth herein, and AVI irrevocably assigns to Company all such right, title and interest, if any, in any of
Company's Trademarks. At no time during or after the term of this Agreement (except to the extent expressly disallowed by applicable law) shall
AVI challenge or assist others to challenge Company's Trademarks or the registration thereof or attempt to register any trademarks, marks or trade
names confusingly similar to those of Company, nor use any Company Trademark as a business name, nor form a company whose name
incorporates any Company Trademark. Upon termination of this Agreement, AVI shall immediately cease to use all Company's Trademarks and
any listing by AVI of Company's name in any telephone book, directory, public record or elsewhere, shall be removed by AVI as soon as possible,
but in any event not later than the subsequent issue of such publication.
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14.

Indemnification; Insurance; Limitation on Consequential Damages

14.1

Each party shall indemnify, defend, and hold the other party, its affiliates, and their respective officers, directors, representatives, and agents,
harmless from and against any and all third party claims, demands, causes of actions, costs of litigation (including reasonable attorneys fees and
expenses incurred in the enforcement of this Section and otherwise) and judgments arising out of, connected with, or resulting from: (i) a breach of
its representations, warranties and covenants set forth herein; or (ii) its negligence. Company shall further indemnify, defend, and hold AVI
harmless for all Products liability claims arising from its manufacture and design of the Products.

14.2

Company shall, at its own cost and expense, obtain and maintain in full force and effect the following insurance during the term of this
Agreement: Umbrella/Commercial General Liability / Products Liability insurance with per-occurrence and general aggregate limits of not less
than [*****]. In the event that any of the required policies of insurance are written on a claims made basis, then such policies shall be maintained
during the entire term of this Agreement and for a period of not less than three (3) years following the termination or expiration of this
Agreement. Company shall name AVI as an additional insured on such policies. Company will provide AVI with a certificate of insurance
evidencing the Umbrella/Commercial General Liability / Products Liability insurance coverages described above.

14.3

Notwithstanding any terms of this Agreement, except with respect to the parties’ indemnification obligations with respect to third party claims, or
with respect to violations of Section 1.2 or Section 16 hereof, in no event shall either party be liable for lost profits, cost of procurement of
substitute goods, or any other special, reliance, incidental, or consequential damages incurred by the other party, however caused and under any
theory of liability whether based in contract, tort (including negligence), or otherwise. The foregoing limitations shall apply regardless of whether
such party has been advised of the possibility of such damages and notwithstanding the failure of essential purpose of any limited remedy stated
herein.

15.

Additional Obligations of Company

15.1

Company shall supply the Products to AVI upon the terms and conditions of this Agreement and as required by any Federal Contract to which the
items are added.
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15.2

Company shall at its reasonable discretion offer technical and commercial assistance to AVI for the sale and service of the Products.

16.

Confidential Information

16.1

For purposes of this Agreement, “Confidential Information” means any and all marketing, Products, technical or engineering information, knowhow, data, designs, diagrams, plans, specifications, computer codes, trade secrets, ideas, concepts, processes, systems, technologies, business or
financial information, procurement and sales strategies, and other confidential or proprietary information of the parties, in any form, whether or not
identified as being confidential.

16.2

Confidential Information is a valuable and proprietary asset and shall remain the sole and exclusive property of the disclosing party. The
receiving party shall use Confidential Information solely in connection with the performance of this Agreement. The receiving party shall not
disclose or cause the disclosure of any of the Confidential Information to any party other than to those employees, agents and subcontractors with
a ‘need to know’ to perform this Agreement; provided, that such employees, agents and subcontractors shall be advised of the existence and scope
of this provision and subcontractors shall be subject to legally binding nondisclosure restrictions which are at least as restrictive as the terms of
this provision. A breach by any employee, agent or subcontractor of any agreement of confidentiality related to the Confidential Information
shall be considered a breach by the applicable party to this Agreement.

16.3

The confidentiality provisions herein shall not apply to information that: (i) can be demonstrated as lawfully known to the receiving party prior to
disclosure thereof by the disclosing party; (ii) is or becomes generally available to the public other than as a result of a breach or violation of any
obligation of confidentiality; or (iii) is specifically approved for release by the prior written authorization of the disclosing party.

16.4

If the receiving party is ordered in any legal proceeding or process to disclose any of the Confidential Information, such party shall take all
reasonable steps to resist or narrow such order and to obtain appropriate protective orders or other reliable assurances of nondisclosure in order to
maintain the confidential nature of the Confidential Information. The parties acknowledge that a monetary remedy for a breach or violation of
this section will be inadequate, and that any such breach or violation would cause irreparable harm. In the event of any breach or violation hereof,
in addition to any other available rights and remedies in law or equity, the disclosing party shall be entitled to temporary and permanent
injunctive relief without the necessity of posting a bond and without the necessity of proving actual damages.
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16.5

The provisions of this Section 16 supersede any non-disclosure agreement entered into by the parties hereto and shall survive termination of this
Agreement for two (2) years or such longer period as such information is entitled to protection under applicable law.

17.

Sub-Distribution

17.1

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, AVI may not engage sub-distributors unless the Company shall have consented to such
engagement and approved the written agreement between the Company and such sub-distributor. Minimally, any such agreement must obligate
such sub-distributor to terms substantially identical to the terms of this Agreement, provide that Company is a third-party beneficiary of such
agreement and be cancellable upon request of Company upon thirty (30) days’ written notice.

18.

Term and Termination

18.1

This Agreement will have an initial term beginning on the Effective Date and shall have an initial term of three (3) years. After the initial term, the
Agreement will automatically renew for two (2) successive terms of one (1) year unless this agreement is terminated. This Agreement may be
terminated by either party if the other party is in material breach of any provision of this Agreement and such breach is not cured within thirty (30)
days following notice of such breach given to the breaching party in accordance with Section 19.4 below. The following sections shall survive
termination or expiration of this Agreement: 7, 8, 9, 12, 13, 14, 16, 19.5. Termination of this Agreement shall not affect Company’s obligation to
honor all Purchase Orders submitted to Company prior to such termination.

18.2

Regardless of the foregoing, each party may terminate this Agreement immediately upon the filing of any petition in bankruptcy by the other
party hereto, whether voluntarily or involuntarily, or the initiation of any action of insolvency by or against a party hereto.

18.3

Either party may terminate this Agreement without cause, effective after the initial three (3) year contract period has been reached, upon one
hundred eighty (180) days’ notice to the other party specifying the date of termination. [*****] Upon receipt of request for termination until the
effective date of termination, Company also agrees to pay AVI full commissions on all sales to assigned accounts made during this period.
[*****]will be paid in full on or before the effective termination date of this Agreement. If all commissions due and [*****]are not paid in full on
or before the termination date (or, if later, when due), this Agreement will not be terminated until said fees and commissions are received.
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18.4

If Company desires to terminate this Agreement without cause during the initial three (3) year term, the Company shall so notify AVI and [*****].

19.

Miscellaneous

19.1

Neither party shall be liable for any failure to perform due to unforeseen circumstances or causes beyond such party’s reasonable control,
including, but not limited to acts of God, war, terrorism, riot, embargoes, acts of civil or military authorities, fire, flood, accident, communication
line failure, which failure is not the fault of the affected party.

19.2

Neither party may assign this Agreement, in whole or in part, without the prior written consent of the other party, except that either party may
without the other party’s consent assign this Agreement to an affiliate or to a successor to substantially all of the business or assets of the assigning
party, provided that any assignment by AVI to an entity that sells Competing Products shall require Company’s prior written
consent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties, their successors and
permitted assigns.

19.3

This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement, and supersedes all
previous negotiations, agreements, commitments (if any) and shall not be discharged, changed or modified in any manner except by instruments
signed by duly authorized representatives of both parties hereto.

19.4

Any notices or other communications to be served on or sent to either party hereunder shall be deemed adequately served or sent if posted by
prepaid registered post or overnight courier to such party at its address as set out above or of such other address as such party may notify in writing
to the other party from time to time. Notices to Company shall be addressed to the attention of the General Counsel.

19.5

This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of [*****], without giving effect to its conflict of
laws principles or rules.

19.6

The parties shall each appoint a qualified manager to act as liaison related to their performance under this Agreement, and shall provide the other
with contact information for such managers at the Effective Date. Unless otherwise agreed, the parties shall schedule periodic meetings and/or
telephone conferences between the managers to review the parties’ progress. Additional informal meetings between other representatives of the
parties shall be held as reasonably necessary at mutually acceptable times and places.
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19.7

This Agreement contains the entire agreement between the parties concerning the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior agreement and
understanding between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and no modification or amendment of this Agreement or of the terms
and conditions hereof will be binding upon either of the parties unless in a written document signed by both parties.

19.8

This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original but all of which together will constitute
one and the same instrument.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed by their authorized representatives effective on the Effective

Date.
AvKare, Inc.

MiMedx Group, Inc.

By:

By:

Title:

/s/ Troy A. Mizell
Troy A. Mizell
President & CEO

Date:

4/19/12

Date:

/s/ William C. Taylor
William C. Taylor
Title: President & COO
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4/19/12

SCHEDULE 1
The Products
Description of the Products:
EpiFix® Amniotic Membrane Allograft for Woundcare Indications
[*****]
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SCHEDULE 2
The Market
Description of AVI’s Market and Sales Territory: The United States Federal Government, including all agencies and subdivisions thereof.
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SCHEDULE 3
AVI Assigned Accounts
16

SCHEDULE 4
MiMedx Stocking Distributors
[*****]
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SCHEDULE 5
Company’s Trademarks
MiMedx®
EpiFix®
Purion®
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Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-153255, 333-183991) of our reports dated, March
15, 2013, included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of MiMedx Group, Inc. (the Company) relating to the consolidated balance sheets of the Company
as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows years then ended, and the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting for the Company as of December 31, 2012.
/s/ Cherry Bekaert LLP (formerly Cherry, Bekaert & Holland L.L.P)
Atlanta, Georgia
March 15, 2013

EXHIBIT 31.1
Section 302 Certification
I, Parker H. Petit, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of MiMedx Group, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in the Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:
(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared,
(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this annual report based on such evaluation, and
(d) disclosed in this annual report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: March 15, 2013
/s/: Parker H. Petit
Parker H. Petit
Chief Executive Officer

EXHIBIT 31.2
Section 302 Certification
I, Michael J. Senken, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of MiMedx Group, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in the Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:
(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared,
(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this annual report based on such evaluation, and
(d) disclosed in this annual report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: March 15, 2013
/s/: Michael J. Senken
Michael J. Senken
Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1
Section 906 Certification
The undersigned Parker H. Petit, the Chief Executive Officer of MiMedx Group, Inc. (the “Company”), has executed this certification in connection with
the filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ending December 31, 2011 (the
“Report”). The undersigned hereby certifies, to the best of his knowledge, that:
(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: March 15, 2013
/s/: Parker H. Petit
Parker H. Petit
Chief Executive Officer
A signed original of the written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to MiMedx Group, Inc. and will be retained by MiMedx Group, Inc.
and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

Exhibit 32.2
Section 906 Certification
The undersigned Michael J. Senken, the Chief Financial Officer of MiMedx Group, Inc. (the “Company”), has executed this certification in connection
with the filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ending December 31, 2011 (the
“Report”). The undersigned hereby certifies, to the best of his knowledge, that:
(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: March 15, 2013
/s/: Michael J. Senken
Michael J. Senken
Chief Financial Officer
A signed original of the written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to MiMedx Group, Inc. and will be retained by MiMedx Group, Inc.
and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

